

Epidemiology of Dialysis-Treated End-

Stage Kidney Disease in Adults in Libya

Dr. Wiam Abdulaziz Alashek

MEDICAL LIBRARY QUEENS MEDICAL CENTRE

Thesis submitted to the

School of Graduate Entry Medicine and Health,

University of Nottingham for a Doctor of Philosophy Degree

September 2012

To my family,

with all my love

Abstract

Background: The extent and the distribution of end stage kidney disease (ESKD) in Libya have not been reported despite provision of dialysis over 4 decades. The aim of this thesis is to develop the first comprehensive description of the epidemiology of dialysis-treated ESKD in adults in Libya as well as to assess the outcomes of this treatment.

Methods: A structured interview regarding dialysis provision and infection control measures was conducted with the medical directors of all 40 dialysis centres and 28 centres were visited. In the same time demographic and clinical data were obtained regarding all adult patients treated at all maintenance dialysis facilities in Libya from May to August 2009. Additional information about the patterns of vascular access used for haemodialysis (HD) as well as prevalence and incidence of hepatitis B and/or C infection was collected and analysed. Subsequently data were collected prospectively from September 2009 to August 2010.

Results: There were 40 functioning maintenance dialysis centres in Libya (one of them was serving children only). The total number of adult patients was 2417. The prevalence rate of ESKD treated by dialysis was 624 per million population. Most dialysis units were located in the northern part of the country and only 12.5% were free standing units. Only three centres offered peritoneal dialysis. There were 192 HD rooms. They hosted 713 functioning HD stations, giving a ratio of one machine to 3.4 patients. Nephrologist/internist to patient ratio was 1:40 and nurse to patient ratio was 1:3.7. There was wide variation in monitoring of dialysis patients with dialysis adequacy assessed only in a minority. 85% of prevalent patients were aged <65 years and 58% were male. The prevalence of ESKD varied considerably with age with a peak at 55-64 years (2475 pmp for males; 2197 pmp for females). The annual incidence rate was 282 pmp with some regional variation and a substantially higher rate in the South (617 pmp). The most common cause of ESKD among prevalent and incident patients was diabetes. Other important causes were glomerulonephritis, hypertensive nephropathy and congenital or hereditary diseases. During one year follow- up, 458 deaths occurred, (crude annual mortality rate of 21.2%). Of these, 31% were due to ischaemic heart disease, 16% cerebrovascular accidents and 16% due to infection. Annual mortality rate was 0-70% in

different dialysis centres. Best survival was in age group 25-34 years. Binary logistic regression analysis identified age at onset of dialysis, physical dependency, diabetes and predialysis urea as independent determinants of increased mortality. Of all dialysis- treated patients, 34.9% were sero-positive for HBV and/or HCV (anti-HCV positive 31.1%; HBsAg positive 2.6%; both positive 1.2%). The prevalence of HBV±HCV infection varied widely between HD centres from 0% to 75.9%. Sero-positive patients were younger, had longer time on dialysis and more previous blood transfusions. Prospective follow-up revealed an incidence of sero-conversion of 7.7% during 1 year (7.1% HCV; 0.6% HBV). Wide variation in rates of newly acquired infections was observed between dialysis centres. Duration of dialysis, history of previous renal transplant and history of receiving HD in another centre in Libya were significantly associated with sero-conversion. The majority of HD- treated patients (91.9%; n=1573) were using permanent vascular access in the form of arteriovenous fistula or arteriovenous graft. Patients with permanent vascular access were more likely to be male and less likely to be diabetic. Most patients had commenced HD using a temporary central venous catheter (91.8%). Vascular access- related complications were: thrombosis (46.7%), aneurysm (22.6%), infection (11.5%) and haemorrhage (10.2%). Hospitalisation for VA related complications was reported by 31.4%.

Conclusion: ESKD in Libya is a major health problem where the incidence rate is among the highest in the world. Despite rapid expansion of dialysis services throughout the country, this thesis has identified that many aspects of dialysis provision are suboptimal and that outcomes are relatively poor. We have identified several major challenges to improving the quality of dialysis provision including lack of dialysis practice guidelines, absence of auditing and quality control and limited access to kidney transplantation. As Libya reorganises its health services in the post-conflict period it is hoped that this study will be the first step in establishing a renal registry and that the areas of concern highlighted will prompt the implementation of national clinical practice guidelines for dialysis.

Publications and abstracts arising from this thesis

Peer reviewed publications

- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Provision and quality of dialysis services in Libya. *Hemodial Int.* 2011 Oct;15(4):444-52.
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Epidemiology and aetiology of dialysistreated end-stage kidney disease in Libya. *BMC Nephrol*. 2012 Jun 8;13:33.
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Hepatitis B and C infection in haemodialysis patients in Libya: Prevalence, Incidence and Risk Factors. *BMC Infectious Disease*. 2012; 12: 265
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Vascular Access in Patients Receiving Haemodialysis in Libya. J Vasc Access. 2012 Jul 27:0. doi: 10.5301/jva.5000089.
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Determinants of survival in patients receiving dialysis in Libya. *Hemodial Int.* 2012 Aug 13. doi: 10.1111/j.1542-4758.2012.00728.x.

Oral presentation

 Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW, Mammi MM Hepatitis C virus in Libya's haemodialysis centres: Prevalence rates and transmission factors. AMDI-International Biohealth Science Conference 2010. Penang, Malaysia, 29th Nov 2010.

Poster presentations

 Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Medical assessment of haemodialysis patients in Libya. British Renal Society/ Renal Association, Manchester, United Kingdom, 17th May 2010 (abstract ref: P327).

- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Characteristics of dialysis services in Libya. British Renal Society/ Renal Association, Manchester, United Kingdom, 17th May 2010 (abstract ref: P328).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW, Buargub, MB, BenOmran MM, Aboudhair MA. Presentation of diabetic end-stage kidney disease to haemodialysis in Libya. The Libyan Association for Diabetes and Endocrinology, Benghazi, Libya. Ibnosina Journal of Medicine and Biomedical Sciences (2010).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Morbidity of diabetic end-stage kidney disease patients treated by dialysis in Libya. International Diabetes and Obesity Forum, Athens, Greece, 2^{1st} October 2010 (abstract ref: PP060).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Dialysis in Libya: Patients and service provision. World Congress of Nephrology 2011, Vancouver, Canada, 8th April 2011 (abstract ref: SA454/841).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW, Fluck RJ. High utilisation of arteriovenous fistulas in haemodialysis patients is still possible despite limited access to surgical services and low pre-dialysis formation rates. British Renal Society/ Renal Association, Birmingham, United Kingdom, 6th June 2011 (abstract ref: B17).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Blood- bourne virus infection in Libya's dialysis centres: Prevalence and risk factors. British Renal Society/ Renal Association, Birmingham, United Kingdom, 6th June 2011 (abstract ref: H9).
- Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Determinants of survival in adult dialysis patients in Libya. British Renal Society, Manchester, United Kingdom, 1st May 2012 (abstract ref: P104).

Declaration

I declare that the thesis described herein is entirely my own work with assistance as indicated in the acknowledgements and is based upon research carried out in Libya and supervised by the Department of Vascular Medicine, School of Graduate Entry Medicine and Health, University of Nottingham between May 2009 and September 2012.

Wiam A. Alashek

September 2012.

Acknowledgements

During my research and preparation of this thesis I have worked with a great number of people whose involvement in different ways deserves special mention. In the first place, I would like to record my gratitude to my supervisors; Prof Chris McIntyre and Dr Maarten Taal who were always there with advice, guidance, encouragement and challenging queries, giving me extraordinary experiences throughout the study.

I gratefully thank all health care staff in the maintenance dialysis facilities in Libya for their cooperation. I am appreciative that in the midst of their daily activity, they took time to provide me with support and information.

This research would not have been possible without the engagement of the study respondents who participated in this research. My special thanks to all of you for your generous contributions of time, information and kind cooperation.

It is a pleasure to pay tribute also to the medical graduates who participated in data collection from maintenance dialysis facilities in different cities in Libya as well as the medical researcher appointed by the Libyan National Authority for Scientific Research for their assistance in gathering data needed for this research.

I gratefully acknowledge all my colleagues at the Nottingham University, the Renal Unit in Royal Derby Hospital and Community Medicine department in Tripoli Medical School who provided advice as well as help in data collection. I would like to express my gratitude to my examiners; Professor John Feehally and Mr. Jon Lund for their valuable hints.

Finally, words fail me to express my appreciation to my family for their unconditional support during my PhD years.

Contents

1. Introduction1
1.1. End-Stage Kidney Disease1
1.2. Global trends in end-stage kidney disease2
1.3. Aetiology of end-stage kidney disease9
1.4. Management of patients with end-stage kidney disease
1.5. Renal Replacement Therapy14
1.5.1. Haemodialysis14
1.5.2. Peritoneal dialysis
1.5.3. Choice of dialysis modality18
1.5.4. Provision of dialysis19
1.5.5. Monitoring of patients receiving dialysis
1.5.6. Adverse effects of dialysis
1.6. Survival of maintenance dialysis patients
1.6.1. Factors associated with increased mortality in dialysis patients 25
1.6.2. Causes of death in dialysis patients
1.7. Renal Registries and research in dialysis27
1.7.1. Renal registries27
1.7.2. Dialysis related research
1.8. Libya: Current social, demographic, economic and political factors
impacting on healthcare
1.8.1. General features
1.8.2. Social constitution

1.8.3. Social security system
1.8.4. Health care system
1.8.5. Health records
1.8.6. Medical research
1.8.7. Diagnosis of ESKD cases and referral for RRT in Libya
1.8.8. Renal replacement therapy in Libya
1.8.9. Recent conflict in Libya
1.8.10. The need for studying the epidemiology of end-stage kidney
disease in Libya
2. Aim and objectives
2. 1. Aim
2. 2. Objectives
3. Methods
3. 1. Study location
3. 2. Ethical approval
3. 3. Pilot study
3. 4. Study plan 44
3. 5. Research team
3. 6. Study design
3. 7. Study duration
3. 8. Study data
3. 8. 1. Dialysis facility data
3. 8. 2. Dialysis patient data46
3. 9. Follow up data
3. 10. Frequency of assessments and timing47

3. 11. Subjects and centre selection (inclusion criteria)		
3. 12. Statistical analysis		
3. 13. Data handling and record keeping		
4. Provision and quality of dialysis services in Libya	50	
4.1. Introduction	50	
4. 2. Methods	51	
4. 3. Results		
4. 3. 1. Dialysis capacity		
4. 3. 2. Staffing of dialysis facilities		
4. 3. 3. Assessment of maintenance dialysis patients		
4. 3. 4. Infection control measures	60	
4. 4. Discussion		
4. 5. Conclusion	66	
5. Epidemiology and aetiology of dialysis-treated end-stage kidney disease		
in Libya	68	
5.1. Introduction	68	
5. 2. Methods		
5. 3. Results	70	
5. 3. 1. Prevalence of ESKD in Libya	70	
5. 3. 2. Incidence of ESKD in Libya	74	
5. 3. 3. Aetiology of ESKD in Libya	75	
5. 4. Discussion	76	
5. 5. Conclusions	79	
6. Hepatitis B and C infection in haemodialysis patients in Libya:		
Provalance Incidence and Risk Factors	81	

6. 1. Introduction	81		
6. 2. Methods	82		
6. 3. Results	83		
6. 4. Discussion	89		
6. 5. Conclusion	93		
7. Vascular access in patients receiving haemodialysis in Libya	95		
7. 1. Introduction	95		
7. 2. Methods	96		
7. 3. Results	97		
7. 4. Discussion	104		
7. 5. Conclusion	107		
8. Determinants of survival in patients receiving dialysis in Libya 109			
8.1. Introduction	109		
8. 2. Methods	109		
8. 3. Results	111		
8. 4. Discussion	118		
8. 5. Conclusion	118		
9. Discussion, conclusion, limitations, implication and future work 123			
9.1. Discussion	123		
9.2. Conclusion	130		
9. 3. Limitations	131		
9. 4. Implications	132		
9. 5. Future work	132		
10. References			
Annex	52		

List of Figures

Table 1. 1: Stages of Chronic Kidney Diseases
Figure 1. 1: Incidence of ESKD in different countries, 2009- United States
Renal Data System (2011)
Figure 1. 2: Incidence rates of renal replacement therapy in the countries of the
United Kingdom 1990- 20095
Figure 1. 3: Incident counts and adjusted rates of ESKD, by age, United States
Renal Data System (2011)7
Figure 1. 4: Incident counts and adjusted rates of ESKD, by primary diagnosis,
United States Renal Data System (2011)10
Figure 1. 5: Relation between time of referral before dialysis initiation and
subsequent risk of death (Kessler et al. AJKD, 2003)13
Figure 1. 6: A haemodialysis machine15
Figure 1. 7: Map of Libya showing that most of the cities are in the coastal
region
Table 1. 2: Indicators of health care sector in Libya 34
Figure 4. 1: Increase in dialysis centres over time in Libya
Table 4. 1: Description of dialysis services in different regions of Libya
Table 4. 2: Staffing of dialysis centres in different regions of Libya 57
Table 4. 3: Monitoring of dialysis patients in different regions of Libya
Table 4. 4: Description of infection control measures in dialysis centres in
different regions of Libya61
Table 4. 5: Prevalence rates of dialysis per million population in different
countries/regions63

Table 5. 1: Prevalent and incident dialysis patient numbers and rates for Libya
and its regions
Table 5. 2: Age, age at onset and dialysis vintage for prevalent and incident
dialysis patients in Libya and its regions72
Figure 5. 1: Prevalence rate pmp of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya for males
and females by age group73
Figure 5. 2: Incidence rate pmp of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya for males
and females by age group74
Table 5. 3: Aetiology of primary kidney disease of prevalent dialysis patients
according to gender and age75
Table 5. 4: Aetiology of primary kidney disease of incident dialysis patients
according to gender and age76
Table 6.1: Frequency, age and gender distribution of HBV and/or HCV sero-
positive haemodialysis patients
Figure 6. 1: Prevalence of HBV and/or HCV sero-positivity in different
haemodialysis centres in Libya

Figure 7. 1: Site of permanent vascular access according to gender
Figure 7. 2: The relationship between prevalence of type of vascular access
used and dialysis vintage
Figure 7. 3: Number of haemodialysis patients with permanent vascular access
with a history of various types of vascular access related complications 101
Figure 7. 4: Frequency of previous thrombosis of permanent vascular access in
haemodialysis patients
Table 7. 2: Factors potentially associated with a history of permanent vascular
access thrombosis
Table 7. 3: Factors potentially associated with incidence of permanent vascular
access thrombosis (1-year follow up)104
Figure 8. 1: 1-year survival (%) among patients who were alive after 90 days of
dialysis and number of patients in each age group112
Figure 8. 2: Causes of 1- year mortality in dialysis patients in Libya's dialysis
centres
Figure 8. 3: 1- year mortality rates in Libya's 38 dialysis centres
Table 8. 1: Baseline data grouped according to survival status at 1 year.
(Continuous variables)116
Table 8. 2: Baseline data grouped according to survival status at 1 year.
(Categorical variables)117
Table 8. 3: Independent risk factors for increased 1-year mortality in dialysis
patients118
Figure 9. 1: waste generated from daily dialysis activities collected in the
backyard of a dialysis centre (Tripoli)126

Abbreviations

AVF	Arteriovenous fistula	
AVG	Arteriovenous graft	
CAPD	Continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis	
CKD	Chronic kidney disease	
CVC	Central venous catheter	
Dopps	Dialysis outcome and practice patterns study	
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	
ERA-EDTA	European Renal Association–European Dialysis and Transplant Association	
ESKD	End-stage kidney disease	
GFR	Glomerular filtration rate	
HBV	Hepatitis B Virus	
HBsAg	Hepatitis B surface antigen	
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus	
HD	Haemodialysis	
ISHCOF	The international study of health care organisation and financing	
KDOQI	Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative	
NKF	National kidney foundation	
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction	
PD	Peritoneal dialysis	
РНС	Primary health care	
pmp	per million population	
RRT	Renal replacement therapy	
USRDS	United States Renal Data System	

Chapter 1

Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1. End-Stage Kidney Disease

End-stage kidney disease (ESKD) refers operationally to the advanced and irreversible loss of kidney function which necessities treatment with maintenance dialysis (haemodialysis (HD) or peritoneal dialysis (PD)) or kidney transplantation. Scientifically, it is defined as the failure or near failure of the kidneys to perform their normal functions, which include excretion of metabolites, maintenance of acid-base status, fluid and electrolyte balance and the synthesis of hormones such as erythropoietin and rennin (1, 2). ESKD is usually the end result of a progressive Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) and gradual loss of renal function. Occasionally, it is the result of a rapidly progressive disease of sudden onset. Few symptoms develop until more than 75% of glomerular filtration is lost. Symptoms worsen as kidney function decreases beyond this level. If the condition continues unchecked, uremic toxins accumulate and produce potentially fatal physiologic changes in all major organ systems.

The term ESKD corresponds with CKD stage 5. The Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI) of the National Kidney Foundation (NKF) in the United States provided evidence-based clinical practice guidelines for all stages of CKD and related complications in 2002. ESKD is defined as glomerular filtration rate (GFR) of less than 15 ml/min/1.73m² body surface area, irrespective of the underlying aetiology of the kidney damage (1).

The GFR is considered the best measure of overall kidney function (3, 4). Normal GFR varies according to age, sex and body size. In young adults, the normal GFR is approximately 120 to 130 mL per minute per 1.73 m² and declines with age (1, 4). The NKF/KDOQI working group defined CKD in adults as:

- Kidney damage for ≥3 months, as defined by structural or functional abnormalities of the kidney, with or without decreased GFR, manifest by either pathological abnormalities, or markers of kidney damage, including abnormalities in the composition of blood, urine or imaging tests. Or
- Decreased GFR, with or without evidence of kidney damage.

CKD is further subdivided into five subgroups according to the degree of severity of estimated GFR reduction as described in table 1. 1.

Glomerular filtration rate (mL/min/1.73 m ²)	Stages	Description
≥90	1	Kidney damage with normal or <i>†GFR</i>
60-89	2	Kidney damage with mild ↓GFR
30-59	3	Moderate ↓GFR
15-29	4	Severe ↓GFR
< 15	5	End-Stage Kidney Disease (ESKD)

Table 1. 1: Stages of Chronic Kidney Diseases

1.2. Global trends in end-stage kidney disease

The number of patients with ESKD is increasing worldwide as a consequence of the rise in non-communicable diseases. ESKD is a life-long medical condition with profound impact on patients, families and the health care sector. The World Health Report 2002 and Global Burden of Disease project indicated that diseases of the kidney and urinary tract significantly contribute to the global burden of diseases (http://www.who.int/whr/2002/en/). Recently it was estimated that globally over 2 million people require treatment for ESKD to sustain life (5). In reality the number might be 10 fold higher than the estimated figures as the access to renal replacement therapy (RRT) is restricted or not available in over 112 countries and many patients die before having access to diagnostic and therapeutic health services (6-9). Consequently, it has been estimated that worldwide more than a million people die every year from ESKD. Moreover, management of ESKD is a major cost pressure even in countries that

can afford it. These factors render ESKD an important focus of health care planning even in the developed world, but the problems they delineate in the developing world are far more challenging (7).

Trends in ESKD are best studied longitudinally from annual renal registry reports. They provide the best tool for assessing the overall epidemiology of renal diseases in a community and permit international comparison. Renal registries are not established in many countries, where the trends are studied using other observational methods. However, interpreting rates of incidence and prevalence of ESKD across countries is complicated by the lack of uniform data collection methods.

According to the 2011 report of the United States Renal Data System (USRDS) (10), the rates of incident ESKD across the globe show important trends; rates have slowed in some countries, while rising or remaining stable in others. The United States, Taiwan and Japan continue to have some of the highest rates, at 355 per million population (pmp), 347 pmp and 287 pmp in 2009 (figure 1.1).



Figure 1. 1: Incidence of ESKD in different countries, 2009- United States Renal Data System (2011)

The annual incidence of ESKD in the United States showed relative stability as compared to data from 2000-2009 (10). This secular trend is quite different from that observed in the 1980s and 1990s during which the incidence of ESKD increased at a rapid rate (10). The annual report of the European Renal Association–European Dialysis and Transplant Association Registry (ERA-EDTA) 2009 (11), which gathers data from many European national registries, showed an overall incidence rate of ESKD among all registries of 122 pmp. It also showed

wide variation in the incidence rates reported by different countries. During 2008, the highest incidence rates were reported by Turkey (264 pmp), Portugal (232 pmp) and Greece (199 pmp), whereas incidence rates below 100 pmp were reported by Ukraine (15 pmp), Montenegro (30 pmp), Russia (37 pmp), Estonia (66 pmp), Iceland (73 pmp), Latvia (95 pmp), Finland (95 pmp) and Romania (96 pmp) (11). Similarly, evaluation of trends from 2004 to 2008 showed minor increases in most countries and levelling off of rates or even a slight decrease in incidence of ESKD. The Thirteenth Annual Report of The UK Renal Registry showed that the incidence rate in the UK during 2009 was stable at 109 pmp and, similarly rates had levelled off in the last three years (12) (figure 1. 2).



Figure 1. 2: Incidence rates of renal replacement therapy in the countries of the United Kingdom 1990- 2009

Similarly, The Thirty Third Report of the Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry (2010) (13) showed that the incidence of ESKD in Australia was 107 pmp in 2009, a decrease of 8% from 2008 (119 pmp) when the incidence rate was similar to 2005 (113 pmp). Therefore, most recent reports from developed countries show no change or a small decrease in the rate of new cases. In these countries, success may be attributed to application of preventive

measures including control of blood pressure, better glycemic control and screening of at risk population (14).

Incidence rates reported from the Middle and Far East show variable patterns. The Malaysian Dialysis and Transplant Registry (15) reported an incidence of ESKD treated with dialysis of 170 pmp in 2009 which is approximately as double the rate during 2001 (88 pmp). Reports from other countries in the region depended on small studies rather than well-established renal registries. For instance, the incidence in Qatar was 202 pmp (16), Tunisia (159 pmp) (17), Bhopal city in India (151 pmp) (18), Saudi Arabia (122 pmp) (19), Jordan (111 pmp) (20) and Aleppo city in Syria (60 pmp) (21). However, the long term trend of ESKD incidence in most Middle and Far East countries could not be interpreted in these places due to insufficient information.

The incidence of ESKD varies in demographic subgroups of different populations. Male predominance in incident cases has been reported by many registries. According to the 2011 USRDS report (10), the incidence rate in males was 353 pmp while it was 222 pmp for females. Data from the ERA-EDTA Registry (11) showed that incident males outnumbered females in all countries reporting to the registry during 2008, with wide differences between genders in some countries where male incidence rate was almost double the rate in females. For example, in Greece, incidence in males was 262 pmp and in females was 147 pmp (11). Similarly in Finland incidence in males was 111 pmp and in females was 55 pmp (11). The Thirteenth Annual Report of The UK Renal Registry (12) showed that 61.7% of the 2009 incident cohort was male.

Age is another demographic variable which significantly impacts the incidence of ESKD. The mean age of incident patients with ESKD in developed countries is higher than those in developing nations. According to the 2011 USRDS report (10), the mean age of incident ESKD patients was 62.6 years. Incidence rates increased progressively with increasing age of patients such that it was 131 pmp in those aged 20–44 years and 610 pmp in those aged 45–64 while it reached 1,407 pmp in those aged 65–74 years (10) (figure 1.3).

6



Figure 1. 3: Incident counts and adjusted rates of ESKD, by age, United States Renal Data System (2011)

Data from the ERA-EDTA Registry (11) shows that the mean age of incident patients in 2008 ranged from 44 years in Ukraine to 69 years in Dutch-speaking Belgium. In the UK, the median age was 64.8 years for all incident patients and 57.1 years for non-Whites (12). In Australia, the mean age of incident ESKD patients was 60.7 years and the median was 63.4 years (13). In contrast, the mean age of incident patients in the developing world is generally substantially lower. For instance, the mean age of incident ESKD patients during 2005 in India was 46 years (22). This is likely due to multiple factors including lower population life expectancy, rationing of RRT to younger patients and higher prevalence of kidney diseases that affect younger people.

The incidence of ESKD also varies greatly across patient ethnic subgroups. According to the USRDS (10), the incidence in White Americans was 277 pmp, African Americans 976 pmp, Native Americans 523 pmp and Asian Americans 403 pmp. The incident rates in the African American and Native American populations were 3.5 and 1.9 times greater, respectively, than

the rate among whites and the rate in the Hispanic population was 1.5 times higher than that of non-Hispanics (10).

Likewise, the number of patients affected by ESKD and living on RRT shows wide variation between countries. The prevalence of ESKD does not necessarily reflect the health status among communities because it depends not only on the number of new cases but also on the rate of survival of existing patients. It may reflect different priorities for health care and inadequacy of resources allocated to RRT as well as the access to renal transplantation.

The (2011) USRDS report also showed high prevalence of ESKD in the United States with major racial differences. Overall, the rate of prevalent ESKD cases reached 1,738 pmp in 2009 (10). There was an increase of 2.1% from 2008, consistent with a similar rise per year since 2002 (10). Point prevalence of dialysis patients was 1,210 pmp. The mean age of prevalent ESKD patients in the United States was 61.1 years. Prevalence rate in White Americans was 1,279 pmp, African Americans 5,284 pmp, Native Americans 2,735 pmp and Asian Americans 2,101 pmp (10).

International data reported from different registries in the world showed that Taiwan and Japan continue to report the highest rates of prevalent ESKD, at 2,447 and 2,205 pmp, respectively, in 2009 (10). High prevalence rates were also reported by Jalisco (Mexico) and French-speaking as well as Dutch-speaking Belgium, at 1,314 pmp, 1,193 pmp and 1,141 pmp, respectively (10). The lowest rates were reported by Bangladesh and the Philippines, at 140 pmp and 110 pmp (10).

The overall prevalence among all registries reporting to the ERA-EDTA Registry in 2008 was 644 pmp (11). The highest prevalence was in Portugal (1408 pmp), Belgium (French-speaking) (1153 pmp) and Spain (Catalonia) (1124 pmp). The lowest prevalence was reported by Ukraine (89 pmp) and Russia (165 pmp). The Thirteenth Annual Report of The UK Renal Registry (23) showed that the prevalence rate of ESKD was 417 pmp and the median age of prevalent patients was 57.7 years. There were a gradual growth in the prevalence of dialysis population by 3.5 pmp between 2005 and 2009. It also showed that prevalence rates in males exceeded those in females; the peak for males was in the 75–79 year age group at 2,632 pmp and for females the peak was in the 70–74 year age group at 1,445 pmp (23). The prevalence rate of

dialysis in Australia had showed almost similar rate (473 pmp) (13). New Zealand showed higher prevalence rate of dialysis (524 pmp) (13) while in Malaysia it was 762 pmp (15).

The prevalence rates for the Mediterranean region were estimated to range between 312 to 352 pmp (24, 25). Other reports from individual countries in the region showed variable prevalences including Saudi Arabia (475 pmp) (19), El-Minia city in Egypt (208 pmp) (26), Kuwait (240 pmp) (24) and Oman (220 pmp) (24).

1.3. Aetiology of end-stage kidney disease

Kidney damage may result from a multitude of primary kidney disorders or systemic diseases. Some factors play a role in initiating the disease in individuals and other factors drive the progression of the condition among those with established CKD. If the cause of CKD is not determined relatively early in its course the primary diagnosis may be difficult to discern. Generally, causes of ESKD in a population are influenced by the effect of demographic variables including gender, ethnicity and socioeconomic status.

Diabetes and hypertension account together for almost 60% of ESKD (10). Diabetic nephropathy is rapidly becoming the single most common cause for ESKD worldwide as the prevalence of diabetes is increasing progressively in most countries. Over the past 25 years, the prevalence of type 2 diabetes has almost doubled in the United States, increased three- to five fold in India, Indonesia, China, Korea and Thailand (27, 28). Diabetes is extremely frequent in the Middle countries. East The International Diabetes Federation (http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas/) ranked Kuwait, Lebanon, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain and the United Arab Emirates among the countries with highest prevalence of diabetes in the world. Several studies have shown that diabetes is associated with a substantially increased risk of ESKD (29-32). Researchers estimated that almost 40% of diabetic patients will develop CKD within 10 years of diagnosis (33, 34).

Data from the USRDS (2011) (10) shows that diabetes was the primary diagnosis in 44% of new ESKD patients (figure 1. 4) and 39% to 53% of prevalent patients in 2009. The incidence rate of ESKD caused by diabetes remains high in the United States, reaching 647 pmp in 2009.



Figure 1. 4: Incident counts and adjusted rates of ESKD, by primary diagnosis, United States Renal Data System (2011)

International figures reported by the USRDS (2011) (10), showed that diabetes was the primary cause of ESKD in 58–60% of new patients in Malaysia, Morelos (Mexico) and Jalisco (Mexico). It also showed that Thailand, New Zealand, Hong Kong, the Republic of Korea, Japan, Taiwan and the Philippines all have rates of ESKD incidence due to diabetes of greater than 40%. In contrast the report showed that incidence of ESKD due to diabetes was below 20% in Iceland, Romania, Ukraine, Montenegro, Russia, Estonia and Latvia. The ERA-EDTA Registry (11) showed a lower frequency of diabetes as the primary disease causing ESKD (20% or less) in Norway, Iceland, Russia, the Netherlands and Romania.

The UK Renal Registry report (12) showed that diabetic nephropathy was the most common specific renal diagnosis causing ESKD in both the under and over 65 year age groups, accounting for 25% of all incident diagnoses. The Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry (13) showed that in Australia, diabetic nephropathy was the primary cause for ESKD in 33% of new patients, while in New Zealand, diabetic nephropathy was the primary disease in 47%. Several reports from Middle East countries including Syria, Jordan,

Lebanon, Turkey and Iran showed that diabetes was the most frequent cause of ESKD in these countries (20-40%) (20, 21, 24, 35, 36).

Other causes of ESKD include hypertension, glomerulonephritis and interstitial nephritis. Numerous population- based studies showed that hypertension increases the risk of ESKD (29, 37-39). Raised systolic blood pressure was an independent risk factor for development of renal impairment among patients with type II diabetes (40). Furthermore, several studies have found a close association between the level of blood pressure and the magnitude of increased risk such that even modest elevations in blood pressure, are associated with increased risk of ESKD (29, 37, 41). Hypertension is projected to increase sharply over the next few decades, particularly in developing nations (42). Data from the USRDS (2011) (10) showed that hypertension was the primary diagnosis in 28% of new ESKD patients and the rate of ESKD due to hypertension has grown 8.7% from 2000- 2009, to 101 pmp. The incidence of glomerulonephritis has remained relatively stable in many countries. However, the contribution of glomerulonephritis to all causes of ESKD has declined due to increase in other causes such as diabetes and hypertension. Glomerulonephritis as a primary diagnosis has fallen to 23.8% in the United States (10). In the UK, glomerulonephritis accounted for 11.5% of all incident diagnoses while hypertension was the primary diagnosis in 6.9%. In Australia, glomerulonephritis caused 24% of cases and hypertension was the primary disease in 14% (13). Higher proportions of glomerulonephritis were reported from China (35%), Kuwait (35%) (43, 44), Costa Rica (30%) (45) and Yemen (25%) (46) whereas lower proportions were observed in Qatar (13%) (16), Sri-lanka (12%) (47) and Pakistan (10%) (48). Accurate diagnosis of glomerulonephritis requires clinicians with competence to perform a renal biopsy as well as pathology services for processing of the specimens and adequately trained pathologists. These resources remain deficient in many countries and therefore many cases of glomerulonephritis are probably not detected.

Congenital and hereditary kidney diseases such as autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease, Alport's disease, Fabry's disease and congenital nephrotic syndrome may cause ESKD at any age. The proportion of ESKD caused by congenital and hereditary kidney diseases is relatively small but complex genetic factors likely increase the risk of ESKD in a much larger proportion of populations. Among 25,883 incident ESKD patients, 22.8% reported a family

history of ESKD (49) and screening of the relatives of ESKD patients revealed evidence of CKD in 49.3% (50). The impact of ESKD caused by congenital and hereditary kidney diseases is more prominent in communities with high rates of consanguinity such as Middle East countries (51, 52). Furthermore, populations with a high rate of consanguinity have an increased prevalence of adult diseases that are associated with renal insufficiency, such as hypertension, metabolic syndrome and diabetes (51, 53).

Other factors that may also cause ESKD include urinary tract disorders, chronic pyelonephritis and autoimmune diseases such as lupus nephritis. Obesity may directly cause glomerulopathy or provoke glomerular hypertension and hyperfiltration that may contribute to progression to ESKD (54-56).

Despite advances in diagnostic technologies that have facilitated accurate diagnosis of the cause of ESKD in the majority of patients, the aetiology of ESKD remains uncertain in a substantial proportion of patients, even in developed countries with adequate diagnostic facilities. This is in part due to the fact that CKD still goes undetected in many people until it is advanced, making diagnosis more difficult. In developing countries, lack of diagnostic facilities is an important contributory factor.

1.4. Management of patients with end-stage kidney disease

In advanced CKD the rate of deterioration of patients' condition and tolerance to reduced GFR show substantial variation. The optimal timing of dialysis initiation remains uncertain but there is general consensus that the onset of serious symptoms and complications of uraemia including hyperkalaemia, metabolic acidosis, anorexia, nausea, puritis, malaise and fluid overload is a firm indication to commence dialysis (1).

Detecting patients at early stages of CKD and providing proper management slows the progression of the disease and allows a chance for patients and families to be informed about RRT choices. It also creates the opportunity for pre-emptive kidney transplant. Early diagnosis increases the compliance of patients, builds up confidence between patients and health care providers, assists patients and families in coping with the psychological impact of the disease

and maximises chances for rehabilitation (57, 58). Furthermore, if management with dialysis is the agreed plan, there will be sufficient time to create suitable vascular access which improves outcomes on dialysis (59, 60). Conversely, late referral and an unplanned start to dialysis are associated with increased morbidity (61) and reduction in patient survival that persists for at least the first three years (62). Figure 1. 5, demonstrates the relationship between late referral and dialysis survival such that patients referred less than 12 months before dialysis initiation had a significantly increased risk of death (62).



Figure 1. 5: Relation between time of referral before dialysis initiation and subsequent risk of death (Kessler et al. AJKD, 2003)

All clinical guidelines now advocate identifying people at risk of ESKD at an early stage and timely referral to nephrology care to achieve benefits of a planned start. Early referral to a nephrologist, despite being seemingly feasible, is often not achieved. Reports from many countries show that considerable proportions of patients present at late stage and need urgent commencement of dialysis. The USRDS (2011) report (10) showed that more than 43% of ESKD patients starting therapy in 2009 had not seen a nephrologist prior to initiation. Similarly, The Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry (13) showed that, during 2009, 21% of all new patients in Australia and 17% of new patients in New Zealand were referred to nephrology care in less than three months before first treatment.

Psychosocial support is important for patients, because dialysis makes them socially and emotionally vulnerable (63, 64). It often results in a loss of freedom, dependence on caregivers,

disruption of family life and reduced or loss of financial income. It also interrupts work, school and leisure activities, creates anger, frustration and tension and alters body image because of reduced physical energy (65, 66). Moreover, it causes loss or change in sexual function (67, 68) and changes the body's appearance due to access surgery, dialysis catheter placement, needle marks, bone disease, or other physical deterioration (69-71). Furthermore, dialysis only partially replicates the removal of fluid and uraemic toxins by the kidneys and does not replace any of its hormonal functions. Patients are given other treatments to correct the endocrine deficiencies.

1.5. Renal Replacement Therapy

The main types of RRT are dialysis and renal transplantation. Dialysis is a process in which an artificial kidney or the patient's own peritoneal membrane is used to remove waste metabolites and maintain homeostasis. Kidney transplantation is the gold standard treatment for ESKD where a new kidney replaces the function of failing kidneys, but a shortage of both live and cadaveric donated organs leaves many people with kidney failure obligated to undergo lifelong dialysis. The two dialysis techniques currently available are HD and PD.

1.5.1. Haemodialysis

HD is performed by circulating blood through a disposable dialyzer. This is composed of hollow fibres of a selectively permeable material, giving a large total surface area $(1-2 \text{ m}^2)$. Dialysate is produced by the combination of concentrate with ultrapure water (microbiologically pure, low endotoxin concentration and depleted in minerals). The dialysis fluid flows around the hollow fibres in the opposite direction to blood. It contains a low concentration of factors to be removed and a higher concentration of bicarbonate, allowing diffusion into the blood and correction of acidosis. Removal of accumulated fluid is achieved by applying a pressure gradient across the dialysis membrane, resulting in controlled ultrafiltration. Figure 1. 6, illustrates a HD machine.



Figure 1. 6: A haemodialysis machine

Conventionally, heparin is used to prevent clotting. HD treatment is performed three times a week, for 3–5 h per session. This results in adequate control of biochemistry (though not normalized), fluid overload, acidosis and uraemic symptoms in most patients.

1.5.1.1. Development of haemodialysis

The enormous advances in medical technology during the past century laid the foundation for the development of dialysis to replace kidney function. The basic theory of dialysis was first described by Thomas Graham in 1854, a chemist at Glasgow University (72). He described the principles of the semi-permeable membrane and gave the name 'dialysis' to refer to the process of selective diffusion (72, 73). Graham realized that, for successful treatment of renal failure, toxins, which accumulate in renal failure, would have to be removed. It would be necessary to understand the production rate of these toxins and the rate at which they can cross the membrane (73). The main cornerstone in HD was laid by Abel, Rowntree and Turner in 1914 when they devised an apparatus for blood dialysis and tested the first efficient dialysis system on animals at Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine (74). The first human HD was performed in a uremic patient by Haas in 1924 at the University of Giessen in Germany (75, 76). He used a tubular device made of collodion and cannulated the radial and carotid arteries. Later that year he added a blood pump. In 1937, the first flat HD membrane made of cellophane was produced (77). This invention was followed by significant improvement in dialysers and membrane designs in 1940's by Kolff (78).

Although HD technology continued to develop, the technique of obtaining vascular access did not evolve at the same rate. Repeated cannulation was not effective and was prone to complications. A breakthrough in vascular access came in 1960 with the introduction of the Quinton and Scribner arteriovenous shunt (79). This used silastic tubes fitted with Teflon tips as an arteriovenous shunt. Dr. Scribner's work and improvement in this field led to the establishment of the first outpatient dialysis centre in Seattle in the United States. Further significant advance in vascular access occurred in the 1960's when Cimino and Brescia first described their native arteriovenous fistula (AVF) for chronic vascular access (80).

Further technological developments led to important improvements in management of blood leaks in the dialysers and lines and the bacterial contamination of the dialysis fluid. Also, production of a commercially viable dialysis solution that contained bicarbonate as a buffer led to reduced hypotension, headaches and hypoxia caused by acetate diaysate (81).

1.5.1.2. Vascular access

Long-term treatment of ESKD with HD is critically dependent on the establishment and maintenance of adequate vascular access. The AVF is regarded as the optimal vascular access in HD patients due to the better patency rates, ability to withstand repetitive needle puncture and association with low patient morbidity and mortality (82-84). An AVF is established by surgical anastamosis of an artery to a vein, forming a high flow, low resistance system. Over a period of 2-3 months the vein enlarges, allowing successful, repetitive venepuncture for HD. Forearm AVF are preferred because of accessibility and less ischemia risks of distal limb in comparison with proximal fistulas (85-87). Patient survival is better when an AVF is used for the first HD treatment compared to starting HD with a catheter and then subsequently using an AVF (84, 88-90). Gender differences in site and patency rates of definitive vascular access have been reported by numerous studies and many have observed that females are less likely

than males to have their permanent vascular access placed in the forearm because they have smaller calibre vessels (91, 92).

Other vascular access options include arteriovenous grafts (AVG), central venous catheters (CVC) and tunnelled catheters. Grafts are used as an alternative when AVF formation is not technically possible. Instead, connection between an artery and a vein is created using a piece of synthetic material such as polytetrafluoroethylene or biological material (biograft). Temporary CVC are used when no alternative access is available. Tunnelled CVCs are designed to be used for longer periods when permanent vascular access cannot be achieved or is delayed. Several clinical guidelines and strategic plans addressing vascular access have been developed to improve practice in this field. The updated NKF/KDOQI goal for vascular access use strongly recommended AVF as the vascular access of first choice for HD and AVGs as second line; the use of CVCs to be kept to a minimum (93).

1.5.1.3. Advances in haemodialysis technology

To improve the quality of care for dialysis patients and increase the efficiency of the process, various modifications of the HD technique have been developed. Advances include dialyzer design and high flux membranes, volumetric control and monitoring systems that provide online clearances. Additionally, convective clearance modalities such as hemofiltration and hemodiafiltration confer benefit in terms of stability on dialysis and greater clearance of some of the larger uraemic toxins (94). Other technical areas include dialysate buffer, electrolyte concentration and temperature, prescription monitoring, volume-ultrafiltration control, information system interface, arteriovenous access monitoring, water treatment and nocturnal dialysis. Currently researchers are developing a wearable device to perform HD (95).

There is also a resurgence of interest in home HD, with improvements in water-treatment and machine portability and the increasing realization that with daily overnight dialysis, or daily short-session dialysis, there can be significant improvements in anaemia, calcium-phosphate balance, acidosis, nutrition, blood pressure, lipid profiles and left ventricular hypertrophy compared to 'standard' thrice weekly four-hour sessions (96-99). It is likely that the escalating numbers of patients on treatment with increasing co-morbidity load will require continued

refinement of dialysis techniques, whilst not replacing the need for early identification of CKD and assiduous mental and physical preparation in the pre- dialysis period.

1.5.2. Peritoneal dialysis

This technique involves using the peritoneum as a dialysis membrane. Pre-packaged fluid is instilled into the peritoneal space via a permanent silicone Tenckhoff catheter. It is allowed to dwell for a period of time (4 hours for continuous ambulatory PD). Waste products to be removed diffuse from the blood into the fluid. Again, the dialysis fluid contains factors that do not need to be removed at similar concentrations to normal plasma (calcium, magnesium and sodium). Acidosis is corrected by the diffusion of buffer from the fluid into the blood and ultrafiltration occurs down an osmotic gradient. This is produced by the fluid having a higher osmolality than plasma (due to a high concentration of glucose or glucose polymer within the dialysis fluid). Rapid drainage relies on good tube placement and function. The most common cause of failure is constipation with tube displacement, or inspissation of omental fat into the catheter's multiple distal perforations. PD patients characteristically are prescribed aperients to promote two soft bowel motions per day. The main limitations of PD relate to the development of peritonitis, resulting either from an infection of the exit site or contamination due to poor technique. There are a number of variants of the PD method. CAPD involves 3-5 exchanges of fluid per day, every day. The patient performs these manually, with the bag being disconnected between each exchange. In some patients, PD treatment is performed at night using automated PD either because more intensive dialysis is needed or for social reasons (100).

1.5.3. Choice of dialysis modality

Although there may be overriding medical or social imperatives in some cases, the choice between PD and HD (either unit or home based) should generally be free and not constrained by either clinicians prejudice or resource issues. Sufficient time and information must be provided to allow patients and families to make a choice. Poor or compelled choice will result in a higher chance of treatment failure and poorer long-term outcomes.

1.5.4. Provision of dialysis

Dialysis is a life- saving measure for patients with ESKD. Currently, over 2 million people require RRT to sustain life worldwide (5, 101, 102) but the number in need of dialysis is increasing globally. The incidence and prevalence of patients with ESKD in the United States expected to increase by 44% and 85%, respectively, from 2000 to 2015 (103). In many developed countries the high cost of dialysis is partially or completely covered by government funds. However, over 100 countries in the developing world fail to provide an open access to dialysis therapy due to economic constraints (6, 7). Actually, treatment of ESKD is a low priority for public hospitals in many poor countries resulting in the estimated death of over 1 million people annually from untreated kidney failure (6, 7). For instance, in India and Pakistan, less than 10% of all patients with ESKD receive any kind of RRT (104, 105).

As the need for dialysis services is escalating, many dialysis units run to full capacity and the need to expand the services is a serious challenge facing health care authorities. The annual growth of dialysis programmes ranged between 6% and 12% over the past two decades and is continuing to grow, particularly in developing countries (106). Capacity expansion requires new dialysis facilities but also training and recruitment of adequate staff. Capacity planning requires accurate knowledge of current and predicted number of patients. Other important services directly related to dialysis provision include pharmacy, laboratory services, technical support to maintain and repair dialysis machines, monitoring of water quality and surgical services for creation of permanent vascular access or insertion of PD catheters.

Provision of dialysis in a country may be improved by the establishment of a Renal Registry to compile national data, audit service capacity and quality and provide feedback to individual units.

In the last few years, growing interest and attention have been paid to the quality of health care services generally and to the delivery of dialysis therapy in particular. The development and implementation of clinical practice guidelines is one way to promote best practice and improve quality. Comprehensive care offered by a multidisciplinary team (that includes; nephrologists, dialysis nurses, renal technicians, dieticians, pharmacists, psychiatrists, surgeons, social workers, counsellors and occupational therapists) is needed to achieve favourable outcomes.

19
Of concern is the observation that persons with ESKD are reported to have a lower quality of life than persons with other chronic illnesses (107) and that quality of life is correlated with hospitalisation and death in persons with ESKD (108). A low quality of life associated with dialysis may be related to physical complications common in ESKD, such as fatigue, joint pain and anorexia. Low quality of life may also be due to general health perception, socioeconomic status, marital problems, time spent on HD, comorbidities associated with renal failure, side effects of multiple invasive procedures, adverse reactions to drug therapies and uncertainty about the future (109). A unique stressor in the population with ESKD that is not shared by others with different chronic diseases is the need for vascular access. Many patients worry about the integrity of the vascular access, fear it being damaged and view it as an embarrassing disfigurement (109).

1.5.5. Monitoring of patients receiving dialysis

The aim of long-term dialysis therapy is to replicate as far as possible the normal function of the kidney(s). Patients are monitored, usually monthly, for a wide range of indices relating to solute clearance, mineral metabolism, volume status, nutrition and anaemia. Clearance of urea is measured by blood sampling before and after HD, or with a combination of blood samples and samples of waste fluid in PD. Failure to reach certain thresholds is associated with increasing symptoms and increased mortality. Other laboratory investigations indicated to monitor dialysis patients include haemoglobin concentration and haematocrit as well as serum calcium, phosphorus, albumin and parathyroid hormone.

1.5.6. Adverse effects of dialysis

Long-term dialysis treatment impacts on multiple body systems since the kidneys are responsible for a wide variety of physiologic processes including clearance of metabolic waste products, maintain acid-base balance, regulation of sodium and potassium excretion, regulation of extracellular fluid volume and blood pressure as well as hormone production. The extent of complications experienced by patients on dialysis may be enhanced by interaction between ESKD and coexisting conditions like diabetes, obesity and aging.

1.5.6.1. Uraemia

Patients on long term dialysis suffer from several complications attributed to the effect of uraemia which cannot be completely reversed because of the short and intermittent nature of dialysis. Uraemia causes fatigue, loss of concentration, sleep disturbances, restless legs, peripheral neuropathy, platelet dysfunction, anorexia, nausea, itching and cramps. Nevertheless, the effect of uraemia may be minimised by optimal delivery of an adequate dose of dialysis.

1.5.6.2. Cardiovascular system

Cardiovascular disease is the dominant cause of death in patients on dialysis. Several structural and functional peripheral vascular and cardiac abnormalities contribute to cardiovascular disease including left ventricular hypertrophy, reduced coronary blood flow, impaired microcirculation, reduced peripheral arterial compliance, arterial calcification and myocardial ischemia (110). The complex interaction between retained metabolites, inflammation, oxidative stress, malnutrition and the impact of recurrent volume overload with rapid fluid shifts that occur on dialysis ultimately leads to cardiomyopathy, cardiac failure and death (111, 112).

1.5.6.3. Hormone deficiency

While dialysis partially replaces glomerular filtration, patients on dialysis still suffer from hormone deficiencies including calcitriol and erythropoietin. Hyperphosphataemia and low calcitriol levels provoke secondary hyperparathyroidism. In addition to effects on bone metabolism, the elevated calcium- phosphorus product associated with secondary hyperparathyroidism may cause arterial calcification that contributes to arterial stiffness and cardiovascular disease.

Erythropoietin is the other hormone that is uniquely synthesised by the kidneys. It is responsible for activation of bone marrow erythroid precursors. However, the anaemia

commonly occurs in ESKD is usually caused by a combination of factors that include erythropoietin hormone deficiency, functional iron insufficiency and chronic inflammation (113). Other factors include, shortened red blood cell survival, blood loss related to HD and uremic inhibitors of erythrocyte production.

1.5.6.4. Nutritional disturbances

Both ESKD and dialysis have effects on the nutritional status of patients (114). Malnutrition commonly arises from inadequate protein or calorie intake, increased energy expenditure, dialytic nutrient loss, metabolic acidosis, dialysis induced catabolism, hormonal alterations and infection. Albumin may be a marker of nutritional status but is also reduced by acute illness.

1.5.6.5. Bacterial infection

Bacteraemia is a common problem in dialysis patients (115). Sepsis ranks second behind cardiovascular disease as cause of death in patients treated with long-term dialysis. Infections rates continue to be high despite application of infection- control programmes in many dialysis facilities. Many of these infections are dialysis access related but other infections are also frequent. They include respiratory tract infections, endocarditis, skin and soft tissue infections and urinary tract infections. Vascular access related infections are commonly caused by *Staphylococcus aureus*. Elderly and diabetic patients as well as those using catheters for vascular access are more vulnerable to infections. Uraemia causes reduced leukocyte chemotaxis and phagocytosis, increasing susceptibility to infection (116). The treatment of infections may be further complicated by increased antibiotic resistance in dialysis patients due to repeated exposure to antibiotics.

1.5.6.6. Viral hepatitis

Patients undergoing HD have excess risk for acquiring blood bourne virus infections. The prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus (HBV and HCV) infections in dialysis- treated patients is commonly higher than the general population (117, 118). HBV and/or HCV infections in dialysis patients increase morbidity and mortality risks due to liver disease and reduced immunity. The prevalence and incidence of HBV and HCV infections among dialysis patients varies widely between countries and also within the same country and it correlates

with the prevalence in the general population. Global data indicate that the prevalence of HBV and HCV infection is high in the populations of Africa and the Middle-East regions (119-121).

The overall prevalence of both infections in maintenance dialysis patients is decreasing in many countries. The prevalence of HBV infection in dialysis patients in Western Europe and the United States ranges between 0% and 7% (122) . Reports from Hong Kong and Brazil showed higher prevalence of approximately 10% (123, 124). Data from Saudi Arabia showed a prevalence rate of 4.6% (19) and from Jordan of 5.9% (125). A low rate of 1.6% was reported in Japan. The prevalence of HCV sero-positivity, on the other hand, is generally higher than HBV in dialysis populations though it differs widely between countries. Previous epidemiological studies have shown that the prevalence of HCV sero-positivity among patients receiving HD varies from as low as 6.1% in Germany (126) to as high as 76% in Casablanca (127). Reports showed that the prevalence of HCV sero-positivity in HD patients was 50% in Saudi Arabia (128), 42% in Tunisia (129), 20.2% in Turkey (130) and 21% in Jordan (20).

Incidence of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) seroconversion is declining in many dialysis facilities due to adherence to strict isolation of seropositive patients and administration of HBV vaccine to seronegative patients. The incidence rate in majority of facilities (78.1%) in Western Europe and the United States included in the Dialysis Outcome and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS) was 0 per 100 patient-years (122). Rates of annual HBV seroconversion are higher in developing countries. The incidence of HCV sero-conversion in Saudi HD patients was reported to be 7-9% per year (19) while in Jordan it was 2.6% (20).

Multiple factors contribute to the increased risk of HBV and HCV infections among dialysis patients. Observational studies carried out in various centres worldwide have shown that the number of blood units transfused (126, 131), the duration of HD (131-134), a history of previous renal transplant (134-136), presence of HBV and/or HCV positive patients in the same facility and non-isolation of seropositive patients are associated with an increased risk of infection (137, 138). Historically, blood transfusion was the main factor implicated in transmission of HCV infections in dialysis patients. Despite increased safety of blood products and reducing the need for blood transfusion by the use of recombinant erythropoietin hormone, transmission by this route seems to be still occurring in some countries, probably because of

delayed appearance of serological markers in some blood donors or poor quality of laboratory testing (139).

Additionally, HD patients are predisposed to nosocomial transmission of HBV and HCV infections from seropositive patients because each treatment is associated with a small amount of blood loss from needling sites and discarded lines (140, 141). The most effective measure for preventing this is to isolate seropositive patients to dialysis stations in separate rooms but strict application of infection control procedures including safe disposal of contaminated medical waste are also important. Patient to patient transmission is confirmed by demonstrating similarity of subtypes and genotypes in patients receiving treatment in the same HD centre, sharing the same room or sharing the same HD machine (142).

1.5.6.7. Vascular Access related complications

Creating and maintaining a successful permanent vascular access is a major challenge for HD staff even in advanced and well organized health care systems because of a high incidence of dysfunction and failure. The need for secondary intervention to maintain vascular access is common. Furthermore, failure of new AVF to mature is observed in at least one third of cases (143). Data from DOPPS III (2005–2007) from 11 countries showed wide variation in vascular access patterns among countries with a highest rate of AVF use (91%) in Japan and the lowest rate (47%) in the United States. Vascular access related complications account for 16–25% of hospital admissions in dialysis patients and depending on the type of vascular access in use, this correlated with overall and cause-specific mortality (84). Similarly, the USRDS (2011) reported that HD access failure was the most frequent cause of hospitalisation.

Late referral and lack of predialysis nephrology care are the main reasons for high rates of CVC use at dialysis initiation. DOPPS II reported that 23–73% of patients new to ESKD used a catheter for the initiation of HD (144). Barriers to AVF placement are patient preference, unfavourable anatomy, lack of surgical expertise and late referral of patients to nephrologists and vascular surgeons (145-147). Diabetes has also been identified as a risk factor for reduced utilisation of AVFs (91, 148, 149).

Thrombosis is a leading cause of vascular access failure. Early thrombosis is associated with poor outcome as salvage is not usually attempted due to low success rates. Late thrombosis is

usually related to an underlying stenosis of the fistula and a variety of monitoring techniques have been developed to detect stenosis before thrombosis occurs. Vascular access related infection is a serious complication which often results in hospitalisation. Infections account for approximately 15% of all deaths in this patient population and for about one-fifth of admissions. Infections are usually associated with CVCs. Most studies showed that the risk of vascular access related bacteraemia is greatest with temporary CVCs and decreases progressively with tunnelled CVCs, AVGs and AVFs (150-153). Damage and weakening of the vessel wall following repeated cannulation can also lead to excessive dilatation and aneurysm formation.

1.6. Survival of maintenance dialysis patients

Despite optimal treatment, patients on maintenance dialysis have substantially reduced survival rates when compared to the general population. Patient survival is therefore the most fundamental outcome measure for patients receiving dialysis. Survival trends are best described by longitudinal observational studies such as those obtained from renal registry data. In the short term, annual mortality rate is recognised as a useful tool to assess and compare dialysis outcomes between different providers. A considerable body of research aimed at determining the factors associated with excess risk of death in dialysis patients has led to multiple reforms in the clinical practice guidelines. Mortality rates have declined modestly in the United States, Europe and Japan over the last two decades after modifiable risk factors for reduced survival were targeted (10, 154).

1.6.1. Factors associated with increased mortality in dialysis patients

Excess risk of death in patients receiving maintenance dialysis is related to multiple interacting factors that include;

- Factors related to characteristics of dialysis patients such as demographic and socio-economic status (155), timing and quality of predialysis nephrology care (156), pattern of initiation of dialysis and presence and type of comorbidity (157). Most accompanying diseases adversely affect survival. Patients with CKD have a higher prevalence and incidence of cardiovascular disease such as ischemic heart diseases and heart failure (158, 159). Other patient factors associated with elevated mortality rate includes; diabetes, hypertension, hypotension, smoking, dyslipidaemia, inactive life style, arteriosclerosis, malnutrition abnormal bone and mineral metabolism and male gender (160-164).
- Factors related to the delivery of dialysis such as the mode of dialysis, location of dialysis facility, presence of trained staff, availability of resources, technical support, water quality and infection control polices (165-168). In addition, quality of services in terms of number of sessions per week, delivered kt/v and monitoring of biochemical and nutritional indicators as well as social and psychological support (169-172).

Mortality rates are high in patients receiving maintenance dialysis. The adjusted rates of allcause mortality are 6.5-7.4 times greater for dialysis patients than for individuals in the general population (10). USRDS (2011) data showed that only 50% of dialysis patients were alive three years after the start of ESKD therapy (10). At the time of initiation of dialysis, the expected life span ranged from approximately 8 years for patients aged 40-44 years to approximately 4.5 years for those 60-64 years of age (10). The risk of death increased with age and was higher in older men than women (10). The adjusted all- cause mortality among prevalent patients (2009) for the age group 45-64 years was 15.4% and for those who were 65 years or more was 31.3% (10). In a recently published analysis of the ERA-EDTA Registry, the mortality rate in incident dialysis patients was 19.2 per 100 person-years, while it was only 12.05 per 100 patient years in the general population (173). In Japan, the annual death rate has decreased over several years, recently to less than 10% (174).

1.6.2. Causes of death in dialysis patients

Cardiovascular disease is the most common cause of death in dialysis patients and includes ischemic heart disease, arrhythmias, congestive heart failure and cardiomyopathy. The HEMO Study identified ischemic heart disease to be a major cause of cardiac deaths (61.5%) (175). Vascular diseases such as arteriosclerosis, arterial calcification and aortic aneurysm are also important factors associated with mortality. The aetiology of cardiovascular diseases in dialysis patient is not fully understood. In addition to a high prevalence of traditional cardiovascular risk factors a variety of dialysis related factors probably play a role including the state of uraemia, hypervolaemia, hypertension, metabolic acidosis, hyperparathyroidism, B-2-microglobulinaemia and elevated endotoxins in patients. Stroke is common in dialysis patients and it is associated with poor outcome. Results of the HEMO Study showed that cerebrovascular death in maintenance HD patients was associated with diabetes, lower albumin level, greater heamatocrit and lower body mass index (176).

The uraemic state also induces immunosuppression which may contribute to excess infection rates in these patients. Infection is the cause of death in approximately 15% to 30% of all dialysis patients (177). Septicaemia and pneumonia are the most common infections associated with death. The presence of a CVC is the most important cause for septicaemia leading to death in HD patients. Low physical activity levels, muscle wasting, weakness and frailty are also associated with an increased risk of death in dialysis patients (178).

1.7. Renal Registries and research in dialysis

1.7.1. Renal registries

In many countries a renal registry has been established to collect and analyse data regarding multiple aspects of kidney disease and its treatment. Data from dialysis and transplantation programmes are collected at regular intervals and analysed to yield national data. The aim of a renal registry is to provide an ongoing audit of national data to inform efforts to improve treatment outcomes and to facilitate research. Registries are useful in characterising the ESKD

population, describing the incidence and prevalence of ESKD as well as trends in mortality and morbidity. They act as a good tool to investigate relationships between patient demographics, treatment modalities, clinical management and morbidity (179). Renal registries provide powerful epidemiology data because they have access to nationally comprehensive patientlevel data and track outcomes. Data provided by renal registries are used by health care authorities in planning the provision of dialysis services and to predict future expansion. Moreover, renal registry data should play an important role in the development of clinical practice guidelines as they represent an important source of evidence to inform best practice. Registry information also helps in auditing dialysis services by studying the variation in key indicators. A yearly report is usually published to help health care providers assess their performance and facilitate improvement programmes. Accuracy of information pooled from the peripheral centres as well as standardising the statistical methodology to allow international comparisons are important challenges for renal registries. Absence of a renal registry in some countries limits data to small observational series or reports, making it difficult to draw conclusions that could be applied nationally.

1.7.2. Dialysis related research

As a relatively new form of therapy associated with multiple adverse effects, dialysis has attracted the attention of researchers seeking to evaluate outcomes and develop methods for improving them. Results from renal registry reports as well as other research have highlighted major differences in the quantity and quality of dialysis provision across the world. The variations are partially explained by disparity in demography of different regions, ethnicity, social disparity, economic status and prevalence of diabetes and hypertension in communities. The provision of dialysis is also strongly related to the wealth and overall development of a society.

Over the past 10 years, monitoring and improvement of dialysis practice has led to the development of several sets of clinical practice guidelines, such as those of the NKF/KDOQI, to help practitioners provide the best possible care.

In addition to renal registries, a considerable body of research has evaluated clinical practice in dialysis provision and its relation to outcomes. Important projects in this regard include:

1.7.2.1. Dialysis Outcome and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS) (http://www.dopps.org/)

DOPPS is a prospective cohort study of dialysis practice based on the collection of observational longitudinal data on patients from a representative and random sample of units in 12 countries (Australia, Belgium, Canada, France, Germany, Japan, Italy, New Zealand, Spain, Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States). Data collection for the study has been on-going since 1996 and has yielded detailed data on more than 38,000 patients in over 900 dialysis facilities. DOPPS investigations focus on determining which dialysis practices are associated with the best patient outcomes, with the primary goal of improving patient longevity, quality of life and other outcomes.

1.7.2.2. The International Study of Health Care Organisation and Financing (ISHCOF)

ISHCOF examines how the treatment of renal failure is paid for around the world and how the services are organised and delivered to the patients (180-182). The ISHCOF is a sub-study of DOPPS.

1.7.2.3. Dialysis practice research

Researchers in different countries have also studied many aspects of ESKD and dialysis (102, 105, 183-185). Major aspects of dialysis practice that have been addressed include:

- General trends in dialysis-treated ESKD such as incidence and prevalence rates, geographical, ethnic, gender and age variations as well as causes of ESKD and dialysis outcomes.
- Indicators of provision of services, in terms of number and distribution of dialysis facilities, bed capacity, number of working days/week and working shifts/ day.

- Availability of a qualified multidisciplinary team measured by the proportion of staff from each specialty to the number of patients treated.
- The complex effect of ESKD and dialysis on patient's health and the effect of coexisting comorbidity.
- Clinical and biochemical monitoring of dialysis patients in terms of adequacy of dialysis dose, control of anaemia, normalisation of bone mineral metabolism and sufficient nutrition.
- Nosocomial transmission of infections in dialysis units and methods to prevent them.
- Technical issues like biological and chemical quality of dialysis water and type of dialysis membrane used.
- Measures to protect the environment through sanitary disposal of the dialysis consumables.

1.8. Libya: Current social, demographic, economic and political factors impacting on healthcare

The overall pattern of ESKD varies considerably according to the social, cultural and economic context of a country. Some important aspects about Libya will be briefly discussed. These aspects mostly apply to the time the study was undertaken, as major changes have occurred due to the internal conflict that began in February 2011.

1.8.1. General features

Libya is a vast country (4th largest country in Africa) with an area of 1,665,000 square kilometres. Its total population reached 5,673,031 persons in the 2006 census (186). Amongst these, 6% were non- Libyan residents. In spite of a low overall population density of three persons per square kilometre, the majority (85%) of the country's population are urban and live in the coastal regions. A map of Libya is shown in figure 1. 6.



Figure 1. 7: Map of Libya showing that most of the cities are in the coastal region. (http://www.who.int/countryfocus/)

Geographically, it can be divided into a green coast and a wide desert. Approximately 88 % of the population lives in the north, near the Mediterranean coast and in the region of the North West and East Mountains chains. The other 12% live in small towns scattered in the Libyan Sahara around valleys and oases. Perpetual drought means that Libya faces strong constraints in terms of availability of water resources and of food self-sufficiency (187).

Administratively, the country is divided into 22 municipalities. Each municipality is divided into communes, which is the basic people's congress. The total number of Libyan communes is 468. The members of each commune meet periodically to discuss political, economic and social issues.

Libya has massively developed its infrastructure and human resources over the past 50 years. The economy depends primarily upon revenues from the oil sector, which contribute about 95% of export earnings, about one quarter of Gross Domestic Product and 60% of public sector wages. Libya is considered to have one of the highest per capita Gross Domestic Products in Africa. Overall, it is classified as a medium- developed country in the United Nations Development Programme's Human Development Index, where it is ranked 58th out of 178 countries (www.nationmaster.com). Generally, most development indicators are among the best in the African continent and above the mean for the Arab world. For example, life expectancy at birth as reported in 2007 was 77 years (www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/).

1.8.2. Social constitution

Libya's social and cultural characteristics are similar in many aspects to other Arab countries. Libyans tend to live in either nuclear or extended families where they maintain strong social relationships. Most communities are stable with minimal migration rates. As a conservative tradition, most boys and girls live in the family's house until their marriage. Chronically ill and disabled persons are looked after by family members. Almost no nursing homes are available in the country and just a few rehabilitation institutions in the main cities.

Several cultural features of the Libyan society probably adversely affect people's health and increase the risk for CKD either directly or indirectly. First, people in this country tend to adopt a sedentary life style (188). Physical activity is very limited especially among women. A population based study was undertaken in the town of Tajoura, in the west of Libya which included 2996 adults showed that only 18% of surveyed people were practicing any form of physical exercise and more than 69% had a body mass index of more than 25 kg/m² (188). Physical work including construction, agriculture and industry is carried out mostly by expatriate labour. Private transport (mainly cars and minibuses) is considered socially superior to walking as it expresses wealth. Additional factors that contribute to Libyans' inactive way of life include; the habit of socialization by visiting each other indoors, the hot sunny weather which inhibits walking during day time, the poorly developed pedestrian and cycling infrastructure, the shortage of public green areas in most cities and the lack of well-structured health education programs.

Libya has an average of six deaths per day due to road traffic accidents and according to the figures for 2009 alone, over 14,000 injuries from road traffic accidents, almost half of which were severe. Road fatalities are 31.5 per 100,000 population in comparison with 6.1 in the UK

32

(http://www.emro.who.int/). According to World Health Organisation reports, Libya has one of the highest death rates from road traffic accidents in the region.

The second cultural aspect which negatively affects people's health is the Libyan diet (189). It is rich in carbohydrates and fats but poor in fresh vegetables. Meat and poultry are principle ingredients in many local daily dishes (190). This diet is dense in energy and poor in micronutrients (189). Consequently adults especially women are affected by a high prevalence of overweight and obesity. A recent survey showed that 15.5% of 13-15 year-old school children assessed were overweight and 6.1% were obese (186). Deficiency in micronutrients like iron is highly prevalent (191). Reports also showed that about 30% of the adult male Libyan population are regular smokers (186).

Currently, awareness among the public of the risks of this negative life style has substantially increased due to media coverage, but only a minority have actually changed their lifestyles.

1.8.3. Social security system

Libyans benefit from a social security program, which promotes welfare of people in the event of old age, disability, sickness, accidents, occupational diseases, childbirth and unemployment (192). A basic pension is payable to all disabled persons, including all ESKD patients receiving any mode of RRT. The amount depends on the type of previous work, years of experience and the extent of the disability.

1.8.4. Health care system

Since the early 1970's, Libya has attained marked improvements in the health care sector. Expansion was made possible by building hospitals, polyclinics, laboratories, medical schools and other health care infrastructure (186). Training the necessary work force to deliver health care services for the expanding sector was undertaken in parallel with building of facilities (186). Some recent indicators of the health care sector reported in 2007 are shown in Table 1. 2.

Table 1. 2: Indicators of health care sector in Libya (WHO Statistical Information System. (http://www.emro.who.int/emrinfo/index)

Primary health care centres	1424
General Hospitals	21
Central Hospitals	18
Provincial Hospitals	32
Specialized Hospitals	25
Number of doctors/10.000	17
Number of nurses/10.000	50
Number of Hospital beds/10.000	37

Although health care services are available and free for all citizens and residents in Libya, their quality is suboptimal. A state budget is allocated each year to cover the cost of health care delivery. A recent estimation of the total expenditure on health per capita is \$298 per year, which is considered medium for countries in the region but low for the developed nations (http://www.emro.who.int/emrinfo/index). The main causes of death reported by national authorities in 2010 were cardiovascular diseases (37%), cancer (13%) and diabetes (5%). Road traffic injuries accounted for 11% of all deaths.

However, Libya's health care system suffered greatly in the 1980's and 1990's because of the United Nation's sanctions and Libya's isolation from other countries (186). Sanctions included medical equipment and technology as well as technical support. Education, training abroad and representation of Libya in scientific organisations was suspended. Many qualified doctors moved outside the country, which resulted in a 'brain drain' and loss of expertise (193). Sanctions markedly affected the young and fragile health care system. After the lifting of sanctions, enormous deficiencies in the health care services were obvious. Health care policy

makers planned for rapid growth to meet the consumer's expectations and to catch up with ever-increasing demand. Lately arguments between the users and staff about the overt deficiency of the Libyan's health care system and its inefficiency had have arisen (194). A decision to reform the health care sector with the explicit aim of improving performance was recently undertaken. It included introducing many organisational changes. An important example is recruiting hundreds of young medical practitioners from different specialties to enrol in a specially tailored family physicians graduate program in order to form the nucleus of family practice in the country. Generally, the rehabilitation of the health care system in Libya was ineffective due to lack of proper organisation, mismanagement, negligence and corruption.

In practice, the Libyan health care system has always been dominated by the idea of treating patients rather than promoting the health of people and preventing them from becoming ill. A large amount of the health care budget is spent in purchasing modern sophisticated technology and expensive medication, which are used mainly at secondary and tertiary care level while most primary health care (PHC) facilities experience shortage of basic equipment and medicine (194). Furthermore, despite the expansion of PHC facilities throughout the country, there is no system to sustain a link between local people and their PHC facilities. People are not directed to register with a PHC facility. Instead, they just walk in to any PHC centre whenever they fall sick and/or are exposed to injury. Staff in the PHC focus primarily on treating urgent problems or referring patients to the secondary care level. Clinics in PHC are staffed principally with inexperienced medical graduates. Many of them lack job satisfaction because of a deprived work environment, lack of education and training programs and low income as compared to their counterparts working in hospitals. Nursing and medical technology staff are local graduates who are inadequately trained resulting in a poor quality of practice.

Collectively, several factors worsen the state of mistrust between people and the health care system. Even in the secondary and tertiary health care levels, Libya still finds itself facing a shortage of specialists in a number of key areas such as family medicine, anaesthesia, nephrology, cardiology and radiology. Despite large numbers of medical students and large amounts of funding for scholarships for doctors to specialize abroad, many choose to make their careers abroad (http://www.who.int/countries/lby/en/). Recently, the General Medical Council confirmed that there are 707 doctors registered in the UK who obtained their primary

medical qualifications in Libya (195). Another negative contributory factor is an inadequate standard of nursing care due to poor quality nursing education and training.

1.8.5. Health records

Medical records are necessary to retain all relevant data about a patient that clinicians need to support clinical decision making at the point of care. Unfortunately, almost no medical records are kept in the PHC facilities. At secondary and tertiary care levels, a traditional paper record is maintained for each patient for saving all clinical and administrative patient information, including laboratory results, pharmacy orders, radiology reports, medical graphs, electrocardiograms and nursing as well as physician notes (196). Records are sent to the medical information department to be kept in the archives shortly after a patient's discharge or death. In many hospitals, however, medical archives are poorly organised and difficult to access. Consequently, capturing longitudinal data is difficult. Recently, a trial of electronic medical records was initiated in a small number of hospitals. Economic constraints on the health care sector make expansion of these trials slow.

ESKD patients are among the patients adversely affected by the medical record system because their significant past medical history and other medical data generated at the time of diagnosis in hospitals are kept locked in hospital archives. Patients are sent to dialysis units with a brief referral report only. In dialysis facilities, a new medical record is provided for each patient. It is mainly concerned with reporting dialysis-related information.

1.8.6. Medical research

Medical publications are indicators of the quality of health care services and medical education in countries (197, 198). Medical education in Libya does not emphasize medical research in undergraduate or postgraduate studies. Moreover, the underdeveloped research environment in many Libyan health care and academic facilities exacerbated by the absence of research funds and incentives hinders health related research and makes it a low priority for medical staff (199, 200). The annual publication rate for academic staff in peer-reviewed journals is estimated to be around 0.7 publications/100 staff, which is considered among the lowest rates in the middle east region (201).

1.8.7. Diagnosis of ESKD cases and referral for RRT in Libya

The typical mode of presentation with ESKD is for a young or middle-aged person with insignificant past medical history to be rushed to a clinic after the development of uraemic symptoms. Such patients usually present themselves to PHC, general hospitals or private clinics. Once the diagnosis of ESKD had been confirmed by laboratory tests, patients are usually referred urgently to medical/nephrology departments to receive HD through a CVC. Patients and their families experience sudden emotional shock, especially if the case is unprecedented within the family. In many instances, people do not believe the doctor's unexpected diagnosis because they lack trust in the local health care system and seek another opinion either within or outside the country. Several patients travel abroad for consultation and treatment in Tunisia, Egypt, Jordan and further (202). Finally, most patients who survive the initial critical period of illness are established on chronic HD in the nearest dialysis centre.

The second less dramatic and less common scenario is of a middle aged or old person who has an established renal, urologic or chronic systemic illness that are known to affect kidney function. These patients are usually offered nephrology consultation, follow up and treatment when they were diagnosed as having CKD. They usually take part in decisions about the type and the timing of RRT.

1.8.8. Renal replacement therapy in Libya

All types of RRT are funded by the state. All available services are delivered to citizens and residents free of charge. However, because of their enormous cost, these services are provided exclusively by the public sector.

The first HD service in the country was started in Aljemhoria Hospital in Benghazi city in 1973. This service gradually expanded in numbers of both patients and centres. PD was introduced as a trial in the 1990's but has remained at very low level. Kidney transplantation was introduced into the country as a collaborative project between Poland and Libya in 1988. A renal transplant unit was founded in Alzahra Kidney Centre near Tripoli city. Polish surgeons transplanted 63 kidneys from live related donors during 8 years. Eventually, transplantation activities collapsed, largely due to United Nation's sanctions against Libya and subsequent shortage of the immunosuppressive therapy as well as medical equipment.

In 2004 after sanctions were removed, a new transplantation program was initiated in Tripoli Central Hospital (203). Reports show approximately 45 renal transplants per year (204). However, organ transplantation in Libya depends exclusively on the availability of a suitable living related donor (205). Living donors are not available for many ESKD patients as many possible donors are ineligible due to familial renal disease, diabetes or hypertension. Consequently the gap between patients' needs and the transplantation rate continues to widen. Social pressures prompt many medium and wealthy families to seek kidneys from the poor in other countries. A recent survey showed that about 19% of renal transplants among Libyans were carried out in Libya whereas the majority were transplanted abroad, mostly from living non-related donors (206), a practice which encourages organ trafficking and exploitation. After being transplanted abroad, patients often return to the country with minimal and indistinct medical information leaving the Libyan health care system to stabilize them and provide long term care.

A deceased organ donation program was initiated in the country by launching educational campaigns through the media to familiarize people with the concept and motivate them to sign a donor card. However, cadaveric donation in Libya is still hampered by lack of proper knowledge, religious misconception and other psychological factors (207). All renal transplant activities were suspended at the start of the revolution in February 2011 and remain suspended to date.

38

1.8.9. Recent conflict in Libya

A political clash started in Libya during February 2011 when protestors took to the streets throughout the nation demanding their human rights from a dictator who had dominated the country for 42 years (208). The regime responded with violent offences against the people and this provoked a war which took 8 months to resolve (209). The impact of the conflict is obvious in all life aspects. The health care sector has been massively affected, with many PHC facilities closed because of damage sustained during the fighting, acute shortage of medicines and supplies and departure of many of the expatriate medical staff (210, 211). During the crises, most local staff, volunteers and many international humanitarian organisations collaborated to manage trauma and war injuries but shortage of services and medications affected chronically ill people and added to the overall mortality (212, 213). However, reports about fatalities due to lack of health services during the fighting are not available. Thus, a detailed post conflict assessment of the health care system is required.

1.8.10. The need for studying the epidemiology of end-stage kidney disease in Libya

With the absence of a renal registry and population based epidemiological surveys in Libya, little information is available regarding the extent of renal failure in this community or the patterns of dialysis practice in different health care facilities. Furthermore, the quality and the outcome of medical care provided for dialysis patients have not been described. This knowledge gap necessitates scientific work to generate local data to inform the planning of future development and help in improving the quality of dialysis delivery as well as its outcomes.

Chapter 2

Objectives

2. Aim and objectives

2.1.Aim

The aim of this thesis is to assess the epidemiological patterns of ESKD in adult patients and dialysis- treatment quality as well as outcomes.

To achieve this, the following objectives were framed:

2. 2. Objectives

- To assess the provision and quality of maintenance dialysis services in Libya.
- To determine the annual incidence, prevalence and causes of ESKD treated with dialysis in the adult population.
- To investigate the incidence and prevalence of HBV and HCV infection in the HD population of Libya as well as risk factors for infection.
- To determine the patterns of vascular access utilisation in Libya and risk factors associated with failure of permanent vascular access.
- To investigate survival rates, determinants of survival and causes of death in the dialysis population.

Chapter 3

Methods

3. Methods

This chapter describes all methods applied in this thesis. The methods comprise those common to all aspects of the research and others relevant only to specific analyses. The latter will be described in more detail in the relevant results chapters.

3.1. Study location

The study was performed by a Libyan researcher with support and guidance provided by a supervisors based in a Nephrology Department in the United Kingdom. The study plan and design was developed in the United Kingdom. All data were collected in Libya. Finally, data analysis and writing up were performed in the United Kingdom.

3. 2. Ethical approval

Permission to conduct the study was granted by the Ministry of Health in Libya. Ethical approval for the research was obtained from the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety. Patients were requested to participate in the study and each gave written informed consent before conducting the interview.

3. 3. Pilot study

A pilot study was undertaken in 5 dialysis units. The dialysis facility questionnaire was tested in four dialysis centres and validated through discussion with the clinical directors of surveyed centres. The dialysis patient questionnaire was tested in a sample of 100 patients (20 from each dialysis facility). Difficulties including poor quality of medical records, variation in patient management systems and the need to recruit a local research team were explored and solutions developed.

3. 4. Study plan

- Collection of contact information for all maintenance dialysis facilities in Libya.
- Face to face interview with the supervisors of 28 of 40 maintenance dialysis facilities in Libya, including one paediatric unit.
- Telephonic interview with the supervisors of the remaining 12 maintenance dialysis facilities.
- Clinical supervisors of the 12 dialysis centres not visited were requested to complete a
 data collection form about each adult patient receiving maintenance dialysis in the
 facility including CAPD cases if present. Forms sent by special delivery and collected
 back after 30 days.
- 28 maintenance dialysis facilities were visited by research team (The paediatric unit was not visited for patient interviews). All available dialysis patients were approached and interview requested to obtain detailed medical and social information.
- Frequent contacts to all maintenance dialysis facilities during 1-year follow-up and repeated visits or phone calls to obtain information about patient's outcome and enrolment of new cases.
- Follow-up study of all patients recruited to initial cross-sectional study after 1 year.

3. 5. Research team

Apart from the principal researcher (the author) and two consultant Nephrologists based in Renal Unit in The United Kingdom (the supervisors), the research team included;

Ten medical graduates from different cities in Libya who chose to make joining this study part of their internship training. They participated in data collection at their local maintenance dialysis facilities. Three medical researchers were appointed by the Libyan National Authority for Scientific Research. They provided assistance in gathering data from some maintenance dialysis facilities.

3. 6. Study design

- Cross-sectional study of dialysis centres was performed from May to August 2009.
- Cross-sectional study of maintenance dialysis patients was performed from May to August 2009.
- Longitudinal study of maintenance dialysis patients was performed from September 2009 to August 2010.
- Follow-up study of all patients recruited to initial cross-sectional study from August to December 2010

3.7. Study duration

36 months of which data collection took 20 months.

3.8. Study data

3.8.1. Dialysis facility data

Medical directors of dialysis facilities in Libya were contacted initially by phone, informed about the study and asked to participate by answering the questions either by phone or by face to face interview. The principal researcher (the author) visited 28 dialysis facilities (one of them was serving children only) and interviewed the clinical directors of the remaining 12 facilities by telephone. A structured questionnaire was designed to lead the interview. It included four main groups of questions: dialysis capacity, staffing, methods of assessment of dialysis patients and infection control measures. Each personal interview took around 30 minutes while telephone interviews were generally shorter. Each principal contact was interviewed once. Further telephone calls were made to almost all centres to collect missing data, mostly recent statistics regarding patients and staff. In all dialysis centres visited, the head of the facility invited researchers to view the facility.

3. 8. 2. Dialysis patient data

Brief demographic and clinical information were collected for all dialysis patients in Libya included date of birth, gender, ethnicity, nationality, height, weight, type of dialysis, date of dialysis initiation, primary kidney disease, previous renal transplantation, haemoglobin value and sero-positivity for hepatitis B and/or C virus. Date of birth was recorded if known. Otherwise, the year of birth was used. The same applied for the date of first dialysis. Primary kidney disease was recorded according to the opinion of the treating physician or medical reports when available. For the 28 facilities visited (paediatric only facility was excluded from dialysis patient-related study) data was collected by the research team. For the remaining 12 remote dialysis facilities data collection sheets were distributed to the clinical supervisor for completion. Frequent phone calls were used to answer queries and ensure that data were correctly documented.

The dialysis patient questionnaire included social history, history of smoking, physical independency, detailed clinical history, presentation of ESKD and any history of hospitalisation at the time of initiation of dialysis, family history of CKD, history of previous blood transfusion (if yes, patients were asked about the frequency of transfusions). For patients treated with HD, other questions included: HD hours per week, history of receiving HD in another centre inside Libya or abroad, type and site of vascular access used for HD, history of previous vascular access-related complications and hospitalisations, mean pre-dialysis blood pressure over one week before the interview and erythropoietin treatment. Available recent investigation results were collected and recorded for all dialysis patients including: haematocrit, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase concentration, serum albumin and predialysis serum urea and creatinine concentrations.

The principal researcher was responsible for obtaining consent and undertaking interviews while the research team collected information by inspecting medical records as well as asking the treating staff about missing information.

3.9. Follow up data

Follow-up included two types of data. First, follow-up and outcome data were collected for every patient included in from May to August 2009 study. Data was collected from August to December 2010. Variables were similar to those used during the cross-sectional study and similar data collection forms were used. Questions added included admission to hospital during the follow up year (and the reason for admission) and sero-conversion to HBV or HCV in previously sero-negative HD patients. The second set of data was brief demographic and clinical information of all new ESKD patients who joined dialysis facilities during the follow-up time (August to December 2010). The research team conducted data collection frequently during the year to ensure the inclusion of every new patient in the country. Subsequently, researchers conducted field visits to dialysis facilities from August to December 2010 to validate the information.

3. 10. Frequency of assessments and timing

Clinical supervisors of the maintenance dialysis facilities were interviewed once. Each personal interview took around 30 minutes while telephone interviews were generally shorter. Each patient receiving maintenance dialysis was interviewed twice while they were in the dialysis facility, first at recruitment and then again after 1 year. The first interview took approximately 30 minutes while the second was relatively shorter.

3. 11. Subjects and centre selection (inclusion criteria)

 All Libyan maintenance dialysis facilities (n=40) providing services during May to August 2009 were included in the initial study of dialysis provision. Regarding individuals, this study included all adult (16 years or older) patients receiving dialysis in Libya between May 2009 and December 2010.

3. 12. Statistical analysis

Information about the maintenance dialysis facilities on the questionnaire sheet was coded and entered into a spreadsheet for analysis using SPSS 16.0. (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive analyses were employed as appropriate.

Information collected about maintenance dialysis- treated patients was revised and cross checked for patients who were known to receiving dialysis in another centre within the country. Data coded and entered into a spreadsheet for analysis using SSPS 16.0. (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data presented as mean, standard deviation if normally distributed or median (interquartile range) if not. A Chi-squared test was used to evaluate the significance of relations between categorical variables. Correlations were tested with a Pearson's test. A *t*-test was used to compare means between groups for data with normal distribution or Mann-Whitney test for non-parametric data. Multivariable binary logistic regression was used in certain analyses to identify independent determinants of dependent variables. A P-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

3. 13. Data handling and record keeping

Information regarding study subjects is kept safe and confidential. Data were anonymised before entry into a computer database. Study subjects or individual dialysis facilities are not identifiable in any publications. The researcher maintains a study master file that contains all the essential documents relating to the study.

Chapter 4

Results

Provision and quality of dialysis services

in Libya

4. Provision and quality of dialysis services in Libya

4.1. Introduction

The prevalence of ESKD is increasing worldwide. It is a chronic and irreversible condition associated with substantial morbidity, high mortality rates and large financial burden on health care systems (214-216). Dialysis remains the main technique for RRT due to a shortage of donated organs. Improving the quality of care for dialysis patients through standardisation is associated with favourable outcomes (217-219) and several professional organizations have developed evidence-based guidelines to optimize the quality of care (220).

Libya is a vast country with an area of 1,665,000 square kilometres (221). Its estimated total population was slightly over five and half million in 2009 (221). In spite of a low population density of three persons per square kilometre, the majority (85%) of the country's population are urban (222). Overall, it is classified as a medium- developed country in the United Nations Human Development Index (http://hdr.undp.org/en/statistics). Per capita purchasing power parity was estimated as \$14,000 in 2010 which ranked the country as 83th compared to the world (https://www.cia.gov). However, about one-third of Libyans live at or below the national poverty line. Generally, development indicators are among the best in the African continent and above the mean for the Arab world (222). Dialysis services are offered free of charge to all referred patients regardless of their age. All dialysis facilities belong to the public sector and are funded by the Secretariat for Health and the Environment. Although dialysis has been provided in Libya for around 4 decades, no national dialysis practice guidelines are available to promote best practice. In fact, the provision of RRT in Libya has not been previously evaluated. Generally, there is lack of information about dialysis infrastructure and there is no renal registry to gather national data. This study was therefore undertaken to assess the provision and quality of current dialysis services in Libya to inform policy decision makers as well as caregivers and facilitate health care development in addition to the establishment of a Libyan renal registry.

4.2. Methods

A cross-sectional study of all active Libyan dialysis centres was undertaken from May to August 2009. As there was no accurate list of names and contact information for dialysis centres in Libya, researchers contacted the national drug and medical supplies company to obtain a contact list. Disappointingly, even this list was deficient. Researchers subsequently contacted each general and specialized hospital in the country by phone and enquired about dialysis services within the hospital or in the region to complete the first comprehensive list of chronic dialysis units and contact details. Centres providing only acute dialysis were not included.

A structured questionnaire was designed to lead the interview. It included four main groups of questions: dialysis capacity, staffing, methods of assessment of dialysis patients and infection control measures. The questionnaire was tested in four dialysis centres and validated through discussion with the clinical directors of surveyed centres. Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety.

Medical directors of dialysis units were contacted initially by phone, informed about the study and asked to participate by answering the questions either by phone or by face to face interview. All directors (n=40) agreed to participate in the study and 28 agreed to a face to face interview. Each personal interview took around 30 minutes while phone interview was generally shorter. Each principal contact was interviewed once. Further telephone calls were made to almost all centres to collect missing data, mostly recent statistics regarding patients and staff. In all dialysis centres visited, the head of the facility invited researchers to view the facility.

Information on the questionnaire sheet was coded and entered into a spreadsheet for analysis using SPSS 16.0. Descriptive analyses were employed as appropriate.

4.3. Results

4.3.1. Dialysis capacity

The first HD service in Libya was opened in Aljemhoria Hospital in Benghazi city in 1973. The number of patients and centres has increased over time (figure 4. 1). PD was introduced to Libya as a trial in the late 1990's but utilisation has remained minimal.



Figure 4. 1: Increase in dialysis centres over time in Libya.

Table 4. 1 describes dialysis service capacity. A total of 2417 adult patients (approximately 60 patients/ centre) were receiving maintenance dialysis therapy in 40 centres. The estimated population of Libya during 2009 was 5,488,444 (of which 29.4% were <15 years) giving an estimated adult population of 3,874,841. The prevalence of ESKD treated with dialysis in adult population of Libya was therefore approximately 624 pmp in the year 2009.

Most dialysis patients (98%) were Libyans and the majority were over 15 years of age (98.8%). Median age of prevalent patients was 49 years (inter-quartile range 36-61 years). Median dialysis vintage was 3 years (inter-quartile range 1-6 years). Thirty-two (80%) dialysis units were located in the northern part of the country (mainly the coast, western and eastern mountainous regions) where 88.5% of inhabitants live. Thirty-five dialysis units (88%) were placed within a local hospital campus whereas 13% were free standing centres. Most centres (83%) accepted a mix of paediatric and adult patients (age range 8-90 years). However, 15% of dialysis centres treated only adult patients and one facility treated children only (age range 3-17 years). Amongst dialysis centres, just three offered PD in the form of continuous ambulatory PD (CAPD) and all were located in the north. No automated PD and no home HD are currently offered.

Dialysis shifts were 4 per day in one centre only, 3 per day in 7 (17%), 2 per day in 21 (52%) and one per day in 11 (27%). HD shifts generally started at around 7:00 am. Facilities that run evening shifts usually end by 10:00 pm. One centre scheduled treatments at night from 10:00 pm to 2:00 am to accommodate a rise in number of patients requiring dialysis. Most large centres accepted new patients immediately and scheduled or referred them to another centre after stabilizing their condition. Dialysis facilities had different designs and room sizes. Table 4. 1 shows that the total number of HD rooms was 192 (range 1-21 rooms per facility). They hosted 713 functioning HD stations (range 1-90 per facility), with a ratio of one machine to 2.8 patients. The total number of non-utilised HD machines was 130. Of these 109 needed repairs whereas the remainder were kept as a reserve. The majority of patients were offered HD 3 times a week. However, 6 facilities could not provide regular slots for new patients and they were therefore initially dialysed infrequently when slots were available. Most centres modify the frequency of treatment according to patients' medical condition and attendance.

53

All centres provided free supplies of adjunctive treatments for dialysis patients including those administered at the dialysis centres like erythropoietin and those which are administered at home such as iron, folic acid, vitamin D and calcium. However, all units experienced intermittent shortages of most types of medications. A service for creation of permanent vascular access was available locally in just 6 centres (15%). In the majority of centres patients were referred to vascular surgeons elsewhere.

		Regions	Regions			
		North West N=21 (%)	North East N=11 (%)	South N=8 (%)	Total N=40 (%)	
Total number of adult patients		1558	653	206	2417	
Prevalence 2009 (adults pmp)		628	623	597	624	
Dialysis centres located in hospital campus		18 (86)	10 (91)	7 (88)	35 (88)	
Dialysis provided for bot children	h adults and	17 (81)	9 (82)	8 (100)	34(85)	
Centres provide both haen peritoneal dialysis	nodialysis and	2 (10)	1 (9)	0 (0)	3 (8)	
Median number of working days/week		6	6	6	6	
[Range]		[3-7]	[5-6]	[3-6]	[3-7]	
Working shifts/ day	One	3	5	3	11 (27)	
	Two	11	5	5	21 (52)	
	Three	6	1	0	7 (17)	
	Four	1	0	0	1 (2)	
Number of dialysis rooms		106	60	26	192	
Number of all haemodialysis stations		490	253	100	843	
Number of working haemodialysis stations		429	212	72	713	
Median number of working haemodialysis station/centre		20	16	7	15	
[Range]		[1-90]	[4-61]	[4-23]	[1-90]	
Haemodialysis stations to patients		1:3.2	1: 3.1	1:2.9	1:3.4	
Local vascular access surgery		3 (14)	3 (27)	0 (0)	6 (15)	
Availability of educational materials		6 (29)	3 (27)	0 (0)	9 (23)	

Table 4. 1: Description of dialysis services in different regions of Libya.
4. 3. 2. Staffing of dialysis facilities

Table 4. 2 shows that a nephrologist or a physician was available on call for all dialysis sessions in 95% of centres. Approximately half of dialysis centres offered scheduled specialist consultations in outpatient clinics. Two remote centres in the South were delivering services without any doctors due to lack of staff. The total number of national and non-national doctors was 114 (doctor to patient ratio 1:22). Among these, there were 53 junior physicians and 61 qualified nephrologists/internists (nephrologist/internist to patient ratio 1:40). The overall number of trained dialysis nurses was 639 with a ratio of one nurse to 3.7 patients. Social workers and dieticians were available in 15 and 20% of dialysis facilities, respectively.

	Regions			
	North West N=21 (%)	North East N=11 (%)	South N=8 (%)	Total N=40 (%)
Centres with physician available on call at all dialysis sessions	21 (100)	11 (100)	6 (75)	38 (95)
Outpatient nephrology consultation	10 (48)	8 (73)	3 (38)	21 (53)
Total number of junior doctors in region	39	9	5	53
Median	1	0	0.5	1
[Range]	[0-10]	[0-3]	[0-2]	[0-10]
Total number of nephrologists/ internists in region	32	25	4	61
Median	1	2	0	1
[Range]	[0-4]	[0-6]	[0-2]	[0-6]
Nephrologists/Internists to patient ratio	1: 49	1:26	1: 52	1: 40
Total number of trained dialysis nurses	379	169	93	641
Median	15	11	11	11.5
[Range]	[2-90]	[4-72]	[6-26]	[2-90]
Nurse to patient ratio	1:4	1:4	1:2	1: 3.7
Presence of social workers	5 (24)	1 (9)	0 (0)	6 (15)
Presence of dieticians	4 (19)	3 (27)	1 (13)	8 (20)

Table 4. 2: Staffing of dialysis centres in different regions of Libya

4. 3. 3. Assessment of maintenance dialysis patients

Findings related to methods employed to monitor patients are described in table 4. 3. KDOQI guidelines were applied in only 4 dialysis centres. Pre, intra and post dialysis blood pressure were recorded routinely in all dialysis facilities as well as pre and post dialysis weight measurement. HD adequacy was monitored by Kt/v measurement in some patients in 10% of centres, whereas urea reduction ratio was used in 25% of centres. The remaining 28 centres including all centres in the south used a single monthly pre-dialysis urea measurement to monitor adequacy. Haemoglobin and haematocrit were monitored monthly in all centres. Only 40% of centres had an established policy for anaemia monitoring by measuring serum ferritin and total iron binding capacity (TIBC). Another 15% assessed anaemia by measuring serum iron and TIBC. Mineral metabolism was evaluated by measurement of serum calcium and phosphorus in 85% of centres and by serum calcium only in 5%. No assessment of blood minerals was performed in 10%. Monitoring serum albumin as an indicator of nutritional status was done monthly in 58% of centres. Finally, parathyroid hormone levels were assessed in 13% of centres. However, all centres experienced intermittent deficiency in laboratory supplies resulting in failure to perform required blood tests.

	Regions			
	North west	North east	South	Total
	N=21 (%)	N=11 (%)	N=8 (%)	N=40 (%)
Application of dialysis practice guidelines	3 (14)	1 (9)	0 (0)	4 (10)
Pre, intra& post dialysis measurement of blood pressure	21 (100)	11 (100)	8 (100)	40 (100)
Pre& post dialysis measurement of weight	21 (100)	11 (100)	8 (100)	40 (100)
Monitor HD adequacy by Kt/v	3 (14)	1 (9.1)	0 (0)	4 (10)
Monitor HD adequacy by urea reduction ratio	5 (24)	2 (18)	0 (0)	7 (18)
Monitor anaemia by testing HB, HCT, serum ferritin and total iron binding capacity	10 (48)	5 (45)	1 (13)	16 (40)
Monitor serum calcium and phosphorus	18 (86)	10 (91)	6 (75)	34 (85)
Monitor of serum albumin	13 (62)	7 (64)	3 (38)	23 (58)
Monitoring of Parathyroid hormone	3 (14)	1 (9)	1 (13)	5 (13)

Table 4. 3: Monitoring of dialysis patients in different regions of Libya.

4. 3. 4. Infection control measures

Facilities for isolation of patients with chronic viral infections were not available in all centres. All centres routinely screened patients for HBV, HCV and HIV infection every 3-6 months and upon transfer from another dialysis facility. Table 4. 4. shows that separate rooms were allocated for patients who were seropositive for chronic viral infection in 93% of the units while a dedicated machine/s in a common room were reserved for infectious patients in the remaining 7%. Vaccination against HBV was available for staff in all centres and for patients in 65%. Hand wash facilities were available in each HD room in 22 centres (55%). No dialyzer reuse was permitted in any centre despite a relative shortage of high flux dialyzers. Machine disinfection was performed routinely after each dialysis session in all dialysis facilities. Samples of water for biological quality testing had been collected during the preceding year in one quarter of centres. However, no analysis reports were found in any centre. Chemical quality of HD water was not tested in any centre. Sharps separation was routinely practiced by 90% of dialysis centres. Facilities for treatment of hospital waste were available in only 9 centres.

		Regions			
		North west	North east	South	Total
		N=21	N=11	N=8	N=40
		(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Isolation of chronic viral inf reactive patients in special ro	fection sero- ooms	18 (86)	11 (100)	8 (100)	37 (93)
HBV vaccine for patients		10 (48)	9 (82)	7(88)	26 (65)
Hands wash facility haemodialysis room	in each	12 (57)	6 (55)	4 (50)	22 (55)
Water quality tests performed during the	Biological	6 (29)	3 (27)	1 (13)	10 (25)
preceding year	Chemical	0	0	0	0
Separation of sharps		20 (95)	10 (91)	6 (75)	36 (90)
Waste disposal	Domestic	14 (67)	10 (91)	7 (88)	31 (78)
-	Incineration	7 (33)	1 (9)	1 (13)	9 (23)

 Table 4. 4: Description of infection control measures in dialysis centres in

 different regions of Libya.

4.4. Discussion

This study attempted to gather baseline information about the structure and quality of dialysis services in Libya in order to promote improvement and facilitate the development of a renal registry as well as to initiate further studies in the country. A renal registry represents a valuable resource for auditing services and provides regular performance feedback to dialysis centres as well as health care authorities (179, 223).

This study shows for the first time, that Libya has a relatively high prevalence rate of ESKD patients treated with dialysis (table 4. 5). It is higher than rates reported in countries like Philippines, Romania, Thailand and the UK (224, 225). This rate is double the average rate estimated for the Mediterranean region of 312-352 pmp (24, 25). Furthermore, it is approximately one third higher than the rate reported in Saudi Arabia (19). The provision of dialysis has increased in Libya in the decades since it was introduced. The need for this service is expected to grow further: first, because of increasing prevalence of classical risk factors for ESKD in the community (190, 226), second, because of weak PHC and absence of screening programmes which slow the progress of CKD to ESKD (222) and third, due to limited renal transplantation services as Libya is exclusively dependent on the live related donors (205). Kidney transplantation was introduced into the country as a collaborative project between Poland and Libya in 1988. Polish surgeons transplanted 63 kidneys from live related donors during 8 years. Eventually, transplantation activities totally collapsed, largely due to United Nation's sanctions against Libya and subsequent shortage of the immunosuppressive therapy and medical equipments. Lately, in 2004, renal transplantation activates was initiated in a sole centre in Tripoli with a capacity of approximately 45 live- related renal transplants per year. This restricted access to renal transplantation increases dialysis dependency because most patients fail to provide a suitable enthusiastic relative. A deceased organ donation program has been initiated in the country, but is still hampered by lack of proper knowledge, religious misconception and other psychological factors (207).

Country/ region	Prevalence rates of dialysis	•
Country/ region	per million population	Year
Taiwan	2288	2007 (224)
United States	1159	2008 (224)
Libya	624	2009
Saudi Arabia	475	2009 (19)
UK	411	2008 (225)
Thailand	363	2007 (224)
Romania	345	2007 (224)
Mediterranean region	312-352	2006-2008 (24, 25)
Bangladesh	99	2007 (224)
Philippines	74	2007 (224)

 Table 4. 5: Prevalence rates of dialysis per million population in different countries/regions.

Although CAPD is a popular method for treating ESKD in many countries (227) there were only 3 centres offering CAPD which served 35 patients. The total number of active PD patients in the Middle East was recently estimated to be approximately 8170, representing around 10.2% of overall dialysis population in the region (25). Most were in Turkey, Iran and Saudi Arabia who have well established programmes (25).

There were wide discrepancies in the working capacity between different centres in different regions of Libya. Some facilities were overloaded with patients while others were running just a few sessions per week. Most facilities did not operate at full working capacity with each machine serving only 3- 4 patients per week. In contrast, most dialysis units in France (228) and England (229) operate at near maximal HD capacity. This observation raises the importance of integrated health care planning and the lack of a national standard for the number of dialysis stations per population. The data presented will inform decisions about improving dialysis infrastructure and future expansion.

Despite the provision of modern HD machines, weak technical support especially in remote centres resulted in an accumulation of non-functioning HD machines (15.4% of total number of machines) and waste of health care resources. The deficiency was more pronounced in the

southern dialysis centres where 28% of machines were non- functioning. There is therefore an urgent need to improve technical support to dialysis centres.

Permanent vascular access in the form of an AVF or AVG is the safest and most cost effective way to perform HD (59). Our data show that surgical services for creation of a fistula were limited to a few centres where vascular surgery staff and equipment were available. Many patients have to travel long distances and wait variable periods of time before getting their vascular access surgery. Centres in the southern region were most affected. Expansion of services for vascular access provision is therefore an important priority.

All dialysis staff in Libya are recruited, paid and supervised by the Secretariat for Health and the Environment. Our results show an overall staffing ratio of one nephrologist/ internist to 40 patients. This ratio is greater than that reported in the United States and France (1:48) (180, 228) and far greater than New Zealand (1:102) (230). The distribution of senior qualified nephrologists in Libya varies widely between regions. However, this number does not reflect the actual care delivered to dialysis patients because they are usually engaged in multiple tasks including nephrology outpatient clinics, dialysis follow up, inpatient care and medical teaching. Despite the enormous growth of the healthcare sector in Libya, specialised physicians are still deficient in certain fields including renal medicine. This deficiency might be attributed to defective planning of graduate educational courses on one hand and migration of qualified staff (brain drain) on the other (193). The 53 junior dialysis physicians identified in this study were new medical graduates who lack necessary knowledge and experience. These new physicians work in dialysis centres as a part of their general medicine training programme for a maximum period of 6 months. More research is required to determine the actual nephrologistpatient contact time and dialysis patient satisfaction in order inform decisions regarding optimal staffing levels. Regarding nursing staff, our data show adequate nurse to patient ratios. As in most countries, nurses deliver most of dialysis patient care (231). Many health care institutes in Libya provide training programmes for dialysis nurses. Conversely, our results show a marked deficiency of social workers and dieticians despite their important role in dialysis patient care (232, 233).

64

In Libya, there are no national dialysis practice guidelines and few clinical practitioners were familiar with KDOQI guidelines. This lack of national guidelines has resulted in variable approaches to patient management and monitoring. The majority of centres rely on clinical monitoring and monthly pre-dialysis urea readings which probably do not reflect urea clearance since low values may be a sign of poor nutrition. Similar problems have been observed in Saudi Arabia prompting calls for guidelines to optimize dialysis delivery in that country (234). Online measurement of urea removal by Kt/v is available on most HD machines used in Libya. There is therefore the potential to substantially improve the quality of monitoring through national guidelines. In addition to lack of uniform standards, monitoring of patients was adversely affected by intermittent shortage of some laboratory reagents. Similarly, the supply of medication and high flux dialyzers was subjected to repeated interruption in almost all facilities.

Dialysis centres in Libya generally apply a strict infection control policy including; screening patients for blood borne infections, liberal use of non-sterile gloves, machine disinfection, no dialyzer reuse, maintenance of hygiene and vaccination of staff against HBV. However, nearly half of facilities lacked hand washing facilities in dialysis rooms. This was either because of faulty design or as a result of converting rooms built for other purposes into HD rooms to accommodate increasing numbers of patients. Hand disinfectant was available in most HD rooms and was routinely used by staff. Studies are needed to determine prevalence rates of blood borne infections in dialysis patients as well as the rate of sero-conversion of negative patients to provide better data regarding the effectiveness of infection control measures. Separation of sharps was not practiced by 10% of Libyan dialysis centres. However, even after separation of sharps, the large amount of potentially infective waste generated from dialysis practice was mostly treated as domestic waste by dumping or open air burning. The technology needed for management of hospital waste is limited and should be improved.

Libya faces strong constraints in terms of access to fresh water due to perpetual drought (235). Many dialysis centres were obligated to dig their own wells to maintain water supply. However, testing water quality was not regularly practiced despite reports about ground water pollution (236). All Libyan dialysis centres have water treatment plants but samples of dialysis water were collected from only a quarter of dialysis facilities. Even in these facilities no

65

laboratory reports were returned for feedback. Again, there were no dialysis water reference standards to guide practitioners.

4.5. Conclusion

Dialysis (mainly HD) services are appropriately distributed to serve almost all populated regions and are funded by Libyan government. In spite of large geographic area, the provision of dialysis appears adequate but there is a wide discrepancy in methods applied to manage and monitor patients. Several areas for improvement have been identified including a need for more efficient use of existing facilities, promotion of more uniform dialysis practices by guidelines, improved technical support, establishment of a Renal Registry, recruitment of more nephrologists, enhancing infection control measures, improving reliability of distribution networks for dialysis and laboratory supplies as well as drugs, monitoring quality of HD water and the development of more cost-effective alternatives such as PD and transplantation.

Chapter 5

Results

Epidemiology and aetiology of dialysis-

treated end-stage kidney disease in

Libya

5. Epidemiology and aetiology of dialysis-treated end-stage kidney disease in Libya

5.1. Introduction

ESKD is highly prevalent globally. It has become a major public health problem and is associated with considerable co-morbidity and mortality. Maintenance dialysis therapy is the commonest mode of RRT and demand for this service is increasing progressively worldwide.

Libya is a sparsely populated medium-developed country but it has a high prevalence of risk factors for CKD such as diabetes, hypertension and obesity (188, 226, 237, 238). Societal, economic and environmental transformation have contributed to people tending to adopt a sedentary life (239). Attention paid by the PHC systems to combat the rising epidemic of chronic diseases has been inadequate (240). In contrast, Libya was among the first countries in the region to establish free access to maintenance dialysis therapy for patients with ESKD (241). Health care administrative bodies have continued to expand dialysis services in terms of geographic coverage and capacity to cope with increasing demand (241). Kidney transplantation in Libya is limited by the lack of cadaveric donors and limited availability of suitable living-related donors (203, 204). Thus the majority of patients with ESKD remain dialysis dependent. Nevertheless, data regarding the epidemiology of ESKD and dialysis treatment in Libya are scarce and knowledge about the spectrum of renal diseases is very limited. The purpose of this study was to develop the first comprehensive description of the epidemiology of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya. The study was performed prior to the recent conflict but as Libya prepares to redevelop its healthcare system these data will be vital to guide strategies for the prevention of CKD and planning for the provision of RRT.

5.2. Methods

The study was performed by a Libyan researcher with support and guidance provided by a Nephrology Department in the UK. First, a cross-sectional study was performed from May to August 2009. This included all adult maintenance dialysis facilities in Libya (n = 39), One

paediatric dialysis facility was excluded. All dialysis facilities belong to the public sector. Medical supervisors of maintenance dialysis facilities throughout the country were contacted by visit or phone call to be informed about the study. All agreed to participate and to cooperate with the research team.

A data collection sheet was prepared and used to gather information about all currently registered dialysis patients in the country. Forms included data regarding date of birth, sex, ethnicity, nationality, type of dialysis, date of dialysis initiation and primary kidney disease. Date of birth was recorded if known. Otherwise, the year of birth was used. The same applied for the date of first dialysis. Primary kidney disease was recorded according to the opinion of the treating physician or medical reports when available.

For the majority of dialysis units (n = 28), the research team collected all information by interviewing patients and inspecting medical records to assure quality and validity of the data. For remote facilities, data collection sheets were distributed to the clinical supervisor for completion. Frequent phone calls were used to answer queries and ensure that data were correctly documented. A pilot study was undertaken in 5 dialysis units that included 100 patients (20 from each unit). Difficulties in collecting data were explored and solutions developed. Data were cross checked for patients who were known to receiving dialysis in another centre within the country. Patients who were absent at the time of the study for a period of less than one month for travel in or outside the country were included among the prevalent population. Analyses performed included all adult patients prevalent on dialysis on 30 August 2009.

Population estimates were obtained from the Libyan national statistics department. The age and gender breakdown of the population in each region was obtained from mid-2009 population estimates based on 2006 census data. The number of dialysis patients was calculated for the country as a whole. In order to investigate geographic variation in the epidemiology of ESKD, data were also grouped into 3 main geographic regions.

The second stage of the study was a prospective collection of information about all new patients who started dialysis from September 2009 to August 2010. Variables collected were identical to that used during the cross-sectional study and the same data forms were used. The

69

research team conducted data collection frequently during the year to ensure the inclusion of every new patient in the country. Subsequently, researchers conducted field visits to dialysis facilities from August to December 2010 to validate the information.

Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation if normally distributed or median (interquartile range) if not. A Chi-squared test was used to compare frequencies between groups. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Analysis was performed by using SPSS version 16.0.

Permission to conduct the study was granted by the Ministry of Health. Ethical approval for the research was obtained from the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety. Patients each gave written informed consent.

5. 3. Results

5. 3. 1. Prevalence of ESKD in Libya

As shown in Table 5. 1, the total number of adult ESKD patients undergoing maintenance dialysis therapy in Libya was 2417 in August 2009. The estimated adult population of Libya during 2009 was 3,873,000, giving a prevalence of dialysis-treated ESKD of approximately 624 pmp. The prevalence rate varied slightly by region with the highest rate of 628 pmp in North West region, the most populated area of the country. Most prevalent patients were under 65 years of age (85%). Female patients tended to be older than males, except in the south. Duration of dialysis was a median of 3 years and tended to be higher in females (Table 5. 2). The majority of dialysis patients were Libyan nationals (97.8% of prevalent and 96.6% of incident patients).

	Regions			Whole country
	North West	North East	South	
Number of prevalent patients 2009	1558	653	206	2417
Prevalence rate 2009 (pmp)	628	623	597	624
Number of incident patients 2010	593	287	213	1093
Incidence rate 2010 (pmp)	239	274	617	282

Table 5. 1: Prevalent and incident dialysis patient numbers and rates for Libya and its regions

		Region				Total
		North West	North East	South		
		(n = 1558)	(n = 653)	(n = 206)		
Age of prevalent	Male	49	46	49	48	49
patients in years		36-61	35-59	36-61.3	36-61	36-61
(n = 2417)	Female	49	50.5	42.5	49	
(n - 2417)		34-60	37-61	32.3-59	35-61	
Age at onset of dialysis	Male	45	42	47	44	45
(n = 2417)		31-58	28-55	31-59.9	30-58	30-58
	Female	45	46	38	45	
		30-57	31-57	27-57.8	30-57	
Dialysis vintage in years	Male	3	3	2	2.5	3
(n = 2417)		1-6	1-7	0.1-4	1-6	1-6
	Female	3	3	2	3	
		1-5	1-6	2-2	1-6	
Age of incident patients	Male	50	47	46	48	49
in years (n = 1093)		37-63	34-61	30-57	35-61	35-62
	Female	52	53	43	50	
		35-66	41-64	36-54	36-64	

Table 5. 2: Age, age at onset and dialysis vintage for prevalent and incident dialysis patients in Libya and its regions. Data are median and interquartile range

Figure 5. 1, shows that the prevalence of dialysis-treated ESKD was higher among males versus females at all ages. Overall, males represented 58% of prevalent dialysis population. The prevalence of ESKD varied considerably with age. Prevalence rates were low in young adults but showed a steady increase with age. Prevalence rates peaked in the 55–64 year age group at 2475 pmp for males and 2197 pmp for females. After age 74 years there was a sharp decline in prevalence and very few patients were over 85 years. Most prevalent patients on dialysis were white ethnicity (87%). However, ethnic distribution varied between regions with the highest black to white ratio of 1.9 to 1 in the South.



Figure 5. 1: Prevalence rate pmp of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya for males and females by age group (males and females are a proportion of the gender specific in a million population)

5. 3. 2. Incidence of ESKD in Libya

A total of 1093 new patients started dialysis during the 1-year observation period, giving an incidence rate of 282 pmp. Incidence rates varied between regions with a substantially higher rate observed in the South (Table 5. 1). In most age groups the incidence rate was higher in males than females (figure 5. 2). The incidence rate increased with age until it peaked in those aged 65–74 years and decreased sharply beyond age 75 years. Incident female patients were slightly older than male patients. Most incident patients on dialysis were white (80.9%).



Figure 5. 2: Incidence rate pmp of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya for males and females by age group (males and females are a proportion of the gender specific in a million population)

5. 3. 3. Aetiology of ESKD in Libya

Information about primary kidney disease was complete for all prevalent dialysis patients but was missing in 75 (6.9%) of incident dialysis patients. Data are shown in tables 5. 3 and 5. 4. The most common cause of ESKD among prevalent and incident patients was diabetes. The frequency of different categories of pathology was similar for prevalent and incident patients. Diabetes and hypertensive nephropathy were more common as causes of ESKD in patients aged 50 years or older whereas glomerulonephritis and hereditary diseases were more common in those aged under 50 years. Autoimmune diseases accounted for only a small proportion of all ESKD and were more common among females.

according to gender and age								
Dui	Caradan				All			
Primary kidney disease	Gender	Age			patients			
		Female (n =	<50 years	≥50 years	(=			
	Male $(n = 1402)$	1015)	(n = 1268)	(n = 1149)	(n = 2417)			
Diabetic Nephropathy	396 (28.2)*	245 (24.1)	169 (13.3)*	472 (41.1)	641 (26.5)			
Hypertensive Nephropathy	180 (12.8) *	173 (17)	129 (10.2)*	224 (19.5)	353 (14.6)			
Glomerulonephritis	318 (22.7) *	194 (19.1)	413 (32.6)*	99 (8.6)	512 (21.2)			

15 (1.5)

42 (4.1)

29 (2.9)

70 (6.9)

13 (1.3)

32 (3.2)

72 (7.1)

130 (12.8)

14(1)

78 (5.6)

19(1.4)*

82 (5.8)

168 (12) *

4 (0.3) *

39 (2.8)

104 (7.4)

17 (1.3)

59 (4.7)

33 (2.6) *

68 (5.4)

220 (17.3)*

16(1.3)*

48 (3.8) *

96 (7.6)

12(1)

61 (5.3)

15 (1.3)

84 (7.3)

78 (6.8)

1 (0.1)

23 (2)

80(7)

29 (1.2)

120 (5)

48 (2)

152 (6.3)

298 (12.3)

17 (0.7)

71 (2.9)

176 (7.3)

Table 5. 3: Actiology of primary	kidney	disease	of	prevalent	dialysis	patients
according to gender and age						

Data are number (percent)

Congenital and hereditary diseases

Interstitial Nephritis

Obstructive Nephritis

Chronic pyelonephritis

Polycystic kidney disease

Autoimmune diseases

Other

Unknown

*P < 0.05 versus comparison group

Gender		Age	All	
		Ð		patients
Male	Female	<50 years	≥50 years	(n = 1019)
(n = 621)	(n = 397)	(n = 521)	(n = 497)	(1 - 1018)
173 (27.9)	116 (29.2)	90 (17.3)*	199 (40)	289 (28.4)
101 (16.3)	60 (15.1)	29 (5.6)*	132 (26.6)	161 (15.8)
133 (21.4)	71 (17.9)	173(33.2)*	31 (6.2)	204 (20)
7 (1.1)*	17 (4.3)	14 (2.7)	10 (2)	24 (2.4)
53 (8.5)*	6 (1.5)	17 (3.3)*	42 (8.5)	59 (5.8)
9 (1.4)	4 (1)	0 (0)*	13 (2.6)	13 (1.3)
13 (2.1)*	41 (10.3)	31 (6)	23 (4.6)	54 (5.3)
42 (6.8)	40 (10.1)	73 (14)*	9 (1.8)	82 (8.1)
4 (0.6)*	10 (2.5)	11 (2.1)*	3 (0.6)	14 (1.4)
10 (1.6)	4 (1)	10 (1.9)	4 (0.8)	14 (1.4)
76 (12.2)*	28 (7.1)	73 (14)*	31 (6.2)	104 (10.2)
	Gender Male (n = 621) 173 (27.9) 101 (16.3) 133 (21.4) 7 (1.1)* 53 (8.5)* 9 (1.4) 13 (2.1)* 42 (6.8) 4 (0.6)* 10 (1.6) 76 (12.2)*	GenderMaleFemale $(n = 621)$ $(n = 397)$ $173 (27.9)$ $116 (29.2)$ $101 (16.3)$ $60 (15.1)$ $133 (21.4)$ $71 (17.9)$ $7 (1.1)^*$ $17 (4.3)$ $53 (8.5)^*$ $6 (1.5)$ $9 (1.4)$ $4 (1)$ $13 (2.1)^*$ $41 (10.3)$ $42 (6.8)$ $40 (10.1)$ $4 (0.6)^*$ $10 (2.5)$ $10 (1.6)$ $4 (1)$ $76 (12.2)^*$ $28 (7.1)$	GenderAgeMaleFemale <50 years(n = 621)(n = 397)(n = 521)173 (27.9)116 (29.2)90 (17.3)*101 (16.3)60 (15.1)29 (5.6)*133 (21.4)71 (17.9)173 (33.2)*7 (1.1)*17 (4.3)14 (2.7)53 (8.5)*6 (1.5)17 (3.3)*9 (1.4)4 (1)0 (0)*13 (2.1)*41 (10.3)31 (6)42 (6.8)40 (10.1)73 (14)*4 (0.6)*10 (2.5)11 (2.1)*10 (1.6)4 (1)10 (1.9)76 (12.2)*28 (7.1)73 (14)*	GenderAgeMaleFemale <50 years ≥ 50 years $(n = 621)$ $(n = 397)$ $(n = 521)$ $(n = 497)$ 173 (27.9) 116 (29.2) 90 (17.3)* 199 (40) 101 (16.3) 60 (15.1) 29 (5.6)* 132 (26.6) 133 (21.4) 71 (17.9) $173(33.2)*$ 31 (6.2) 7 (1.1)* 17 (4.3) 14 (2.7) 10 (2) 53 (8.5)* 6 (1.5) 17 (3.3)* 42 (8.5) 9 (1.4) 4 (1) 0 (0)* 13 (2.6) 13 (2.1)* 41 (10.3) 31 (6) 23 (4.6) 42 (6.8) 40 (10.1) 73 (14)* 9 (1.8) 4 (0.6)* 10 (2.5) 11 (2.1)* 3 (0.6) 10 (1.6) 4 (1) 10 (1.9) 4 (0.8) 76 (12.2)* 28 (7.1) 73 (14)* 31 (6.2)

Table 5. 4: Actiology of primary kidney disease of incident dialysis patients according to gender and age

Data are number (percent)

*P < 0.05 versus comparison group

5. 4. Discussion

This study represents the first comprehensive description of the epidemiology of dialysistreated ESKD in Libya. Our study shows a prevalence rate for ESKD markedly higher than rates estimated for the Mediterranean region of 312 to 352 pmp (24, 25) despite similar demographic and socioeconomic characteristics between Libya and neighbouring countries. Libya's prevalence rate is also higher than rates reported from individual countries in the region like Saudi Arabia (475 pmp) (19), El-Minia city in Egypt (208 pmp) (26), Kuwait (240 pmp) (24) and Oman (220 pmp) (24). Reasons for the high prevalence rate in Libya might include a high prevalence of CKD in the population and limited access to renal transplantation (204, 242). The high incidence rate of ESKD observed in this study (282 pmp) supports the notion that CKD is an important health problem in Libya that requires urgent attention. The rate is

more than double that observed in European countries such as Austria (131 pmp) (243) and Denmark (129 pmp) (243) despite the fact that the Libyan population is younger than that of most European countries. Moreover, the incidence rate observed in Libya is even higher than rates reported in other places with young populations such as Qatar (202 pmp) (16), Tunisia (159 pmp) (17), Bhopal city in India (151 pmp) (18), Malaysia (138 pmp) (244), Saudi Arabia (122 pmp) (19), Jordan (111 pmp) (20) and Aleppo city in Syria (60 pmp) (21). Whereas the prevalence rate did not vary by much in the different geographic regions of Libya the observed incidence rate was substantially higher in the South. Regional variation in incidence of ESKD has been reported by other authors (185, 245). The reasons for this variation in Libya require further investigation and have important implications for future healthcare provision. The South of Libya is a remote, sparsely populated and deprived area. It is also hot and dry and is inhabited by a mixture of different minorities such as black Arabs, Tuareg and Tebou tribes. Thus geographic, racial and socioeconomic factors may all be relevant. It is also notable that the proportion of new patients who commenced dialysis therapy in one year represents 45% of the number of prevalent dialysis patients in Libya. Moreover in the South the incidence rate was triple the prevalence rate. Possible explanations for these observations include a high mortality rate on dialysis or rapidly increasing incidence of ESKD. Both possibilities require urgent investigation and have serious implications for future demand for dialysis in Libya.

The median age of prevalent patients revealed by this study was substantially lower than that observed in other countries including the UK (65.9 years for HD and 61.2 years for PD) (246), United States (59.1 years) (224), Iceland (64.4 years), Austria (60.1 years), Denmark (58.8 years) and Greece (58.1 years) (243). The majority of patients with ESKD in Libya are of economically active age and ESKD therefore has a significant impact on families and society. The observed median age for incident patients in Libya (49 years) was considerably lower than the UK (64.8 years) (12). Consistent with studies from most other countries, males outnumbered females in the prevalent and incident populations (224, 247, 248). Nevertheless, the median age of incident females in the South was a decade younger than females in other regions of the country. This wide range of age presentation in the South might reflect gender inequity, health care deficiency and environmental factors.

Like many other countries diabetic nephropathy was the leading cause of ESKD in both prevalent and incident dialysis populations and was significantly more common among older patients. Generally, the prevalence of diabetes in Middle East region is high according to the International Diabetes Federation (249, 250). Reasons include increasing urbanisation, aging of the population, increasing obesity and falling levels of physical activity (251, 252). Efforts to reduce the burden of ESKD in Libya should therefore focus on measures to reduce incidence of type 2 diabetes mellitus (55, 253) through public awareness, screening and promotion of a healthy lifestyle as well as prevention of microvascular complications in those with diabetes (254). Glomerulonephritis was the second most frequent cause of ESKD in Libya in prevalent and incident cases and was significantly more common among young and male patients. The observed proportion is midway between very high levels reported from countries like China and Kuwait of approximately 35% (43, 44), Costa Rica (30%) (45) and Yemen (25%) (46) and lower prevalence observed in countries like Qatar (13%) (16), Sri Lanka (12%) (47) and Pakistan (10%) (48). Reasons for the high prevalence of glomerulonephritis require further investigation, which is hampered by the shortage of facilities able to perform renal biopsies and histology. A substantial proportion of ESKD was attributed to hypertension but it is unclear what proportion of this represented hypertension secondary to primary renal disease. Congenital and hereditary kidney disease accounted for a significant minority of ESKD in both prevalent and incident patients. This is likely due to the high rate of marriages between relatives, especially first cousins, in Arab communities (52, 255, 256) including Libya. A shortage genetic diagnostics and counselling is a major contributor to this problem. In summary, despite Libya's unique social and demographic features the observed causes of ESKD are similar to that described in most other countries, though the contribution of glomerulonephritis and hereditary kidney disease is greater than in many developed countries. It is therefore likely that interventions that have proved successful in reducing the incidence of ESKD in other countries such as early detection of CKD, treatment of hypertension with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and prevention or treatment of diabetes are likely to be effective in Libya too.

Strengths of this study are the inclusion of all current dialysis units in the country to ensure collection of the most complete data possible and prospective capture of data regarding new patients commencing dialysis. Limitations include reliance on limited and partially incomplete medical records and lack of histology to confirm the cause of ESKD in the majority of cases. We have described the epidemiology of ESKD among patients receiving dialysis but there are no data regarding patients with ESKD who died without the benefit of dialysis. It is therefore likely that the true incidence of ESKD is higher than what we have observed. Further research is required to investigate how many patients with ESKD are not offered dialysis and the reasons for this.

5. 5. Conclusions

In conclusion we report for the first time high prevalence and incidence rates of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya. The relatively young age of those affected emphasizes the need for urgent measures to reduce the incidence of CKD and its progression. Emphasis should be placed in the first instance on the prevention and treatment of diabetes and hypertension. Further research is required to investigate the high incidence of glomerulonephritis. As Libya rebuilds its healthcare system following the recent conflict it is hoped that the prevention of ESKD will constitute an important priority and that the data presented will inform the strategies required.

Chapter 6

}

Results

Hepatitis B and C infection in

haemodialysis patients in Libya:

Prevalence, Incidence and Risk Factors

6. Hepatitis B and C infection in haemodialysis patients in Libya: Prevalence, Incidence and Risk Factors

6. 1. Introduction

ì

Chronic infections with HBV and HCV are associated with serious health risks due to hepatic cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Patients receiving maintenance HD therapy are at increased risk for acquiring these infections and have a higher prevalence of HBV and HCV than the general population (117, 118). Prior to effective screening of blood donations, HCV infection was associated with blood transfusions needed to correct the anaemia associated with kidney disease (257, 258) but patient to patient transmission in HD units is also reported (259, 260). HBV infection is usually due to patient to patient transmission within HD units (261). Recognition of the risk of nosocomial infection has resulted in recommendations that strict infections should be isolated from sero-negative patients during dialysis and patients as well as staff should be vaccinated against HBV (262, 263). The introduction of blood donor screening and a reduction in blood transfusions due to the availability of recombinant erythropoietin has significantly reduced the incidence of new HCV infections among HD patients in many countries (264-266).

Libya provides free access to maintenance HD for ESKD through a rapidly expanding network of centres. Although there are no national dialysis practice guidelines or infection control polices enforced by health care authorities, there is general agreement that patients on HD should be screened for HBV and HCV infection before the initiation of HD and monitored every 3-6 months thereafter (241). Sero-positive patients are dialysed on dedicated machines either in an isolated area or alongside sero-negative patients if space does not allow isolation (241). A national serological survey for HBV and HCV infections among the general population was performed in Libya during 2003 and revealed prevalences of 2.2% and 1.2% for HBV and HCV, respectively (267). Other local surveys reported that the rate of HBsAg positivity among blood donors ranged from 1.3% to 4.6% (268), while the rate of HCV antibodies was 1.2% (269). Global data indicate that the prevalence of HBV and HCV infection is high in populations of Africa and the Middle Eastern regions (119-121). HCV infection was estimated by World Health Organisation to affect 4.6% of the Eastern Mediterranean population and 5.3% of the population of Africa (270). This study aimed to investigate for the first time the incidence and prevalence of HBV and HCV infection in the entire HD population of Libya.

6.2. Methods

This descriptive study was carried out in all HD centres treating adult patients in Libya (n=39) from May 2009 to December 2010. One dialysis facility was excluded because it provided dialysis only to paediatric patients. Phase I of the study was a collection of cross-sectional data regarding all adult patients in maintenance HD facilities (n=2382). Large and medium capacity HD facilities were visited by the researchers in order to collect data. Patient records were used to obtain patients' age, gender, time on HD, medical history, sero-positivity to HBV and HCV as well as other laboratory results. Sero-positivity to HBV was defined by detection of HBsAg and sero-positivity to HCV by detection of anti-HCV antibodies by a third generation enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). ELISA tests were performed in local laboratories. In addition, 1732 patients from 24 centres were interviewed regarding other potential risk factors for HBV and HCV infection. These included history of blood transfusions and history of HD in another centre within Libya or abroad. Data was also obtained regarding infection control procedures at each HD facility. For small and remote facilities, data collection forms were posted to clinical supervisors who were requested to collect information about their patients. They were contacted frequently by phone to deal with any queries related to the required variables. Forms were returned within 30 days.

Phase II of the study was to prospectively detect sero-conversion to HBV or HCV in previously sero-negative HD patients during 1 year of follow-up. This step included a cohort of 1160 patients from 35 centres (four centres were excluded because of incomplete information).

All sero-conversions were recorded and included even if patient was transplanted or died afterwards. The research team frequently monitored HD patients during the year to assure the inclusion of every new sero-conversion. All new sero-conversions were retested to confirm the positive result. Field visits were repeated at the end of 1 year to validate the information.

Data are presented as mean±SD if normally distributed or median (interquartile range) if not. Analysis was performed using SPSS version 16.0. A Chi-square test was used to compare frequencies between groups. Correlations were tested with a Pearson's test. A t-test was used to compare means between groups for data with normal distribution or Mann-Whitney test for non-parametric data

Permission to conduct the study was granted from the ministry of health. The project was approved by the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety. Patients gave written informed consent to be interviewed. The study was performed by a Libyan researcher with support from a Nephrology Department in the United Kingdom.

6. 3. Results

The median age of adult HD patients included was 49 years (range 36-61 years) and 58% were male. A total of 831 patients (34.9%) were sero-positive for HBV and/or HCV. The majority of infected patients were positive for anti-HCV antibodies (31.1%) and 2.6% were HBsAg positive. Twenty-eight patients (1.2%) had mixed infection with HBV and HCV (Table 6. 1). Of the sero-positive patients 4.7% were known to be infected before the initiation of HD. Overall the prevalence of sero-positivity was similar among males and females (35.8% versus 33.7%, respectively) but males comprised a greater proportion of those with HBV or combined infection (Table 6. 1; P=0.01 for comparison between groups).

Table 6.	1: Frequency, a	ge and ge	nder d	istrib	ution of	HBV	and/or	HC	V sero-
positive	haemodialysis	patients.	Data	are	number	(per	cent)	or	median
(interqua	rtile range)								

		HBV	НСУ	HBV+HCV	Total
		n=62	n=741	n=28	n=831
Frequency	Male	45 (72.6%)	427 (57.6%)	22 (78.6%)	494 (59%)
	Female	17 (27.4%)	314 (42.4%)	6 (21.4%)	337 (41%)
Age (years)	Male	49 (33-58)	46 (36-59)	40 (31-45)	46 (36-59)
	Female	44 (33-61)	48 (34-59)	44 (42-54)	47 (35-59)

The prevalence of HBV and/or HCV infection varied widely between HD centres from 0% to 75.9%. Four centres had no sero-positive patients and half of centres were free from HBV infection. Patients' sero-positive for both viruses were found in 28.2% of centres (figure 6.1).



Figure 6. 1: Prevalence of HBV and/or HCV sero-positivity in different haemodialysis centres in Libya

Univariate analysis of potential risk factors for infection with HBV and/or HCV was performed by comparing infected and non-infected patients (Table 6. 2). Sero-positive patients were younger and had been receiving dialysis for substantially longer. History and number of blood transfusions was also significantly associated with sero-positivity. Mean values for alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase were higher in sero-positive patients despite being within the normal range.

Factors potentially	Sero-pos	itive N=831	Sero-neg	Sero-negative N=1551		
associated with HBV±HCV	Number*	Nucher Volus		Mundar W. M. I		
infection	Number*	value	Number	value		
Age in years (mean± SD)	831	47.1±14.4	1551	49.5± 16.2	<0.001	
Males (number and percent)	831	494 (59.4%)	1551	887 (57.2%)	0.296	
Whites (number and percent)	805	718 (89.2%)	1528	1312 (85.9%)	0.023	
Dialysis vintage in years (median and IQR)	831	6 (3-10)	1551	2 (0.1-3)	<0.001	
Previous blood transfusion (number and percent)	597	482 (80.7%)	1010	688 (68.1%)	<0.001	
Number of blood transfusions (median and IQR)	597	2 (1-3)	1010	1 (0-3)	<0.001	
Previous renal transplant (number and percent)	822	115 (14.0%)	1533	41 (2.7%)	<0.001	
Previous dialysis abroad (number and percent)	617	376 (60.9%)	1025	540 (52.7%)	0.001	
Previous dialysis in another Libyan centre (number and percent)	612	324 (52.9%)	1018	447 (43.9%)	<0.001	
Haemoglobin level in g/dl (mean± SD)	831	10.2± 1.9	1551	9.7± 1.8	<0.001	
Manine Aminotransferase in IU/L mean± SD)	269	27.8± 20.2	353	19.6± 17.9	<0.001	
Aspartate Aminotransferase in IU/L mean± SD)	232	29.6±21.1	328	21.3±20.3	<0.001	
biabetes (number and percent)	831	195 (23.5%)	1551	551 (35.5%)	<0.001	
rythropoietin treatment (number and	604	450 (74.5%)	1059	830 (78.4%)	0.071	

Table 6. 2: Factors potentially associated with HBV and/or HCV infection in haemodialysis centres in Libya

*Number of patients with valid data for each variable IQR: interquartile range

Results of the prospective study showed that 89 of 1160 (7.7%) previously sero-negative patients sero-converted during 1 year. The majority (82 patients) developed anti-HCV antibodies (incidence 7.1%). Seven patients became positive for HBsAg (incidence 0.6%). Age and gender distribution of those who sero-converted is shown in Table 6. 3.

Table 6. 3: Frequency, age and gender distribution of patients who seroconverted during 1 year of follow-up. Data are number (percent) or median (interquartile range)

		HBV	HCV	Total	
		n=7	n=82	n=89	
1. 11	Male	5 (71.4%)	49 (59.8%)	54 (61%)	
Frequency	Female	2 (28.6%)	33 (40.2%)	35 (39%)	
Age (years)	Male	50 (35-67)	50 (38-64)	50 (38-64)	
	Female	57 (40-73)	52 (44-64)	52 (43-65)	

Figure 6. 2. shows wide variation in rates of newly acquired infections between different dialysis centres. No sero-conversion was found in two small-capacity centres (one treating 2 patients and the other, 5 patients). New HBsAg positive cases were detected in 4 centres in 3.3-10.3% of previously negative patients. All new HBV cases were referred from centres already treating HBV infected patients. New HCV infections were reported in most centres (33 of 35) but the rate of HCV sero-conversion varied widely from 1.5% to 31% of patients. Most of the centres with HCV sero-conversions (31/33) were providing HD treatment to previously HCV-infected patients. However, anti-HCV antibodies were discovered in 9 patients (31%) in a centre which was previously treating exclusively sero-negative patients (coded CG). Two other HCV sero-conversions occurred in another previously sero-negative HD centre (coded BE).



Figure 6. 2: Incidence of new HBV or HCV infections in haemodialysis patients during a 1-year follow up period

There were no correlations between number of HD patients treated in each centre and the prevalence or incidence of sero-positivity to HBV or HCV. There was no difference in prevalence or incidence of HBV or HCV infection between units that: routinely practiced isolation of sero-positive patients versus those that did not; units with hand washing facilities in each cubicle versus not and units that had adequate facilities for sharps disposal versus not.

Analysis of possible risk factors for new HBV or HCV infections is shown in Table 4. Only duration of dialysis, history of previous renal transplant and history of receiving HD in another centre in Libya were significantly different between patients who sero-converted and those who remained sero-negative.

	Sero-converted N=89		Stayed	sero-negative	
			N=1071		
Factors potentially associated with new HBV±HCV infection	Number*	Value	Number*	Value	P- value
Age in years (mean± SD)	89	50.9±15.8	1071	50± 16.6	0.635
Males (number and percent)	89	54 (60.7%)	1071	613 (57.2%)	0.528
Whites (number and percent)	89	75 (84.3%)	1056	927 (87.8%)	0.335
Dialysis vintage in years (mean± SD)	89	4.1±4.4	1071	2.2±2.6	0.001
Previous blood transfusion (number and percent)	45	34 (75.6%)	716	481 (67.2%)	0.244
Number of blood transfusions (mean± SD)	45	3.6± 6.9	716	1.8± 2.6	0.083
Previous renal transplant (number and	89	6 (6.7%)	1064	28 (2.6%)	0.028
Previous dialysis abroad (number and percent)	48	27 (56.3%)	714	395 (55.3%)	0.900
Previous dialysis in another Libyan centre	48	31 (64.6%)	707	371(52.5%)	0.023
(number and percent) Haemoglobin level in g/dl (mean± SD)	89	9.9± 2.1	1071	9.6± 1.8	0.220
Alanine Aminotransferase in IU/L (mean±	27	21.9± 22.7	274	18.6±17.8	0.272
Aspartate Aminotransferase in IU/L (mean±	24	23±23.8	252	20.8± 21.2	0.925
Diabetes (number and percent)	89	35 (39.3%)	1071	385 (35.9%)	0.524
Erythropoietin treatment (number and	51	7 (13.7%)	729	100 (13.7%)	0.999

 Table 6. 4: Factors potentially associated with new HBV or HCV infection in haemodialysis centres

*Number of patients with valid data for each variable

6. 4. Discussion

The prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies in patients receiving HD (31.1%) was remarkably high and is approximately 25 times higher than in the general population (267). It is also higher than the prevalence of 20.5% reported by Daw et al in a sample of 200 HD patients in 2001 in Libya (269). Globally the prevalence of HCV among patients receiving HD varies from as low as

6.1% in Germany (126) to as high as 76% in Casablanca (127). In general, North Africa and the Middle East are high prevalence areas both in the general population and in HD patients (270). Previous studies from the region have reported a prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies in HD patients of 50% in Saudi Arabia (128), 42% in Tunisia (129), 20.2% in Turkey (130) and 21% in Jordan (20). In contrast, the observed prevalence of HBV infection (2.6%) is similar to the general population and similar to that reported in HD patients in other regions including Europe (4.1%), Japan (2.2%) and the United States (2.4%) (247). A study sample from the DOPPS that included 8615 adult HD patients from 308 dialysis facilities in Western Europe and the United States, reported prevalence rates for HBV infection ranging from 0% to 6.6% (122). Studies from less developed countries estimated that the proportion of HBsAg carriers in the HD population varies from 2% to 20% (271-274). According to the 2008 Saudi Centre for Organ Transplantation report, HBV sero-positivity was 4.6% in the Saudi HD population (19) while among Jordanian HD patients it was 5.9% (125). In general, the prevalence and incidence of HBV and HCV infections in HD patients reflects the prevalence of these infections in the general population, the quality of healthcare services in a community and the standards of infection control practices in HD units. The importance of HBV and HCV as a health risk in patients on HD is illustrated by our observation that 3% of deaths in Libyan HD patients during a 1 year observation period were due to liver failure and that 13 of the 14 patients who died of liver failure were sero-positive for HCV and/or HBV.

Our data show that sero-positive patients were significantly younger on average than seronegative patients. This observation is in agreement with a previous report from Libya showing that the highest prevalence of HCV antibodies was observed in HD patients aged 36-55 years (269). Other studies (122, 275, 276) have reported a higher prevalence of HBV or HCV seropositivity in older patients and the reason for this difference in not clear. On the other hand, the prevalence and incidence of HBV or HCV sero-positivity was significantly related to the length of time on HD. This is consistent with nosocomial transmission related to dialysis since longer duration of dialysis represents a longer period at risk of acquiring an infection. Similar observations have been reported by other authors (131-134). Prevention of nosocomial transmission is of vital importance in Libya as HCV antiviral treatment is expensive and its availability is limited to only a few centres.

A positive history of blood transfusions as well as the number of blood transfusions was strongly associated with HBV or HCV infection at baseline, but not with new infections. Prior to the introduction of effective screening of blood donors, blood transfusions were recognised as the leading source of HCV infection and some of these infections may have been acquired before adequate screening was introduced (126, 131). In addition it is possible that some blood donors with HCV infection are being missed by current screening procedures and these may need to be reassessed (277, 278). On the other hand the lack of association between blood transfusions and new infections suggests that fewer infections are acquired by this route than previously. A large proportion of patients had previously received blood transfusions. The risk of infection could therefore be further reduced by more effective management of anaemia with iron supplementation and erythropoietin. In accordance with other studies (134-136), HBV or HCV infection was more prevalent in patients with a history of previous renal transplant. Infection in these patients might have been transmitted from an infected donor kidney or blood transfused peri-operatively. This observation emphasizes the need for adequate screening of potential kidney donors, which is deficient in some countries. The shortage of donated kidneys in Libya induces many patients to seek a transplant abroad.

Another concern raised by the current study is that HBV or HCV infection was associated with a history of HD in another centre either in Libya or abroad. Many patients travel for social reasons but some also transfer to a maintenance HD centre after initiating dialysis as an emergency in a specialised centre providing acute services or may travel to another centre for surgery to create an AVF (241). The association of hepatitis virus infection with travel suggests that the risk of nosocomial infection varies between dialysis centres within Libya and abroad. The former is confirmed by our data showing a marked variation in both prevalence and incidence of HBV and HCV infection among Libyan HD units (figures 1 and 2). These observations emphasize the importance of isolating patients following their return and monitoring them for sero-conversion.

Prospective follow up of sero-negative HD patients enabled us to verify 89 sero-conversions for HBV or HCV during 1 year, giving an overall incidence of 7.7% for new infections. The incidence rate of 0.6% for HBsAg sero-conversion is similar to that reported in Europe, Japan and the United States (0.4-1.8 per 100 patient-years) (122). Three new HBsAg positive patients
were detected in a single centre that was treating 20 other HBsAg positive patients and 2 new cases were detected in another centre that was treating 14 HBsAg positive patients, suggesting that nosocomial transmission probably occurred. We observed a high incidence of new HCV infections during the 1-year observation period (7.2%). The reported incidence of new HCV infections varies considerably between countries. A rate as low as 0.4% was observed in France from 1997 to 2000 (279) but higher rates have been reported from the Mediterranean region. According to the 2008 Saudi Centre for Organ Transplantation report, the annual rate of HCV sero-conversion in Saudi HD patients was 7-9% (19) while in Jordan it was 2.6% (20). In our study most new cases were observed in centres treating other patients with HCV infection, suggesting nosocomial transmission. Interestingly 9 new HCV infections were observed in one unit and 2 in another that previously accepted only patients without HCV infection. This raises the possibility of transmission from a carrier that was not detected by current screening procedures.

A striking observation from this study is the wide variation in incidence and prevalence of HBV and HCV infections among different HD units (figures 1 and 2). Interestingly none of the potential centre-related factors that we assessed formally explained this variation. On the other hand, we observed variations in other practices that may be relevant. Most facilities faced a problem of increasing number of patients and most of them responded by adding more HD stations at expense of space and staff. Infection control precautions also varied widely between centres. They were strictly enforced in some places but frequently breached in others. This seemed to depend on staff initiative rather than national guidelines. On the other hand, dialyser reuse was not permitted and all bloodlines as well as other consumables were disposed after a single use (241). Some brands of HD machines were equipped with a sphygmomanometer. Otherwise, most non- disposable instruments used in HD environment were shared between sero-positive and sero-negative patients. The use of multi-dose vials of heparin was common and is likely to have been an important cause of nosocomial infections. Many patients started HD without being vaccinated against HBV. Even in vaccinated patients the antibody titre was not assessed. The wide variation in HBV and HCV prevalence and incidence between dialysis centres implies that there is potential to reduce blood-borne virus infection by transferring best practice from HD centres with low infection rates. In particular infection control procedures

should be investigated in centres with high infection rates and the use of multidose heparin vials must be stopped urgently. Previous studies from the region show that with appropriate intervention HCV infection rates in HD centres may be substantially improved. For example in Iran, HCV prevalence reduced from 14.4% in 1999 to 4.5% in 2006 (280) and in Saudi Arabia from 2.4% in 2001 to 0.2% in 2005 (281).

Several limitations of this study should be conceded. Medical records were often incomplete and additional clinical information was frequently obtained by interviewing staff and patients. Serological testing was done in local laboratories and it is likely that there was some variation in the quality of testing. Testing for HCV relied on a third generation ELISA to detect anti-HCV antibodies and confirmation or genotyping by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is currently not available in most centres.

6.5. Conclusion

Patients on maintenance HD in Libya have a high incidence and prevalence of HCV infection and lower rates of HBV infection. The factors associated with HBV and HCV infection are highly suggestive of nosocomial transmission within HD units. Urgent action is required to improve infection control measures in HD centres and to reduce dependence on blood transfusions for the treatment of anaemia. The data presented were obtained before the recent conflict in Libya. It is possible that disruption of services due to the conflict may have exacerbated the problem of hepatitis virus infection in HD patients.

Chapter 7

Results

Vascular access in patients receiving

haemodialysis in Libya

7. Vascular access in patients receiving haemodialysis in Libya

7.1.Introduction

Creating and maintaining an adequate vascular access in patients receiving HD remains a major challenge facing dialysis providers worldwide. A native AVF represents the optimal form of vascular access because it affords superior blood flow as well as lower morbidity and mortality as compared to CVC (89, 91, 282-285). The updated NKF/KDOQI guidelines have strongly recommended the use of AVFs as the vascular access of first choice for HD or AVGs if a native AVF cannot be achieved to limit the use of CVCs to a minimum (93). Initiation of HD with an AVF is associated with improved survival but this is often difficult to achieve because it depends on multiple factors including adequate preparation time at pre-dialysis follow up (149, 286), availability of surgeons with the necessary competencies and adequate facilities for performing the surgery (149, 287, 288). Several patient factors also affect the success rates of vascular access surgery including age, gender, diabetes, peripheral vascular diseases and obesity (91, 149, 289-291). Thus the pattern of vascular access use varies widely in different HD populations. A high prevalence of AVF utilisation is reported in Europe (10) and Australia (93) whereas it was as low as approximately 30% in the United States during 1990s but rose to 47% by 2007 in part due to the "Fistula First Breakthrough Initiatives" (4, 285, 292). A second challenge to maintaining a high prevalence of permanent vascular access is loss of AVF or AVG due to dysfunction. Many patients require more than one AVF during their time on HD treatment and rates of intervention vary between different HD populations. Dysfunction occurs due to thrombosis, infection, aneurysm formation and/or haemorrhage.

Dialysis has been provided universally in Libya for about four decades through an expanding network of centres (n=39), almost exclusively as HD (241). The prevalence rate of ESKD treated by dialysis in Libya is among the highest in the Middle East region (624 pmp) (241). Services for creation of AVF are, however, limited to only a few centres (15%) (241),

providing a significant challenge to achieving high rates of AVF use. Pre dialysis care is very limited because of weak PHC and a shortage of nephrologists (241). Although all HD facilities are run by the Ministry of Health, there is a lack of national guidelines to facilitate uniform practice and promote efforts to improve services for the creation of AVF. There are no data available regarding the patterns of vascular access utilisation in Libya or risk factors associated with failure of permanent vascular access. We therefore aimed to conduct the first comprehensive study of vascular access utilisation in HD patients in Libya.

7.2. Methods

A prospective observational study was undertaken of all adult (age 16 years or more) patients receiving HD treatment in 25 HD facilities (out of 39) in Libya from May 2009 to December 2010. In Phase I we performed a cross-sectional study of 1712 patients (72% of total national HD population; n=2383). Patients who were away at the time of the field visit were excluded. Each HD facility was visited by the researchers and data regarding demographics, dialysis treatment and mean predialysis blood pressure readings from the last 3 HD sessions were collected. Data regarding vascular access utilisation and complications related to vascular access were collected mainly through interviews with patients. Other information including weight, height, blood pressure and haemoglobin values were collected from medical records and dialysis staff.

In the second phase of the study patients who were using permanent vascular access in phase I were interviewed again after a minimum of 1 year. Data were not available for 142 patients due to loss to follow-up, transfer to a non-participating dialysis unit or patient refusal. Patients were asked about any incidents of vascular access related complications (thrombosis, infection and haemorrhage) and hospitalisation. All vascular access related incidents were recorded and included in the study even if the patient was transplanted or died afterwards.

Ethical approval was granted for the research from the Ministry of Health. The project was approved by the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety. Participants gave written informed consent.

Continuous variables are presented as median and interquartile range and groups were compared using a Mann-Whitney test. Categorical variables were compared using a Chi-square test. Data analysis was performed by using SPSS version 16.0. A p-value of <0.05 was regarded as significant.

7.3. Results

At baseline the majority of patients (91.9%; n=1573) were using permanent vascular access (AVF or AVG) for maintenance HD. Of these, 76 patients were using an AVG (4.4% of the total HD population). Patient characteristics are summarised in Table 7. 1. Patients with AVF were more likely to be male and less likely to be diabetic that those with CVCs. Notably the median dialysis vintage was 10-fold higher in those with permanent vascular access. Patients with AVF had lower pre-dialysis blood pressure and higher haemoglobin than those with CVCs. The use of tunnelled catheters was limited to very few patients, most of them female and over half diabetic.

Characteristics	Types of Vascular Access						
	Permanent Vascular Access n=1573 (91.9)		CVC N=120 (7.1)	Tunnelled Catheter N=19 (1.1)	Total N=1712		
	AVF N=1497	AVG					
	(87.4)	N=76 (4.4)					
Age (years)	49 (36-61)	50 (36-61)	52 (37-64)	44 (26-62)	49 (36-61)		
Male	869 (58)	40 (52.6)	69 (57.5)	7 (36.8)	985 (57.5)		
Female	628 (42)	36 (47.4)	51 (42.5)	12 (63.2)	727 (42.5)		
Duration of dialysis	3 (1-7)	4 (2-7)	0.3 (0.1-0.7)	3 (1-7)	3 (1-6)		
(years) White ethnicity	1304 (89.6)	66 (86.8)	100 (84)	16 (84.2)	1486 (89)		
Black ethnicity	151 (10.4)	10 (13.2)	19 (16)	3 (15.8)	183 (11)		
Current smoker	189 (13.4)	10 (13.3)	7 (6.5)	1 (5.3)	207 (12.9)		
Diabetic	440 (29.4)	28 (36.8)	55 (45.8)	10 (52.6)	533 (31.1)		
Predialysis systolic blood	145 (130-170)	160 (135-173)	150 (130-175)	160 (130-170)	150 (130-170)		
pressure (mmHg) Predialysis diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	81 (80-90)	90 (80-90)	90 (80-100)	85 (70-90)	85 (80-90)		
Body Mass Index in							
Kg/m ²	24.1 (21.3-27.5)	23.3 (20.7-29.5)	24.1 (21.3-27.7)	20.8 (20.2-28.4)	24.1 (21.2-27.6)		
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	10 (8.8-11.4)	9.8 (8.8-11.3)	8.6 (7.6-9.6)	10 (8-11.5)	9.9 (8.7-11.3)		

Table 7. 1: Patient characteristics by vascular access type

Data are median (interquartile range) or number (%) AVF= Arteriovenous fistula

AVG= Arteriovenous graft

-

CVC = central venous catheter (non-tunnelled)

Upper arm permanent vascular access was more common than forearm overall but forearm vascular access was more common in males (<0.001). (figure 7. 1).



Figure 7. 1: Site of permanent vascular access according to gender

Utilisation of vascular access at the start of dialysis showed a strikingly different pattern. Most patients had commenced HD using a temporary CVC (91.8%) and only a small minority with an AVF (7.8%) or AVG (0.4%). None had started HD with a tunnelled catheter. Overall, 1448 patients were admitted to hospital at the time of initiation of HD (87.1%). Figure 7. 2 describes the relationship between the type of vascular access used and duration of HD. Utilisation of AVF for HD increased progressively in those who passed the first year of HD treatment.



Figure 7. 2: The relationship between prevalence of type of vascular access used and dialysis vintage

(TC=tunnelled catheter; CVC=temporary central venous catheter; AVG=arteriovenous graft; AVF=arteriovenous fistula)

The most common vascular access- related complication was thrombosis and this was reported by almost half of patients (46.7%). Moderate to large aneurysm transformation was observed in 22.6% and was more common in males (P=0.003). History of infection was reported by 11.5% while moderate to severe haemorrhage was reported by 10.2%. (figure 7. 3).



Figure 7. 3: Number of haemodialysis patients with permanent vascular access with a history of various types of vascular access related complications

Of those reporting thrombosis, it had occurred once in 57.8%, twice in 24.6% and three or more times in 17.6%. (figure 7. 4).





Factors potentially associated with a history of previous episodes of permanent vascular access thrombosis are shown in Table 7. 2. Patients with a history of vascular access thrombosis tended to be younger, more likely to be female, had a longer dialysis vintage, less likely to smoke, more likely to have upper arm vascular access and had lower predialysis blood pressures.

1573 anges	Thrombosis	No thrombosis N= 838 (53.3%)	
1575 cases	N=735 (46.7%)		
Age (years)	46 (35-60)	50 (37-61)	
Male	354 (48.2)	555 (66.2)	
Female	381 (51.8)	283 (33.8)	
Duration of dialysis (years)	5 (2-9)	2 (1-4)	
White ethnicity	636 (89)	734 (89.6)	
Black ethnicity	76 (11)	85 (10.4)	
Current smoker	77 (11.1)	122 (15.4)	
Forearm location	295 (40.1)	449 (53.6)	
Upper arm location	440 (59.9)	389 (46.4)	
Diabetic	211 (28.7)	257 (30.7)	
Predialysis systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	140 (130-161)	150 (130-170)	
Predialysis diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	80 (80-90)	85 (80-90)	
Body Mass Index in Kg/m ²	23.9 (21-27.5)	24.2 (21.5-27.6)	
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	10 (8.9-11.4)	9.9 (8.7-11.4)	

Table 7. 2: Factors potentially associated with a history of permanent vascular access thrombosis

Data are median (interquartile range) or number (%)

.

Of patients with permanent vascular access, 24.4% reported an admission to hospital due to vascular access related complications during the year prior to interview. The proportion of female patients who reported hospitalisation was greater than males (28.8% vs. 21.3%; p<0.001).

Of those with permanent vascular access at baseline (n=1573), 142 were lost to follow-up. Thus 1431 (78.3%) were interviewed for a second time. Of these, 14.7% reported vascular access thrombosis during the one year study period. Thrombosis with infection was reported by 4.9% and thrombosis after moderate to severe haemorrhage was reported by 2.2%. Thrombosis was more common in female patients (18.1% vs. 12.3%; p=0.001). Hospitalisation for vascular access related complications was reported by 31.4%. Factors potentially associated with incident vascular access thrombosis in 1-year follow up period are shown in Table 7. 3. Those who developed thrombosis were more likely to be female or diabetic, have upper arm vascular access and lower predialysis blood pressures.

1421	Thrombosis	No thrombosis		
1451 cases	N=211 (14.7)	N= 1220 (85.3)	P value	
Age (years)	49 (35-62)	48 (36-61)	0.996	
Male	102 (48.3)	728 (59.7)	0.001	
Female	109 (51.7)	492 (40.3)		
Duration of dialysis (years)	3 (1-7)	3 (1-7)	0.743	
White ethnicity	183 (90.1)	1059 (88.8)		
Black ethnicity	27 (11.4)	133 (11.2)	0.341	
Current smoker	20 (10.8)	168 (14.4)	0.111	
Forearm location	88 (41.7)	593 (48.6)	0.037	
Upper arm location	123 (58.3)	627 (51.4)	0.037	
Diabetic	86 (40.8)	361 (29.6)	0.001	
Predialysis systolic blood pressure		150 (120, 170)	<0.001	
(mmHg)	140 (115-160)	150 (150-170)	<0.001	
Predialysis diastolic blood pressure	80 (70.00)	80 (80 00)	<0.001	
(mmHg)	80 (70-90)	89 (80-90)	<0.001	
Body Mass Index in Kg/m ²	23.6 (20.7-27.9)	24.2 (21.3-27.7)	0.486	
Haemoglobin (g/dl)	9.6 (8.7-10.9)	10 (8.8-11.4)	0.060	

 Table 7. 3: Factors potentially associated with incidence of permanent vascular access thrombosis (1-year follow up)

Data are median (interquartile range) or number (%)

7.4. Discussion

The majority of patients (91.8%) in our study had started their HD therapy by using a temporary CVC. This is undesirable because CVCs are associated with several serious complications including inadequate blood flow, infection and central vein stenosis. Previous studies have found that late referral to a nephrologist is a major determinant of CVC use at initiation of HD and is associated with poorer outcomes. The use of CVCs at the initiation of HD varies in different countries. In the United States almost two thirds of patients initiate HD with a temporary CVC but lower rates were reported in Germany and Japan. In Egypt, only 10.2% of patients had a fistula created before the start of dialysis and a temporary CVC prior to

permanent access was used in 90% of patients (288). A report from a single dialysis unit in Casablanca showed that a temporary CVC was used to initiate HD in 86.3% (287). The high rate of temporary CVC use at the start of HD observed in our study reflects poor predialysis preparation and failure of the health care system to detect CKD before it reaches end-stage. Achieving a placement of permanent vascular access prior to initiation of HD in Libya will require improved screening programmes for CKD and the establishment of comprehensive primary care services as well as improved nephrology and surgical services.

Despite the obstacles to achieving permanent vascular access in Libya, the majority of prevalent HD patients studied (91.9%) had a functioning AVF or AVG. Data from DOPPS III (2005–2007) from 11 countries showed wide variation in vascular access patterns among countries with a highest rate of AVF (91%) in Japan and a lowest rate of AVF (47%) in the United States. The high rate of permanent vascular access use in Libya likely reflects an element of selection since patients who are unable to obtain permanent vascular access are less likely to survive. Our observation that patients with permanent vascular access had a dialysis duration 10-fold that of patients with a CVC supports this conclusion but further prospective research is required to investigate outcomes among those initiating HD with a CVC in Libya. On the other hand, the high utilisation of permanent vascular access reflects determination on the part of dialysis staff and patients to overcome considerable obstacles to achieve AVF or AVG formation, since the necessary surgical services are available in only 15% of centres (241). There is an urgent need to improve surgical services so that permanent vascular access can be more readily offered to all patients. Access to tunnelled dialysis catheters in extremely limited in Libya and they are therefore used by only a small minority.

Patterns of complications related to permanent vascular access are similar to those reported from other countries, with thrombosis the most frequent. Gender differences in site and patency rates of permanent vascular access have been reported by several studies (31, 32, 91, 293, 294) and, similar to our study, many authors have observed that females are less likely than males to have their permanent vascular access placed in the forearm because they have smaller vessels than men (31, 37). Allon et al. reported that women were significantly less likely to have suitable vessels for construction of AVF, when objective preoperative sonographic criteria were used (37). Gender discrepancy was also reported by Miller et al. who reported that

successful AVF formation was less likely be achieved in women despite routine preoperative mapping and frequent interventions to salvage AVF that failed to develop (295).

Diabetes has been identified as a risk factor for reduced utilization of AVF in affected patients (91, 148, 149, 288, 296). The health care financing adminstration in the United States reported that only 22% of diabetic patients receiving HD were using AVF, as compared with 30% of non-diabetic patients (297). There is controversy as to whether diabetes is an independent risk factor for reduced AVF use or is a marker for associated factors such as arteriosclerosis (298). Leapman et al. observed excess poor outcomes with AVF in elderly and diabetic patients (299). Diabetes was found to have an association with cephalic arch stenosis which contributes to thrombosis (300). These observations are important because diabetes is the single most common cause of ESKD in many countries including Libya. Improved surveillance of fistula function in patients with diabetes may help to preserve vascular access function in this important subgroup.

Our study revealed a remarkably high rate of hospitalisation related to vascular access. First, most patients had commenced HD using a temporary CVC and most were hospitalised at the time of initiation of HD. Second, a quarter of HD patients with permanent vascular access as baseline reported a history of admission to hospital due to permanent vascular access related complications during the year preceding the interview. Third, during one year follow up approximately one third of HD patients were admitted to hospital with permanent vascular access related complications. Hospitalisation rates for vascular access related problems are also high in the United States (60, 87, 301). A report by the USRDS (2011) shows that admissions for vascular access related infection have fallen from 2005 to 2009 by 19 % while admissions for sepsis remained high at 108 per 1,000 patient years in 2009 (10). Thus improved provision and maintenance of vascular access could result in considerable reductions in hospitalisations with improved quality of life for patients and reduced cost to the healthcare system.

Several limitations to our study should be conceded. The type and frequency of vascular access related complications were obtained mainly from patient histories because most of the vascular

access related complications were not documented in the medical records. Among prevalent patients dialysis vintage varied widely and there was an element of selection bias since only surviving patients could be included. One hundred and forty two patients were lost to follow up during the 12 month observation period and our data may therefore underestimate the incidence of vascular access related complications in the study population.

7.5. Conclusion

Few patients in Libya initiate HD using a permanent vascular access, but most achieve it thereafter. Attempts to improve the predialysis preparation including creation of definitive vascular access will likely result in improved outcomes and reduce the need for admission to hospital. This will require improved provision of primary care as well as nephrology and surgical services. Monitoring of vascular access to identify those at risk of complications could improve longevity of vascular access and should initially be targeted at females and patients with diabetes. This research was conducted prior to the recent conflict in Libya, which likely has resulted in disruption of nephrology and surgical services. Re-establishment of these services and improved provision of definitive vascular access at more centres should be made a priority in the rebuilding of healthcare in Libya.

Chapter 8

Results

Determinants of survival in patients

receiving dialysis in Libya

8. Determinants of survival in patients receiving dialysis in Libya

8.1. Introduction

Maintenance dialysis sustains life for more than one million patients throughout the world. Nevertheless survival on dialysis is dramatically reduced compared to the general population and is comparable to survival with many forms of cancer. Thus survival is arguably the most important outcome measure for assessing the overall quality of dialysis provision in a centre, region or nation. Previous studies have identified considerable variation in survival rates from different centres (39, 40, 302), influenced by the type of dialysis used (303, 304), demographic and social characteristics of dialysis patients (305, 306), provision of predialysis care and associated comorbidities such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, abnormal bone and mineral metabolism and malignancies (30, 40, 307). The observed variation also suggests that intervention is possible to improve survival. Practice guidelines have been developed to standardise the delivery of dialysis and promote best practice and have likely contributed to improvements in survival rates seen in Europe, Japan and the United States (308).

In Libya, free access to state-funded dialysis has been available for four decades but data regarding outcomes are scarce. A renal registry has not yet been established to collect outcome data and there are no nationally accepted clinical practice guidelines to promote best practice in dialysis care. We therefore aimed to investigate survival rates, determinants of survival and causes of death in Libya's dialysis population.

8.2. Methods

This prospective observational cohort study included all patients treated at dialysis facilities in Libya (n=38/40) aged 16 years or more who had reached at least 90 days of dialysis during May 2009. One dialysis facility was excluded because it provided dialysis only to paediatric patients and another new facility because no patients had been treated for more than 90 days.

Large and medium capacity HD facilities were visited by the researchers in order to collect data. For small and remote facilities, data collection forms were posted to clinical supervisors who were requested to collect information about their patients. They were contacted frequently by phone to deal with any queries related to the required variables. Forms were returned within 30 days. On enrolment, data collected included socio-demographic information, dialysis modality, body weight, height, history of diabetes, type of primary renal disease, haemoglobin concentration, history of previous renal transplantation and date of dialysis initiation. In addition, 1759 patients from 26 centres were interviewed regarding other potential risk factors for mortality. These included modes of presentation with ESKD, clinical history, predialysis systolic and diastolic blood pressure, delivered HD hours per week and results of biochemical tests. Planned onset of dialysis. Physical independency is defined as a normal physical performance without the need for aids or assistance.

Survival was assessed after one year of follow-up. The outcome of all participants was recorded except for patients who received a renal transplant, transferred to another dialysis unit where a follow up could not be determined or recovered renal function. Patients who changed to another dialysis modality were included. Cause of death was recorded from the medical records of patients and grouped into 10 categories. "Unknown" was used when the cause of death could not be identified.

Permission to conduct the study was granted by the Ministry of Health. Ethical approval for the research was obtained from the Libyan National Committee for Bioethics and Bio-safety. Patients each gave written informed consent.

Continuous variables are presented as mean± SD if normally distributed or median and interquartile range if not. Groups were compared using a *t*-test or Mann-Whitney test. Categorical variables were compared using chi-square test. Factors associated with mortality in the univariate analyses were included in a multivariable binary logistic regression analysis to identify independent risk factors for mortality. The exact date of death was not available in many patients and Cox regression models could therefore not be employed. Data analysis was performed by using SPSS version 16.0 (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, United States). A p-value of <0.05 was regarded as significant.

8.3. Results

A total of 2273 patients who had been on dialysis for at least 90 days in 38 dialysis centres were followed up for one year. The mean age was 48.7 ± 15.5 years and 57.1% were males. The majority were receiving HD and only 26 were on PD (1.2%). Sixty-seven patients (3%) received a renal transplant and 46 patients were transferred to another dialysis unit where their follow up could not be confirmed. One patient recovered renal function after 2 years of HD. Thus 2159 patients were successfully followed up and included in the analysis of survival. At the end of the observation period the majority of patients (1697) were still receiving HD while only 4 patients had converted to PD. Four hundred and fifty eight patients died, giving a crude annual mortality rate of 21.2% (HD: 448 of 2133=21.0%; PD: 10 of 26=38.5%).

The highest mortality was observed in the age group 75-84 years (43.3%) whereas the best survival was in the age group 25-34 years (figure 8. 1). The causes of death are shown in figure 8. 2. By far the most common cause of death was cardiovascular disease (ischaemic heart disease 31%; cerebrovascular disease 16%) and infection was the second most common. The mortality rate in the Libya's 38 dialysis centres ranged from 0% to 70%. A particularly high mortality rate of over 30% was observed in 7 centres (figure 8. 3).



Figure 8. 1: 1-year survival (%) among patients who were alive after 90 days of dialysis and number of patients in each age group.



Figure 8. 2: Causes of 1- year mortality in dialysis patients in Libya's dialysis centres





Baseline data are shown in Tables 8. 1 and 8. 2, grouped according to survival status at 1 year. Those who survived were younger, had longer duration of dialysis, lower predialysis systolic blood pressure, more time on HD each week, higher haemoglobin concentration and haematocrit, higher predialysis creatinine and lower predialysis urea. Patients who died were more likely to have had diabetes, past history of cerebrovascular accidents, on HD, be married, have had no higher education, be physically dependent, current smokers and have had unplanned initiation of dialysis.

	Outcome of dialysis patients				
2159	Survived		Died		- P-value
	N=1701		N=458		
	Number*	Value	Number*	Value	
Age in years	1701	46 (34-59)	458	55.7 (46-66)	0.001
Age at onset in years	1701	41 (28-55)	458	54 (42-63)	0.001
Dialysis vintage in years	1701	3 (1-7)	458	2 (1-5)	0.001
Body Mass Index (kg/m ²)	1698	23.7 (20.8-27)	457	23.8 (21-27.6)	0.178
Predialysis systolic blood pressure	1213	140 (130-170)	338	150 (130-170)	0.002
Predialysis diastolic blood pressure	1213	85 (80-90)	338	85 (80-90)	0.300
Haemodialysis hours per week	1167	9.98±2.3	330	9.55±2.4	0.003
Serum Albumin (g/dl)	413	4.4 (3.9-5)	151	3.6 (2.3-4.5)	0.001
Haemoglobin level in g/dl	1701	9.9 (8.8-11.2)	458	9.3 (8.5-10.6)	0.001
Haematocrit (%)	918	25.9 (22-31.9)	245	24.6 (21.8-30)	0.016
Serum Ferritin (ng/mL)	143	83 (42-246)	45	64 (42-141)	0.446
Serum Cholesterol (mg/dl)	433	154 (126-184)	122	142 (120-174)	0.062
Serum Phosphorus (mg/dl)	861	5.5 (4.3-6.8)	234	5.4 (4.2-6.7)	0.568
Serum Calcium (mg/dl)	968	9 (8-9.8)	272	8.8 (7.9-9.6)	0.158
Predialysis creatinine (mg/dl)	982	10.2 (8-12.4)	258	9.4 (7.3-11.7)	0.008
Predialysis urea (mg/dl)	1000	120 (85-154)	296	142 (86-170)	0.001

Table 8. 1: Baseline data grouped according to survival status at 1 year. (Continuous variables)

*Number of patients with valid data for each variable Values are median (interquartile range) or mean± standard deviation

	Outcome of dialysis patients				
	Survived N=1701		Died N=458		- P-value
	Number*	Value (%)	Number*	Value (%)	
Male	1701	962(56.6)	458	271 (59.2)	0.171
Married	1174	793 (67.5)	341	289 (84.8)	0.001
White	1664	1465 (88)	446	379 (85)	0.091
Higher education	1048	430(41)	300	90 (30)	0.001
Physically dependent	1197	303 (25.3)	343	147 (42.9)	0.001
Current smoker	1183	156 (13.2)	332	31 (9.3)	0.034
Diabetic	1701	437 (25.7)	458	223 (48.7)	0.001
Previous cerebrovascular accidents	1241	88 (7.1)	360	71 (19.7)	0.001
Haemodialysis	1701	1685 (99.1)	458	448 (97.8)	0.033
Planned onset of dialysis	1204	79 (6.6)	347	40 (11.5)	0.002

Table 8. 2: Baseline data grouped according to survival status at 1 year.(Categorical variables)

*Number of patients with valid data for each variable

Binary logistic regression analysis was used to identify independent risk factors for increased 1-year mortality. Cases with missing variables were excluded, thus 1189 cases were included in this analysis. Independent variables used in the analysis were: age at onset (years), physically dependent, diabetes, HD hours per week and predialysis urea. Results are shown in Table 8.3.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	HR	95.0% CI	P- value
Age at onset (years)	1.037	1.027-1.047	<0.0001
Physically dependent	1.818	1.333-2.480	<0.0001
Diabetes	1.479	1.078-2.028	0.015
Predialysis urea	1.004	1.001-1.007	0.002

 Table 8. 3: Independent risk factors for increased 1-year mortality in dialysis

 patients

Hosmer and Lemeshow test for goodness of fit P- value =0.995; Nagelkerke R Squared=0.164

8.4. Discussion

This study is the first comprehensive assessment of survival in patients receiving dialysis in Libya. The crude annual mortality rate of 21.2% is similar to that reported in many other countries. A death rate of 26.4% was reported in the Saudi dialysis population (309) while in Jordan the rate was 20% (20). Afifi and Karim reported annual mortality of 11.7% in Egypt (286). In Syria, the three-year survival rate ranged from between 26% to 64% in different dialysis centres (310). A previous study in a single dialysis unit in Libya showed an overall 5-year mortality rate of 51.4% (311) which was higher than the United States and the UK (312). The annual mortality rate in dialysis patients has declined in the United States but it is still high for certain groups, exceeding 20%. In Europe, it has been reported to be 19.8% (313) while in the UK it ranged from 14.6% to 18.4% in different regions (314). In Japan the annual death

rate has improved progressively (315, 316) and recently it has been less than 10% (174). Qatar has also reported a reduction in the annual mortality rate from 11% in 2002 to 7% in 2006 (16).

Despite the apparently favourable comparison with survival on dialysis in other countries, it should be noted that the median age of dialysis patients, an important determinant of survival, is substantially lower in Libya than in most developed nations. Thus survival on dialysis is low compared with many other countries. The reasons for this relatively poor survival require further investigation but it is likely that multiple factors are involved. Our observation that patient who died had lower median hours per week of dialysis and higher predialysis urea suggests that delivered dialysis dose may be one factor. The lower serum albumin and haemoglobin observed in those who died may reflect poorer nutrition and inadequate management of anaemia but both albumin and haemoglobin are negative acute phase reactants and may therefore be a marker of other disease processes that account for increased mortality. Higher predialysis systolic blood pressure in those who died may have contributed to deaths due to cardiovascular disease. Pre-existing medical conditions also increase the risk of mortality on dialysis. Physical dependency, diabetes and previous cerebrovascular events were more common in those who died and the former two factors were independent determinants of survival. Nevertheless, the prevalence of comorbid conditions was relatively low, apart from diabetes. Thus an excess of comorbid conditions is unlikely to explain the observed high mortality rate.

The distribution of causes of death observed in our study was similar to that reported from most other countries (174, 314, 317). In common with almost all previous studies, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease accounted for the majority of deaths and infection was the second most common cause. On the other hand, our results revealed other causes of death which are not common in other countries such as anaemia/ bleeding, malignant hypertension, uraemia and liver failure. Death due to anaemia or bleeding suggests a lack of adequate blood transfusion services as well as inadequate resources for the treatment of anaemia whereas death due to uraemia implies that some patients are severely under-dialysed. It is very likely that some of the deaths due to uraemia result from inadequate dialysis due to a lack of sufficient dialysis capacity in some areas. The observation that sever hypertension is the cause of death in a small number of patients implies that attention to optimising fluid volume

status and treatment of hypertension is inadequate in some centres. Finally, the deaths due to liver failure are likely to have resulted from the very high prevalence of hepatitis C virus infection (31%) observed in dialysis patients in Libya.

Our results show a very wide variation in annual mortality in different units in Libya. The crude mortality rate in 7 units was higher than 30%. It is unlikely that this variation could be attributed wholly to variation in patient demographics or comorbidity profile and it therefore probably reflects variation in practices related to dialysis delivery. The observed variation suggests opportunities for improving outcomes by identifying best practice and standardisation of practice across all centres. At present there are no nationally accepted guidelines for dialysis in Libya and no renal registry to monitor outcomes. Moreover, many dialysis centres lack resources to monitor biochemical indicators and adequate monitoring of dialysis adequacy is achieved in only a minority of patients (241). The development of clinical guidelines for dialysis in Libya or the adoption of a renal registry should be an important medium-term goal. Improve monitoring and treatment of high risk patients may also help to improve survival and our results indicate that efforts should focus on high-risk groups including the elderly, those who are physically dependent and those with diabetes.

Our study has several limitations. A small proportion of patients were lost to follow-up and it is likely that some of these died, implying that our observed annual mortality rate may be slightly lower than the true mortality rate. Medical records were unfortunately incomplete in many cases and we therefore had to rely on patient histories for information regarding past medical history (although the ability to independently corroborate historical data by direct patient interaction may be seen as a strength). Thirdly, the causes of death could not be accurately confirmed as many deaths occurred outside the centre and/or the local hospital. Finally, the short follow-up period enabled us to prospectively determine the crude 1-year mortality rate but a longer study period would provide a more comprehensive description of survival trends.

8.5. Conclusion

Patients receiving dialysis in Libya have a crude 1-year mortality rate similar to most developed countries but the mean age of the dialysis population is much lower and this

outcome is thus relatively poor. As in most countries, cardiovascular disease and infection were the most common causes of death. Variation in mortality rates between different centres suggests that survival could be improved by promoting standardisation of best practise.

Chapter 9

Discussion, conclusion, limitations,

implication and future work

9. Discussion, conclusion, limitations, implication and future work

9.1. Discussion

We aimed to undertake a comprehensive description to the epidemiology of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya and assess the provision of dialysis services in the country. Libya is a low populated medium developed country and is the 4th largest country in Africa. Most people live in the North of the country but there are many small communities scattered throughout the country which represent a challenge to health care authorities to deliver high quality services to minorities in remote places especially in the Sahara. Large distances between cities create difficulties in terms of providing necessary staff and regular supplies as well as maintenance services (318-320).

Initially, we assessed the feasibility of using information from the Ministry of Health and the national drug and medical supplies company. Therefore, we contacted them to obtain an updated list of the functioning maintenance dialysis facilities in the country as well as the number of patients receiving treatment in each facility. We were surprised to discover that this information was not held by the Ministry. Moreover, there was no renal registry or any alternative body monitoring the delivery of dialysis treatment. We found that there were no clear means of communication between the Ministry of Health and dialysis centres or between dialysis centres themselves. There were no contact details available for most dialysis facilities. Therefore, we created the first comprehensive list of dialysis facilities and their contact details by contacting each hospital in the country to enquire about provision of dialysis services either within the hospital or as a satellite unit supervised by the hospital. In addition, we tracked the delivery of dialysis consumables from the main stores to the distribution points. Finally, we identified 40 functioning maintenance dialysis facilities by May 2009 (one of them serving children only). We established communications with the clinical managers in each facility and contacted them by mobile telephone. This initial phase of the study therefore identified a major

weakness in the provision of dialysis in Libya, namely a lack of central co-ordination of services and monitoring of quality or outcomes. It is vital that this shortcoming is overcome if the quality of dialysis provision is to be improved. Establishing the first comprehensive list of facilities and their contact details through this study will hopefully be the first step in this improvement.

After initial assessment through field visits to 5 dialysis facilities, we realised that we would have to collect the required data in person rather than depending on local dialysis staff to provide us with information about each dialysis patient. This decision was taken to ensure the validity and consistency of information and also because we found that dialysis staff in the large capacity facilities were very busy and could not find time to collect and document the required information. Another important consideration was the observed low quality of medical records, which were often incomplete; necessitating the use of alternative sources such as patient interviews, biochemical results folders and staff interviews (we observed that many dialysis nurses have good knowledge of their chronic dialysis patients). Therefore we set a time table and arranged visits with the clinical managers of 28 facilities. We travelled throughout the country and visited all medium and large size maintenance dialysis facilities (n=28) where we interviewed the clinical managers as well as all patients. We relied on telephone phone interview for the remaining small facilities to collect the required information about the dialysis provision and sent data collection forms to be completed by the staff in these facilities.

Our results showed that maintenance dialysis was provided in all regions of Libya. Services were freely accessible for all nationals as well as residents. Non- residents were charged for treatment. Maintenance dialysis was provided only by the public sector. All supplies and consumables were imported from overseas through a single provider (Ministry of Health) who contracted with different producers. The supplies and consumables were unloaded in a central store in Tripoli then distributed to 3 main regional stores for distribution. All facilities provided HD but only three provided CAPD to a minority of patients. Large capacity, purpose built facilities were located in the 2 main cities, Tripoli and Benghazi. However, most dialysis facilities in the country were in buildings originally built for a different purpose. To respond to increasing demand on dialysis, almost all dialysis facilities has undergone expansion by fitting

in more HD stations at the expense of space. Work load varied widely where some dialysis facilities were working to maximum capacity while others run only a few sessions per week. This practice reflects lack of integration in health care planning. There were a considerable number of HD machines in the facilities but many of them were non-functioning. Weak technical support particularly in remote areas resulted in an accumulation of non functioning HD machines in each facility which is a waste of health care resources. For example, 28% of HD machines in the Southern region of the country were non-functioning. All dialysis facilities reported intermittent shortage of most types of medication, supplies and reagents needed for laboratory testing. Managers solve these problems by a variety of approaches including borrowing supplies from other dialysis facilities, temporarily reducing the frequency of dialysis, asking patients to buy the needed medication or laboratory testing on their own expenses from the private sector. Interrupted supplies reduce the quality the services and reflect suboptimal organisation of the health care system.

We also observed that the number of expert nephrologists was extremely low and most patients were managed by internists and untrained medical graduates. The deficiency of expert nephrologists in the country reflects defective planning of graduate educational training. We observed that the ongoing patient management was mostly delivered by nurses. In the Southern region, there were two centres completely run by nurses.

Furthermore, our study showed that there are no national dialysis practice guidelines in use. Only a few practitioners were familiar with the NKF/KDOQI guidelines and they reported that they could not apply most of them due to local constricts such as interruption of supplies and medication. Lack of clinical practice guidelines, deficient training and lack of auditing in Libya have resulted in variable approaches to dialysis patient management. We observed that the majority of practitioners in dialysis centres relied on clinical monitoring and monthly predialysis urea concentration measurements which are an unreliable measure of dialysis adequacy. The use of the most widely accepted measure of dialysis adequacy Kt/v was limited to small numbers of patients, despite capacity for online measurement of Kt/v being available in most HD machine types used in Libya. The approach to biochemical assessment also varied widely where a number of facilities were not monitoring serum ferritin and total iron binding capacity, serum calcium and phosphorus, serum albumin and parathyroid hormone either due

to lack of facilities and/or lack of knowledge. We also observed a severe shortage of dieticians and social workers as well as educational materials in most facilities.

Other findings were that there were no water quality analysis reports in any dialysis facilities. In quarter of dialysis facilities, water samples for biological quality were collected during the year prior to the study but results were never reported. Furthermore, we found that the large amount of waste generated from daily dialysis activities was mostly treated by dumping or open air incineration alongside the domestic waste, creating a significant environmental hazard. (figure 9.1)



Figure 9. 1: waste generated from daily dialysis activities collected in the backyard of a dialysis centre (Tripoli)

In the epidemiological study, we collected baseline information on all adults who were receiving maintenance dialysis in Libya. We could not access information about the cases of ESKD who were transplanted or died before being referred to maintenance dialysis facilities because of the lack of a registry for such cases. Therefore, the incidence of ESKD we observed probably underestimates the true incidence of ESKD. We interviewed all patients who gave

consent, n=1766 patients (73.1% of all adult dialysis- treated patients in Libya) from 28 dialysis facilities and we collected additional information from their medical records and treating staff. We applied a structured questionnaire which enabled us to gather a wide range of epidemiological and medical information as well as information about specific aspects in dialysis including HBV and/or HCV infection and vascular access. We gathered data from the small facilities by sending data collection forms for completion by staff and added them to the information collected through field visits. We ultimately managed to determine the prevalence and causes of ESKD in adult patients receiving maintenance dialysis in Libya in August 2009. At the same time, we established a prospective collection of information about all new patients who started dialysis from September 2009 to August 2010 in order to determine the incidence of dialysis-treated ESKD in Libya.

Our results showed a remarkably higher prevalence of ESKD (624 pmp) than the rates observed in other countries in the Middle East region despite racial, socioeconomic and environmental similarities. Most prevalent patients were of economically active age with peak prevalence rate at 55-64 years. The diagnosis of primary kidney disease was clinical in most cases. Reasons for reliance on clinical rather than histological diagnoses include lack of guidelines, limited resources and pathology services and late presentation of patients with ESKD. Accurate diagnoses supported by histopathology reports were found in only a few patients. Diabetes was the most important cause of ESKD affecting 41.1% of those who were 50 years or more. The high prevalence of diabetes in the general population could be an important reason for high prevalence of ESKD observed in Libya, although the prevalence of diabetes is even higher in other Middle Eastern countries. Weak PHC and poor management of diabetes may contribute to the high risk for acquiring ESKD. Another interesting observation was the high proportion of ESKD caused by congenital and hereditary diseases in addition to polycystic kidney disease. The burden of these diseases could be reduced by genetic counselling and early management. However, weak preventive services in Libya and limited access to genetic counselling likely contribute to the observed high prevalence rate.

We found a high incidence rate for ESKD (282 pmp) during our 1-year follow up study. The number of new patients starting dialysis in one year was 45% of the prevalent number at baseline. This rate is among the highest in the world, only slightly lower than in Japan (287
pmp) despite a substantially lower median age for the general population in Libya. Moreover, our incidence rate was approximately double the rate reported from neighbouring Tunisia despite cultural and economic similarities between the countries. Our results also showed substantial differences between regions, with the highest incidence rate of 617 pmp observed in the South of Libya. The Southern region is the lowest populated area in the country and is the most socially and economically deprived region. It is also inhibited by a mix of people originating from different tribes. Racial disparities and social deprivation have been described as a risk factor for ESKD due to poverty, malnutrition, low educational levels, exposure to heavy metals and limited access to healthcare (321, 322).

While assessing the provision of dialysis services in Libya, we observed that staff were applying variable practices to control nosocomial transmission of infection. Again, there were no guidelines to direct infection control measures. Nevertheless, sero-positive patients were dialysed on dedicated machines either in an isolation area or alongside sero-negative patients if space did not allow isolation. There were no previous reports about the prevalence, incidence and risk factors of HBV and/or HCV infections in the HD population of Libya. Therefore, in this part of the study, we focused on these infections. We included all adult patients receiving maintenance HD during May 2009 in all centres over the country (n=2382) and excluded CAPD-treated patients. We found that the overall prevalence of HBV and/or HCV infections in HD population was 34.9%. However, the prevalence of HBV infection was similar to the general population of Libya despite our previous observation that HBV vaccination was administered in only 26% of dialysis centres. On the other hand, the prevalence of anti-HCV antibodies observed in patients receiving HD (31.1%) was remarkably high and is approximately 25 times higher than in the general population. Additionally, we observed that sero-positive patients had a longer time on dialysis and more previous blood transfusions which were highly suggestive of nosocomial transmission. Moreover, we observed that the prevalence of HBV±HCV infection varied widely between HD centres from 0% to 75.9%, implying that variable infection control measures contributes to variable rates of nosocomial infection.

To determine the incidence of new HBV and/or HCV infections during 1 year, we followed up all previously interviewed sero-negative HD patients. Our results revealed an incidence of sero-conversion of 7.7% during 1 year (7.1% HCV; 0.6% HBV). The rate of new HCV infections was more than rates reported in dialysis patients in many other countries. Wide variation in rates of newly acquired infections was observed between dialysis centres. All new HBV cases were referred from centres already treating HBV infected patients, suggesting cross infection between patients in the same dialysis centre. New HCV infections were reported in most centres but the rate of HCV sero-conversion varied widely from 1.5% to 31%. This result might reflect variation in nosocomial control polices between centres as well as anaemia management and quality of blood screening procedures. Risk factors significantly associated with sero-conversion included; duration of dialysis, history of previous renal transplant and history of receiving HD in another centre in Libya.

We explored the patterns of vascular access in patients receiving maintenance HD in Libya by analysing information about 1712 HD patients who were interviewed in 25 HD facilities. Our results showed that the majority of HD patients were using permanent vascular access in the form of AVF. AVG use was very limited to only 4.4% of total number of patients included in this part of the study. High achievement of AVF use was found despite our previous observation that only 15% of dialysis facilities in Libya were providing permanent vascular access services. Nevertheless, our results showed that most HD patients had commenced their treatment via a temporary CVC which reflects poor predialysis preparation and inability of the health care system to detect cases of CKD early and refer them for management in a specialist service when appropriate. The problem is further exacerbated by limited access to vascular surgery resulting from shortage of trained surgeons in this field as well as a shortage of radiological equipment needed for assessment and vascular mapping. Our results show that permanent vascular access was more likely to be placed in the forearm in males as compared to females. Results also showed that the thrombosis rate of both forearm and upper arm fistula was less in males as compared to females.

We further assessed outcomes related to vascular access in 1-year follow up study. All patients who were using permanent vascular access for dialysis at the time of the first interview were included. Results showed that the incidence of permanent VA thrombosis was 14.7% and was significantly more common among female patients. Hospitalisation for vascular access related complications was reported by 31.4% during the 1-year period.

The final step in our study was to determine the outcome of all patients who were receiving maintenance dialysis during May 2009 after monitoring them for 1-year period. Our results showed that the annual crude mortality rate (21.2%) was within the range reported in many developed countries but the mean age of the dialysis population in Libya was approximately 2 decades lower than these countries and the survival rate is therefore relatively poor. Patient characteristics that were identified by binary logistic regression analysis as independent determinants of increased mortality included; age at onset of dialysis, physical dependency, diabetes and elevated predialysis urea.

The unsatisfactory survival rate on dialysis could be explained by multiple factors including lack of training, auditing and communication between centres, shortage of qualified nephrologists and deficient monitoring of the biochemical indicators. We observed that dialysis practices in Libya were outdated in most facilities and inherited unsatisfactory practices were common. The suboptimal monitoring of dialysis patients was reflected by high median blood pressure values, low time on HD per week, low haemoglobin and haematocrit concentrations and low serum albumin concentration. Our results showed that there was large variation in mortality rates between different centres with annual mortality rates reaching 70% in a few centres.

9.2. Conclusion

ESKD in Libya is a major health problem where the incidence rate is among the highest in the world. Despite rapid expansion of dialysis services throughout the country, our study has identified that many aspects of dialysis provision are suboptimal and that outcomes are relatively poor. We have identified several major challenges to improving the quality of dialysis provision including lack of dialysis practice guidelines, absence of auditing and quality control and limited access to kidney transplantation. As Libya reorganises its health services in the post-conflict period it is hoped that this study will be the first step in establishing a renal registry and that the areas of concern highlighted will prompt the implementation of national clinical practice guidelines for dialysis.

9.3. Limitations

While this study has provided the first nationwide description of the epidemiology and treatment of dialysis- treated ESKD in adult population of Libya, there were a number of limitations that should be conceded. Researchers faced difficulties in collecting data because the medical records maintained by most dialysis facilities included only details of dialysis treatments. Information related to past medical history, diagnosis of primary kidney disease, co-morbidities, complications and hospitalisations as well as biochemical investigations was generally held in hospital inpatient records. Thus researchers frequently were forced to use other sources such as patients and staff interviews as well as collecting information from hospital archives. When assessing vascular access-related complications we mostly relied on information obtained from patients and staff rather than medical or laboratory reports. Cause of death was also often obtained from the staff when not documented in the medical records.

We could not obtain detailed data for the 35 patients who were receiving CAPD in Libya because of deficient medical records which could not be overcome by interviewing patients as these patients attend the dialysis facilities only once monthly.

Because of time, resource and transport constrains we could not visit 12 small capacity dialysis facilities. We collected information through pre-prepared data collection forms and frequent phone calls. Most of these facilities are in remote and deprived areas and are among the dialysis facilities with poorest outcomes. Despite observing clear ethnic variation in the incidence and prevalence of ESKD, we could not determine exact rates in minority populations in Libya as the information about ethnic distribution of the general population is not documented in the national statistics. Reporting HBV and/or HCV infections and seroconversion was based on serological testing which was done in local laboratories and it is likely that there was some variation in the quality of testing. Testing for HCV relied on a third generation ELISA to detect anti-HCV antibodies and was recorded in each patient's medical record but confirmation or genotyping with PCR was not available.

9.4. Implications

This study has several important implications for health care policy-makers and managers of dialysis facilities. Despite adequate funding for dialysis services and rapid expansion to meet the population's needs, we have identified numerous severe deficiencies in the current system:

- The healthcare service currently does not have adequate systems in place to detect and treat CKD in its early stages. Investing in primary preventive services to reduce the incidence of ESKD is cost-effective because of the high cost of dialysis and transplantation. Common approaches include community based health education programmes and equipping PHC services to identify patients with CKD and treat them at an early stage. Clear referral guidelines will promote timely referral for dialysis preparation and reduce the number of unplanned dialysis initiations.
- We have observed wide variations in practice as well as outcomes between dialysis facilities. The development and implementation of dialysis practice guidelines will standardise best practice and improve the quality of dialysis provision.
- The establishment of a national renal registry and standardisation of medical records should be regarded as an urgent priority. Analysis of data returns acts as a valuable feedback tool for patients, staff and providers in dialysis facilities. Moreover, it yields longitudinal descriptions of ESKD trends as well as treatment and assists national and international comparisons.

9.5. Future work

Our findings have highlighted the need for more studies in this field because it generated several unanswered questions, including;

• ESKD usually represents the "tip of the iceberg" of CKD in a community. Therefore, population-based studies are required to describe the extent of CKD in Libya to plan preventive and therapeutic services for affected people.

- The contribution of congenital and hereditary diseases to incidence and prevalence of ESKD reported in this study is relatively high. An investigation of modes of inheritance and the role of consanguity might help in planning counselling services.
- We have reported a very high prevalence and incidence of HCV infection in dialysis facilities. This should prompt an urgent detailed assessment of infection control procedures and implementation of best practice in all centres.
- Further studies are needed to investigate practices relating to the disposal of dialysisrelated medical waste to improve safe practice and reduce the impact on the environment.
- Our finding that no chemical or biological monitoring of dialysis water quality was reported to dialysis facilities warrants prompt investigation.
- Providing maintenance dialysis is a multidisciplinary task. We reported suboptimal staffing including; shortage of trained nephrologists, social workers, dieticians and vascular access surgeons and coordinators. More studies are needed to explore the obstacles to providing necessary staffing.
- Fortunately, our second round of data collection ended one month before the revolution and associated war in Libya. The impact of the conflict on dialysis provision and outcomes should now be investigated.

Chapter 10

References

10. References

1 K/DOQI. K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002;**39**(2 Suppl 1):S1-266.

2 Levey AS, Coresh J, Balk E, et al. National Kidney Foundation practice guidelines for chronic kidney disease: evaluation, classification, and stratification. Annals of internal medicine. 2003 Jul 15;139(2):137-47.

3 Stevens LA, Levey AS. Measured GFR as a confirmatory test for estimated GFR. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009 Nov;**20**(11):2305-13.

4 Stevens LA, Coresh J, Greene T, Levey AS. Assessing kidney function--measured and estimated glomerular filtration rate. N Engl J Med. 2006 Jun 8;354(23):2473-83.

5 Eggers PW. Has the incidence of end-stage renal disease in the USA and other countries stabilized? Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2011 May;**20**(3):241-5.

6 El Nahas M. The global challenge of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2005 Dec;68(6):2918-29.

7 Barsoum RS. Chronic kidney disease in the developing world. N Engl J Med. 2006 Mar 9;354(10):997-9.

8 Jha V. Current status of chronic kidney disease care in southeast Asia. Seminars in nephrology. 2009 Sep;29(5):487-96.

9 Naicker S. End-stage renal disease in sub-Saharan and South Africa. Kidney Int Suppl. 2003 Feb(83):S119-22.

10 Collins AJ, Foley RN, Chavers B, et al. 'United States Renal Data System 2011 Annual Data Report: Atlas of chronic kidney disease & end-stage renal disease in the United States. Am J Kidney Dis. 2012 Jan;59(1 Suppl 1):A7, e1-420.

11 ERA-EDTA Registry Annual Report 2009. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: Academic Medical Center, Department of Medical Informatics; 2011.

12 Gilg J, Castledine C, Fogarty D, Feest T. UK Renal Registry 13th Annual Report (December 2010): chapter 1: UK RRT Incidence in 2009: national and centre-specific analyses; 2010.

13 McDonald S, Excell L. The Thirty Third Report (2010) Australia and New Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry. Adelaide, South Australia. ; 2010.

14 Finne P, Reunanen A, Stenman S, Groop PH, Gronhagen-Riska C. Incidence of end-stage renal disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2005 Oct 12;**294**(14):1782-7.

15 Ngo LY, Ghazali A, Meng OL, Guat LD. 18th Report of the Malaysian Dialysis and Transplantation Registry 2010 Kuala Lampur Malaysia 2011.

16 Shigidi MM, Ramachandiran G, Rashed AH, Fituri OM. Demographic data and hemodialysis population dynamics in Qatar: A five year survey. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2009 May;**20**(3):493-500.

17 Counil E, Cherni N, Kharrat M, Achour A, Trimech H. Trends of incident dialysis patients in Tunisia between 1992 and 2001. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008 Mar;51(3):463-70.

18 Prabahar MR, Chandrasekaran V, Soundararajan P. Epidemic of chronic kidney disease in India -what can be done? Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2008 Sep;19(5):847-53.

19 SCOT. Saudi Centre for Organ Transplantation- Annual Report 2009; 2009.

20 Batieha A, Abdallah S, Maghaireh M, et al. Epidemiology and cost of haemodialysis in Jordan. Eastern Mediterranean health journal = La revue de sante de la Mediterranee orientale = al-Majallah al-sihhiyah li-sharq al-mutawassit. 2007 May-Jun;13(3):654-63.

21 Moukeh G, Yacoub R, Fahdi F, Rastam S, Albitar S. Epidemiology of hemodialysis patients in Aleppo city. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2009 Jan;**20**(1):140-6.

22 Modi GK, Jha V. The incidence of end-stage renal disease in India: a population-based study. Kidney Int. 2006 Dec;**70**(12):2131-3.

23 Steenkamp R, Castledine C, Feest T, Fogarty D. UK Renal Registry 13th Annual Report (December 2010): Chapter 2: UK RRT prevalence in 2009: national and centre-specific analyses. Nephron Clin Pract. 2011;119 Suppl 2:c27-52.

24 Abboud O. Incidence, prevalence, and treatment of end-stage renal disease in the Middle East. Ethn Dis. 2006 Spring;16(2 Suppl 2):S2--4.

25 Najafi I. Peritoneal dialysis in iran and the middle East. Perit Dial Int. 2009 Feb;29 Suppl 2:S217-21.

26 El Minshawy O. End-stage renal disease in the El-Minia Governorate, upper Egypt: an epidemiological study. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2011 Sep;**22**(5):1048-54.

27 Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Shaw J. Global and societal implications of the diabetes epidemic. Nature. 2001 Dec 13;414(6865):782-7.

28 Atkins RC, Zimmet P. World Kidney Day 2010: diabetic kidney disease--act now or pay later. Am J Kidney Dis. 2010 Feb;55(2):205-8.

29 Haroun MK, Jaar BG, Hoffman SC, Comstock GW, Klag MJ, Coresh J. Risk factors for chronic kidney disease: a prospective study of 23,534 men and women in Washington County, Maryland. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2003 Nov;14(11):2934-41.

30 Hsu CY, Bates DW, Kuperman GJ, Curhan GC. Diabetes, hemoglobin A(1c), cholesterol, and the risk of moderate chronic renal insufficiency in an ambulatory population. Am J Kidney Dis. 2000 Aug;**36**(2):272-81.

31 Lewis EJ, Hunsicker LG, Bain RP, Rohde RD. The effect of angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibition on diabetic nephropathy. The Collaborative Study Group. The New England journal of medicine. 1993 Nov 11;**329**(20):1456-62.

32 Barbosa J, Steffes MW, Sutherland DE, Connett JE, Rao KV, Mauer SM. Effect of glycemic control on early diabetic renal lesions. A 5-year randomized controlled clinical trial of insulin-dependent diabetic kidney transplant recipients. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 1994 Aug 24-31;272(8):600-6.

33 Parving HH, Hommel E, Mathiesen E, et al. Prevalence of microalbuminuria, arterial hypertension, retinopathy and neuropathy in patients with insulin dependent diabetes. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 1988 Jan 16;296(6616):156-60.

34 Huang ES, Basu A, O'Grady M, Capretta JC. Projecting the future diabetes population size and related costs for the U.S. Diabetes Care. 2009 Dec;32(12):2225-9.

35 Mahdavi-Mazdeh M, Zamyadi M, Nafar M. Assessment of management and treatment responses in haemodialysis patients from Tehran province, Iran. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008 Jan;23(1):288-93.

36 Utas C. The development of PD in Turkey. Perit Dial Int. 2008 May-Jun;28(3):217-9.

37 Iseki K, Iseki C, Ikemiya Y, Fukiyama K. Risk of developing end-stage renal disease in a cohort of mass screening. Kidney Int. 1996 Mar;49(3):800-5.

38 Fox CS, Larson MG, Leip EP, Culleton B, Wilson PW, Levy D. Predictors of new-onset kidney disease in a community-based population. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2004 Feb 18;291(7):844-50.

39 Klag MJ, Whelton PK, Randall BL, et al. Blood pressure and end-stage renal disease in men. The New England journal of medicine. 1996 Jan 4;334(1):13-8.

40 Retnakaran R, Cull CA, Thorne KI, Adler AI, Holman RR. Risk factors for renal dysfunction in type 2 diabetes: U.K. Prospective Diabetes Study 74. Diabetes. 2006 Jun;55(6):1832-9.

41 Hsu CY, McCulloch CE, Darbinian J, Go AS, Iribarren C. Elevated blood pressure and risk of end-stage renal disease in subjects without baseline kidney disease. Archives of internal medicine. 2005 Apr 25;165(8):923-8.

42 Kearney PM, Whelton M, Reynolds K, Muntner P, Whelton PK, He J. Global burden of hypertension: analysis of worldwide data. Lancet. 2005 Jan 15-21;365(9455):217-23.

43 Zhang AH, Zhong H, Tang W, et al. Establishing a renal management clinic in China: initiative, challenges, and opportunities. Int Urol Nephrol. 2008;40(4):1053-8.

44 El-Reshaid W, El-Reshaid K, Kapoor M, Hakim A. Chronic renal disease in Kuwaiti nationals: a prospective study during the past 4 years. Ren Fail. 2005;27(2):227-33.

45 Cerdas M. Chronic kidney disease in Costa Rica. Kidney Int Suppl. 2005 Aug(97):S31-3.

46 Badheeb AM. Causes of Chronic Renal Failure in Hemodialysis Unit: a single center experience in Yemen. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2006 Mar;17(1):66-9.

47 Gooneratne IK, Ranaweera AK, Liyanarachchi NP, Gunawardane N, Lanerolle RD.
Epidemiology of chronic kidney disease in a Sri Lankan population. Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries.
2008 Apr;28(2):60-4.

48 Rizvi SA, Manzoor K. Causes of chronic renal failure in pakistan: a single large center experience. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2002 Jul-Sep;13(3):376-9.

49 Freedman BI, Volkova NV, Satko SG, et al. Population-based screening for family history of end-stage renal disease among incident dialysis patients. Am J Nephrol. 2005 Nov-Dec;25(6):529-35.

50 Jurkovitz C, Franch H, Shoham D, Bellenger J, McClellan W. Family members of patients treated for ESRD have high rates of undetected kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Dec;40(6):1173-8.

51 Bener A, Hussain R, Teebi AS. Consanguineous marriages and their effects on common adult diseases: studies from an endogamous population. Medical principles and practice : international journal of the Kuwait University, Health Science Centre. 2007;16(4):262-7.

52 Barbari A, Stephan A, Masri M, et al. Consanguinity-associated kidney diseases in Lebanon: an epidemiological study. Mol Immunol. 2003 Jul;39(17-18):1109-14.

53 Hassan MO, Jaju D, Albarwani S, et al. Non-dipping blood pressure in the metabolic syndrome among Arabs of the Oman family study. Obesity 2007 Oct;15(10):2445-53.

54 Srivastava T. Nondiabetic consequences of obesity on kidney. Pediatr Nephrol. 2006 Apr;21(4):463-70.

55 Iseki K. Factors influencing the development of end-stage renal disease. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2005 Mar;9(1):5-14.

56 Gelber RP, Kurth T, Kausz AT, et al. Association between body mass index and CKD in apparently healthy men. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Nov;46(5):871-80.

57 Jungers P, Zingraff J, Page B, Albouze G, Hannedouche T, Man NK. Detrimental effects of late referral in patients with chronic renal failure: a case-control study. Kidney Int Suppl. 1993 Jun;41:S170-3.

58 Shiao CC, Huang JW, Chien KL, Chuang HF, Chen YM, Wu KD. Early initiation of dialysis and late implantation of catheters adversely affect outcomes of patients on chronic peritoneal dialysis. Perit Dial Int. 2008 Jan-Feb;28(1):73-81.

59 Schon D, Blume SW, Niebauer K, Hollenbeak CS, de Lissovoy G. Increasing the use of arteriovenous fistula in hemodialysis: economic benefits and economic barriers. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007 Mar;2(2):268-76.

60 Ng LJ, Chen F, Pisoni RL, et al. Hospitalization risks related to vascular access type among incident US hemodialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011 Nov;26(11):3659-66.

61 Schwenger V, Morath C, Hofmann A, Hoffmann O, Zeier M, Ritz E. Late referral--a major cause of poor outcome in the very elderly dialysis patient. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2006 Apr;**21**(4):962-7.

62 Kessler M, Frimat L, Panescu V, Briancon S. Impact of nephrology referral on early and midterm outcomes in ESRD: EPidemiologie de l'Insuffisance REnale chronique terminale en Lorraine (EPIREL): results of a 2-year, prospective, community-based study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003 Sep;42(3):474-85.

63 Leung DK. Psychosocial aspects in renal patients. Perit Dial Int. 2003 Dec;23 Suppl 2:S904.

64 Haq I, Zainulabdin F, Naqvi A, Rizvi AH, Ahmed SH. Psychosocial aspects of dialysis and renal transplant. JPMA The Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association. 1991 May;41(5):99-100.

65 Cukor D, Cohen SD, Peterson RA, Kimmel PL. Psychosocial aspects of chronic disease: ESRD as a paradigmatic illness. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2007 Dec;18(12):3042-55.

66 Panagopoulou A, Hardalias A, Berati S, Fourtounas C. Psychosocial issues and quality of life in patients on renal replacement therapy. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2009 Mar;**20**(2):212-8.

67 Palmer BF. Sexual dysfunction in uremia. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 1999 Jun;10(6):1381-8.

68 Palmer BF. Sexual dysfunction in men and women with chronic kidney disease and endstage kidney disease. Advances in renal replacement therapy. 2003 Jan;10(1):48-60.

69 Painter P. Physical functioning in end-stage renal disease patients: update 2005. Hemodial Int. 2005 Jul;9(3):218-35.

70 Goldstein S, Winston E, Chung TJ, Chopra S, Pariser K. Chronic arthropathy in long-term hemodialysis. The American journal of medicine. 1985 Jan;78(1):82-6.

71 Fenves A, Varga J. Chronic arthropathy in long-term hemodialysis. The American journal of medicine. 1986 Mar;80(3):A69, A81.

72 Graham T. The Bakerian lecture: Osmotic force Philos Trans R Soc Lond 1854(144):117-28.

73 Graham T. Liquid diffusion applied to analysis. Philos Trans R Soc Lond 1861(151):183.

74 Abel J, Roundtree L, Turner B. On the removal of diffusible substances from the circulating blood of living animals by dialysis. J Pharmacol Exp Ther. 1914(5):275-316.

75 Haas G. Versuche der Blutauswaschung am Lebenden mit Hilfe der Dialyse. Klin Wochenschrift 1925(4):13.

76 Benedum J. Pioneer of dialysis, George Haas (1886-1971). Med Hist. 1979(14):196-217.

77 Thalheimer W. Experimental exchange transfusion for reducing azotemia: Use of the artificial kidney for this purpose. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1937(37):641-3.

78 Kolff WJ, Berk HT. The artificial kidney: A dialyzer with a great area. Acta Med Scand 1944(117):121-34.

79 Quinton W, Dillard D, Scribner BH. Cannulation of blood vessels for prolonged hemodialysis. Transactions - American Society for Artificial Internal Organs. 1960 Apr 10-11;6:104-13.

80 Brescia MJ, Cimino JE, Appel K, Hurwich BJ. Chronic hemodialysis using venipuncture and a surgically created arteriovenous fistula. The New England journal of medicine. 1966 Nov 17;275(20):1089-92.

81 Man NK, Fournier G, Thireau P, Gaillard JL, Funck-Brentano JL. Effect of bicarbonatecontaining dialysate on chronic hemodialysis patients: a comparative study. Artificial organs. 1982 Nov;6(4):421-8.

82 Anel RL, Yevzlin AS, Ivanovich P. Vascular access and patient outcomes in hemodialysis: questions answered in recent literature. Artif Organs. 2003 Mar;27(3):237-41.

83 Allon M, Robbin ML. Increasing arteriovenous fistulas in hemodialysis patients: problems and solutions. Kidney Int. 2002 Oct;**62**(4):1109-24.

84 Dhingra RK, Young EW, Hulbert-Shearon TE, Leavey SF, Port FK. Type of vascular access and mortality in U.S. hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 2001 Oct;60(4):1443-51.

85 Dixon BS, Novak L, Fangman J. Hemodialysis vascular access survival: upper-arm native arteriovenous fistula. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Jan;**39**(1):92-101.

86 Ascher E, Gade P, Hingorani A, et al. Changes in the practice of angioaccess surgery: impact of dialysis outcome and quality initiative recommendations. Journal of vascular surgery : official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery [and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter. 2000 Jan;**31**(1 Pt 1):84-92.

87 Feldman HI, Kobrin S, Wasserstein A. Hemodialysis vascular access morbidity. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1996 Apr;7(4):523-35.

88 Ocak G, Halbesma N, le Cessie S, et al. Haemodialysis catheters increase mortality as compared to arteriovenous accesses especially in elderly patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2011 Aug;26(8):2611-7.

89 Astor BC, Eustace JA, Powe NR, Klag MJ, Fink NE, Coresh J. Type of vascular access and survival among incident hemodialysis patients: the Choices for Healthy Outcomes in Caring for ESRD (CHOICE) Study. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2005 May;16(5):1449-55.

90 Xue JL, Dahl D, Ebben JP, Collins AJ. The association of initial hemodialysis access type with mortality outcomes in elderly Medicare ESRD patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2003 Nov;42(5):1013-9.

91 Allon M. Current management of vascular access. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2007 Jul;2(4):786-800.

92 Miller CD, Robbin ML, Allon M. Gender differences in outcomes of arteriovenous fistulas in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 2003 Jan;63(1):346-52.

93 KDOQI Clinical practice guidelines for vascular access. Am J Kidney Dis. 2006 Jul;48 Suppl 1:S176-247.

94 Parker TF, 3rd. Technical advances in hemodialysis therapy. Semin Dial. 2000 Nov-Dec;13(6):372-7.

95 Davenport A, Gura V, Ronco C, Beizai M, Ezon C, Rambod E. A wearable haemodialysis device for patients with end-stage renal failure: a pilot study. Lancet. 2007 Dec 15;370(9604):2005-10.

96 Sarnak MJ, Levey AS. Epidemiology, diagnosis, and management of cardiac disease in chronic renal disease. Journal of thrombosis and thrombolysis. 2000 Oct;10(2):169-80.

97 Fagugli RM, Reboldi G, Quintaliani G, et al. Short daily hemodialysis: blood pressure control and left ventricular mass reduction in hypertensive hemodialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2001 Aug;**38**(2):371-6.

98 Ayus JC, Mizani MR, Achinger SG, Thadhani R, Go AS, Lee S. Effects of short daily versus conventional hemodialysis on left ventricular hypertrophy and inflammatory markers: a prospective, controlled study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005 Sep;16(9):2778-88.

99 Galland R, Traeger J, Arkouche W, Cleaud C, Delawari E, Fouque D. Short daily hemodialysis rapidly improves nutritional status in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 2001 Oct;60(4):1555-60.

100 Williams P, Cartmel L, Hollis J. The role of automated peritoneal dialysis (APD) in an integrated dialysis programme. British medical bulletin. 1997;53(4):697-705.

101 Lysaght MJ. Maintenance dialysis population dynamics: current trends and long-term implications. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002 Jan;**13 Suppl 1**:S37-40.

102 Zhang QL, Rothenbacher D. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease in population-based studies: systematic review. BMC public health. 2008;8:117.

103 Gilbertson DT, Liu J, Xue JL, et al. Projecting the number of patients with end-stage renal disease in the United States to the year 2015. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005 Dec;16(12):3736-41.

104 Sakhuja V, Sud K. End-stage renal disease in India and Pakistan: burden of disease and management issues. Kidney Int Suppl. 2003 Feb(83):S115-8.

105 Sakhuja V, Kohli HS. End-stage renal disease in India and Pakistan: incidence, causes, and management. Ethn Dis. 2006 Spring;16(2 Suppl 2):S2-20-3.

106 Couser WG, Remuzzi G, Mendis S, Tonelli M. The contribution of chronic kidney disease to the global burden of major noncommunicable diseases. Kidney Int. 2011 Dec;80(12):1258-70.

107 Loos C, Briancon S, Frimat L, Hanesse B, Kessler M. Effect of end-stage renal disease on the quality of life of older patients. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2003 Feb;**51**(2):229-33.

108 DeOreo PB. Hemodialysis patient-assessed functional health status predicts continued survival, hospitalization, and dialysis-attendance compliance. Am J Kidney Dis. 1997 Aug;**30**(2):204-12.

109 Gokal R, Hutchison A. Dialysis therapies for end-stage renal disease. Semin Dial. 2002 Jul-Aug;15(4):220-6.

110 McIntyre CW. Effects of hemodialysis on cardiac function. Kidney Int. 2009 Aug;76(4):371-5.

111 Panichi V, Paoletti S, Consani C. Inflammatory pattern in hemodiafiltration. Contrib Nephrol. 2008;161:185-90.

112 Yao Q, Pecoits-Filho R, Lindholm B, Stenvinkel P. Traditional and non-traditional risk factors as contributors to atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease in end-stage renal disease. Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology. 2004;**38**(5):405-16.

113 Winearls CG, Oliver DO, Pippard MJ, Reid C, Downing MR, Cotes PM. Effect of human erythropoietin derived from recombinant DNA on the anaemia of patients maintained by chronic haemodialysis. Lancet. 1986 Nov 22;2(8517):1175-8.

114 Stenvinkel P, Heimburger O, Paultre F, et al. Strong association between malnutrition, inflammation, and atherosclerosis in chronic renal failure. Kidney Int. 1999 May;55(5):1899-911.

115 Fluck R, Wilson J, Tomson CR. UK Renal Registry 12th Annual Report (December 2009): Chapter 12: Epidemiology of methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia amongst patients receiving dialysis for established renal failure in England in 2008: a joint report from the UK Renal Registry and the Health Protection Agency. Nephron Clin Pract. 2010;**115 Suppl** 1:c261-70.

116 Chonchol M. Neutrophil dysfunction and infection risk in end-stage renal disease. Semin Dial. 2006 Jul-Aug;19(4):291-6.

117 Fabrizi F, Poordad FF, Martin P. Hepatitis C infection and the patient with end-stage renal disease. Hepatology. 2002 Jul;**36**(1):3-10.

118 Fabrizi F, Lunghi G, Martin P. Hepatitis B virus infection in hemodialysis: recent discoveries. J Nephrol. 2002 Sep-Oct;15(5):463-8.

119 Frank C, Mohamed MK, Strickland GT, et al. The role of parenteral antischistosomal therapy in the spread of hepatitis C virus in Egypt. Lancet. 2000 Mar 11;355(9207):887-91.

120 Lavanchy D. The global burden of hepatitis C. Liver Int. 2009 Jan;29 Suppl 1:74-81.

121 Te HS, Jensen DM. Epidemiology of hepatitis B and C viruses: a global overview. Clin Liver Dis. 2010 Feb;14(1):1-21, vii.

122 Burdick RA, Bragg-Gresham JL, Woods JD, et al. Patterns of hepatitis B prevalence and seroconversion in hemodialysis units from three continents: the DOPPS. Kidney Int. 2003 Jun;63(6):2222-9.

123 Carrilho FJ, Moraes CR, Pinho JR, et al. Hepatitis B virus infection in Haemodialysis Centres from Santa Catarina State, Southern Brazil. Predictive risk factors for infection and molecular epidemiology. BMC public health. 2004 Apr 27;4:13.

124 Leung C-B, Ho Y-W, Chau K-F, Choy B-Y, Tsang W-K, Lui S-F. Renal replacement therapy for chronic hepatitis B carrier: a subgroup analysis from the Hong Kong Renal Registry 1995–1999. Hong Kong Journal of Nephrology. 2000;**2**(2):104-9.

125 Al Hijazat M, Ajlouni YM. Hepatitis B infection among patients receiving chronic hemodialysis at the Royal Medical Services in Jordan. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2008 Mar;19(2):260-7.

126 Hinrichsen H, Leimenstoll G, Stegen G, Schrader H, Folsch UR, Schmidt WE. Prevalence and risk factors of hepatitis C virus infection in haemodialysis patients: a multicentre study in 2796 patients. Gut. 2002 Sep;**51**(3):429-33.

127 Boulaajaj K, Elomari Y, Elmaliki B, Madkouri B, Zaid D, Benchemsi N. [Prevalence of hepatitis C, hepatitis B and HIV infection among haemodialysis patients in Ibn-Rochd university hospital, Casablanca]. Nephrol Ther. 2005 Nov;1(5):274-84.

128 Souqiyyeh MZ, Al-Attar MB, Zakaria H, Shaheen FA. Dialysis centers in the kingdom of saudi arabia. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2001 Jul-Sep;12(3):293-304.

129 Jemni S, Ikbel K, Kortas M, et al. Seropositivity to hepatitis C virus in Tunisian haemodialysis patients. Nouv Rev Fr Hematol. 1994 Oct;**36**(5):349-51.

130 Yakaryilmaz F, Gurbuz OA, Guliter S, et al. Prevalence of occult hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infections in Turkish hemodialysis patients. Ren Fail. 2006;**28**(8):729-35.

131 Vladutiu DS, Cosa A, Neamtu A, et al. Infections with hepatitis B and C viruses in patients on maintenance dialysis in Romania and in former communist countries: yellow spots on a blank map? J Viral Hepat. 2000 Jul;7(4):313-9.

132 Hardy NM, Sandroni S, Danielson S, Wilson WJ. Antibody to hepatitis C virus increases with time on hemodialysis. Clin Nephrol. 1992 Jul;38(1):44-8.

133 Jasuja S, Gupta AK, Choudhry R, et al. Prevalence and associations of hepatitis C viremia in hemodialysis patients at a tertiary care hospital. Indian J Nephrol. 2009 Apr;19(2):62-7.

134 Fissell RB, Bragg-Gresham JL, Woods JD, et al. Patterns of hepatitis C prevalence and seroconversion in hemodialysis units from three continents: the DOPPS. Kidney Int. 2004 Jun;65(6):2335-42.

135 Pereira BJ. Hepatitis C infection and post-transplantation liver disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1995;10 Suppl 1:58-67.

136 Dusheiko G, Song E, Bowyer S, et al. Natural history of hepatitis B virus infection in renal transplant recipients--a fifteen-year follow-up. Hepatology. 1983 May-Jun;3(3):330-6.

137 Kokubo S, Horii T, Yonekawa O, Ozawa N, Mukaide M. A phylogenetic-tree analysis elucidating nosocomial transmission of hepatitis C virus in a haemodialysis unit. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2002 Nov;9(6):450-4.

138 Petrosillo N, Gilli P, Serraino D, et al. Prevalence of infected patients and understaffing have a role in hepatitis C virus transmission in dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2001 May;37(5):1004-10.

139 Alter MJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis C. Hepatology. 1997 Sep;26(3 Suppl 1):62S-5S.

140 Pereira BJ, Levey AS. Hepatitis C virus infection in dialysis and renal transplantation. Kidney Int. 1997 Apr;**51**(4):981-99.

141 Jadoul M. Transmission routes of HCV infection in dialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant.1996;11 Suppl 4:36-8.

142 Simon N, Courouce AM, Lemarrec N, Trepo C, Ducamp S. A twelve year natural history of hepatitis C virus infection in hemodialyzed patients. Kidney Int. 1994 Aug;46(2):504-11.

143 Miller PE, Tolwani A, Luscy CP, et al. Predictors of adequacy of arteriovenous fistulas in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int. 1999 Jul;56(1):275-80.

144 Ethier J, Mendelssohn DC, Elder SJ, et al. Vascular access use and outcomes: an international perspective from the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008 Oct;23(10):3219-26.

145 Sandroni S, McGill R, Brouwer D. Hemodialysis catheter-associated endocarditis: clinical features, risks, and costs. Semin Dial. 2003 May-Jun;16(3):263-5.

146 Patel ST, Hughes J, Mills JL, Sr. Failure of arteriovenous fistula maturation: an unintended consequence of exceeding dialysis outcome quality Initiative guidelines for hemodialysis access. Journal of vascular surgery : official publication, the Society for Vascular Surgery

[and] International Society for Cardiovascular Surgery, North American Chapter. 2003 Sep;38(3):439-45; discussion 45.

147 Fullerton JK, McLafferty RB, Ramsey DE, Solis MS, Gruneiro LA, Hodgson KJ. Pitfalls in achieving the Dialysis Outcome Quality Initiative (DOQI) guidelines for hemodialysis access? Annals of vascular surgery. 2002 Sep;16(5):613-7.

148 Orr NI, McDonald SP, McTaggart S, Henning P, Craig JC. Frequency, etiology and treatment of childhood end-stage kidney disease in Australia and New Zealand. Pediatr Nephrol. 2009 Sep;**24**(9):1719-26.

149 Barsoum R. Renal replacement therapy in egypt. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 1997 Apr-Jun;8(2):152-4.

150 Lafrance JP, Rahme E, Lelorier J, Iqbal S. Vascular access-related infections: definitions, incidence rates, and risk factors. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008 Nov;**52**(5):982-93.

151 Safdar N, Kluger DM, Maki DG. A review of risk factors for catheter-related bloodstream infection caused by percutaneously inserted, noncuffed central venous catheters: implications for preventive strategies. Medicine. 2002 Nov;**81**(6):466-79.

152 Oliver MJ, Callery SM, Thorpe KE, Schwab SJ, Churchill DN. Risk of bacteremia from temporary hemodialysis catheters by site of insertion and duration of use: a prospective study. Kidney Int. 2000 Dec;**58**(6):2543-5.

153 Saad TF. Bacteremia associated with tunneled, cuffed hemodialysis catheters. Am J Kidney Dis. 1999 Dec;**34**(6):1114-24.

154 Stengel B, Billon S, Van Dijk PC, et al. Trends in the incidence of renal replacement therapy for end-stage renal disease in Europe, 1990-1999. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2003 Sep;18(9):1824-33.

155 Schieppati A, Remuzzi G. Chronic renal diseases as a public health problem: epidemiology, social, and economic implications. Kidney Int Suppl. 2005 Sep(98):S7-S10.

156 Levin A. Consequences of late referral on patient outcomes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2000;15 Suppl 3:8-13.

157 Rayner HC, Pisoni RL, Bommer J, et al. Mortality and hospitalization in haemodialysis patients in five European countries: results from the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2004 Jan;19(1):108-20.

158 Harnett JD, Kent GM, Foley RN, Parfrey PS. Cardiac function and hematocrit level. Am J Kidney Dis. 1995 Apr;25(4 Suppl 1):S3-7.

159 Harnett JD, Foley RN, Kent GM, Barre PE, Murray D, Parfrey PS. Congestive heart failure in dialysis patients: prevalence, incidence, prognosis and risk factors. Kidney Int. 1995 Mar;47(3):884-90.

160 Robinson BM, Tong L, Zhang J, et al. Blood pressure levels and mortality risk among hemodialysis patients in the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study. Kidney Int. 2012 Jun 20.

161 Huang X, Stenvinkel P, Qureshi AR, et al. Essential polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation and mortality in dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012 May 7.

162 Madziarska K, Weyde W, Krajewska M, et al. Elderly dialysis patients: analysis of factors affecting long-term survival in 4-year prospective observation. International urology and nephrology. 2012 Jun;44(3):955-61.

163 Degoulet P, Legrain M, Reach I, et al. Mortality risk factors in patients treated by chronic hemodialysis. Report of the Diaphane collaborative study. Nephron. 1982;31(2):103-10.

164 Bloembergen WE, Port FK, Mauger EA, Wolfe RA. Causes of death in dialysis patients: racial and gender differences. J Am Soc Nephrol. 1994 Nov;5(5):1231-42.

165 Hecking E, Bragg-Gresham JL, Rayner HC, et al. Haemodialysis prescription, adherence and nutritional indicators in five European countries: results from the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2004 Jan;19(1):100-7.

166 Foote C, Ninomiya T, Gallagher M, et al. Survival of elderly dialysis patients is predicted by both patient and practice characteristics. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012 May 7.

167 Wang IK, Kung PT, Kuo WY, et al. Impact of dialysis modality on the survival of endstage renal disease patients with or without cardiovascular disease. J Nephrol. 2012 Mar 30:0.

168 Masakane I, Takemoto Y, Nakai S, et al. Bacteriological water quality in the central dialysis fluid delivery system from the survey of the Japanese Society for Dialysis Therapy. Blood Purif. 2009;27 Suppl 1:11-6.

169 Wheeler DC, Caplin B. New observational data demonstrate that mortality is lower in patients receiving more frequent dialysis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012 May;23(5):770-3.

170 Kubrusly M, Oliveira CM, Santos DC, Mota RS, Pereira ML. A comparative analysis of pre- and post-dialysis albumin as indicators of nutritional and morbi-mortality risks in haemodialysis patients. Jornal brasileiro de nefrologia : 'orgao oficial de Sociedades Brasileira e Latino-Americana de Nefrologia. 2012 Mar;**34**(1):27-35.

171 Hecking M, Karaboyas A, Saran R, et al. Predialysis serum sodium level, dialysate sodium, and mortality in maintenance hemodialysis patients: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). Am J Kidney Dis. 2012 Feb;59(2):238-48.

172 Tentori F, Zhang J, Li Y, et al. Longer dialysis session length is associated with better intermediate outcomes and survival among patients on in-center three times per week hemodialysis: results from the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012 Mar 19.

173 de Jager DJ, Grootendorst DC, Jager KJ, et al. Cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality among patients starting dialysis. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2009 Oct 28;302(16):1782-9.

174 Iseki K, Shinzato T, Nagura Y, Akiba T. Factors influencing long-term survival in patients on chronic dialysis. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2004 Jun;8(2):89-97.

175 Cheung AK, Sarnak MJ, Yan G, et al. Cardiac diseases in maintenance hemodialysis patients: results of the HEMO Study. Kidney Int. 2004 Jun;65(6):2380-9.

176 Delmez JA, Yan G, Bailey J, et al. Cerebrovascular disease in maintenance hemodialysis patients: results of the HEMO Study. Am J Kidney Dis. 2006 Jan;47(1):131-8.

177 Sarnak MJ, Jaber BL. Mortality caused by sepsis in patients with end-stage renal disease compared with the general population. Kidney Int. 2000 Oct;**58**(4):1758-64.

178 Stack AG, Molony DA, Rives T, Tyson J, Murthy BV. Association of physical activity with mortality in the US dialysis population. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Apr;45(4):690-701.

179 Tomson C, Ford D, Ansell D. The UK Renal Registry: an overview. Br J Hosp Med (Lond). 2008 Oct;69(10):548-9.

180 Hirth RA. The organization and financing of kidney dialysis and transplant care in the United States of America. Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Dec;7(4):301-18.

181 Pontoriero G, Pozzoni P, Vecchio LD, Locatelli F. International Study of Health Care Organization and Financing for renal replacement therapy in Italy: an evolving reality. Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Sep;7(2-3):201-15.

182 Dor A, Pauly MV, Eichleay MA, Held PJ. End-stage renal disease and economic incentives: the International Study of Health Care Organization and Financing (ISHCOF). Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Sep;7(2-3):73-111.

183 Yang WC, Hwang SJ. Incidence, prevalence and mortality trends of dialysis end-stage renal disease in Taiwan from 1990 to 2001: the impact of national health insurance. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008 Dec;23(12):3977-82.

184 Jager KJ, van Dijk PC, Dekker FW, Stengel B, Simpson K, Briggs JD. The epidemic of aging in renal replacement therapy: an update on elderly patients and their outcomes. Clinical nephrology. 2003 Nov;60(5):352-60.

185 Wimmer F, Oberaigner W, Kramar R, Mayer G. Regional variability in the incidence of end-stage renal disease: an epidemiological approach. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2003 Aug;**18**(8):1562-7.

186 The report of health sector development (Achievements in health care field during 40 years). Tripoli Libya: Health Information Centre; 2009.

187 Salem O M. Water shortage in Libya and the needs for its management for sustaining the development: Libya's Water Authority; 1998.

188 The National Board for Scientific Research T-L. Risk factors for hypertension. Report; 2001.

189 FAO. Libyan Arab Jamahiriya Nutrition Profile – Food and Nutrition Division. <u>ftp://ftp.fao.org/es/esn/nutrition/ncp/lby.pdf</u> Food and agriculture organization of the United Nations; 2005.

190 Jain RC. Serum cholesterol in Libyans. J Trop Med Hyg. 1980 Dec;83(6):247-50.

191 Bredan AS, Kumar NS, Bshiwah SM. Hematologic values and prevalence of anaemia in Libyan school children. Tropical and geographical medicine. 1983 Dec;35(4):357-61.

192SocialSecurityProgramsthroughouttheWorld:Africa:www.socialsecurity.gov/policy/docs/progdesc/ssptw/2008-2009/africa/libya.pdf2009.

193 Benamer H, Bredan A, Bakoush O. The Libyan doctors' brain drain: an exploratory study.BMC Res Notes. 2009;2:242.

194 El Taguri A, Elkhammas E, Bakoush O, Ashammakhi N, Baccoush M, Betilmal I. Libyan National Health Services The Need to Move to Management-by-Objectives. Libyan J Med. 2008;3(2):113-21.

195 Benamer HT. Healthcare System in Libya- Factual Report. <u>http://wmclibya.org/wp-</u> content/; 2012.

196 Giaedi T. The Impact of Electronic Medical records on improvement of health care delivery. Libyan J Med. 2008;3(1):4.

197 Rahman M, Fukui T. Biomedical publication--global profile and trend. Public health. 2003 Jul;117(4):274-80.

198 Page J, Heller RF, Kinlay S, et al. Attitudes of developing world physicians to where medical research is performed and reported. BMC public health. 2003 Jan 16;3:6.

199 Benamer HT, Bakoush O. Arab nations lagging behind other Middle Eastern countries in biomedical research: a comparative study. BMC medical research methodology. 2009;9:26.

200 Benamer HT, Bredan A, Bakoush O. Scientific publication productivity of Libyan medical schools: a bibliometric study of papers listed in PubMed, 1988-2007. Educ Health (Abingdon). 2009 Aug;**22**(2):310.

201 Bakoush O, Al-Tubuly A, Ashammakhi N, Elkhammas E. PubMed Medical publications from Libya. Libyan J Med. 2007;2(3):125-8.

202 Taguri AE. Medical tourism and the libyan national health services. Libyan J Med. 2007;2(3):109-10.

203 Ehtuish EF, Abouna GM, Shebani AH, Abdulmola TS, Shawesh TZ. Kidney transplantation in Libya: a North African and Middle Eastern perspective. Exp Clin Transplant. 2006 Jun;4(1):425-8.

204 Usta A, Shawish T, Mishra A, et al. Living related kidney transplantation in Libya: a single center experience. Transplant Proc. 2008 Dec;40(10):3428-33.

205 Usta A ST, Milud N, . Outcome of Libyan National Organ Transplantation Program in its third anniversary. JMJ. 2008;1(8):44-50.

206 Alashek W, Usta A, Shawish T. Renal transplanted patients in Libya. Tripoli Libya: The sixth Congress of the Libyan Society of Nephrology and Renal Transplantation; 2008.

207 Alashek W, Ehtuish E, Elhabashi A, Emberish W, Mishra A. Reasons for Unwillingness of Libyans to Donate Organs After Death. Libyan J Med. 2009:158-63.

208 Benamer HT. Letter from Libya. Practical neurology. 2012 Apr;12(2):133-4.

209 Arie S. Gaddafi's forces attacked hospitals, patients, and health professionals, report confirms. BMJ. 2011;343:d5533.

210 Zarocostas J. Libyan health system is "absolutely stretched," says UN. BMJ. 2011;343:d4326.

211 Zarocostas J. Libya's health system struggles after exodus of foreign medical staff. BMJ. 2011;342:d1879.

212 Zarocostas J. Libyan hospitals are overstretched treating thousands of victims of violent crackdown. BMJ. 2011;**342**:d1245.

213 Zeiton M. Frontline medicine: inside Libya. Lancet. 2011 Aug 27;378(9793):756-7.

214 Pozzoni P, Del Vecchio L, Pontoriero G, Di Filippo S, Locatelli F. Long-term outcome in hemodialysis: morbidity and mortality. J Nephrol. 2004 Nov-Dec;17 Suppl 8:S87-95.

215 Lee CP, Chertow GM, Zenios SA. An empiric estimate of the value of life: updating the renal dialysis cost-effectiveness standard. Value Health. 2009 Jan;12(1):80-7.

216 Baboolal K, McEwan P, Sondhi S, Spiewanowski P, Wechowski J, Wilson K. The cost of renal dialysis in a UK setting--a multicentre study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2008 Jun;23(6):1982-9.

217 Port FK, Eknoyan G. The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS) and the Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (K/DOQI): a cooperative initiative to improve outcomes for hemodialysis patients worldwide. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004 Nov;44(5 Suppl 2):1-6. 218 Curtis BM, Ravani P, Malberti F, et al. The short- and long-term impact of multidisciplinary clinics in addition to standard nephrology care on patient outcomes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2005 Jan;20(1):147-54.

219 Curtin RB, Klag MJ, Bultman DC, Schatell D. Renal rehabilitation and improved patient outcomes in Texas dialysis facilities. Am J Kidney Dis. 2002 Aug;40(2):331-8.

220 NKF-K/DOQI Clinical Practice Guidelines for Hemodialysis Adequacy: update 2000. Am J Kidney Dis. 2001 Jan;37(1 Suppl 1):S7-S64.

221 Country Profile. Libyan Arab Jamahiriya: World Health Organization; 2009.

222 Russo P. Welfare in the Mediterranean Countries, Great Arab Popular Socialist Lybian Jamahiriya.; 2009.

223 Junor BJ. Audit of quality of hospital haemodialysis in Scotland. The Scottish Renal Registry. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1998 Sep;13(9):2426-7.

224 Collins AJ, Foley RN, Herzog C, et al. United States Renal Data System 2008 Annual Data Report. Am J Kidney Dis. 2009 Jan;53(1 Suppl):S1-374.

225 Byrne C, Steenkamp R, Castledine C, Ansell D, Feehally J. UK Renal Registry 12th Annual Report (December 2009): Chapter 4: UK ESRD prevalent rates in 2008: national and centre-specific analyses. Nephron Clin Pract. 2010;**115 Suppl 1**(115):c41-67.

226 Kadiki OA, Roaeid RB. Prevalence of diabetes mellitus and impaired glucose tolerance in Benghazi Libya. Diabetes Metab. 2001 Dec;27(6):647-54.

227 Li PK, Lui SL, Leung CB, et al. Increased utilization of peritoneal dialysis to cope with mounting demand for renal replacement therapy--perspectives from Asian countries. Perit Dial Int. 2007 Jun;27 Suppl 2:S59-61.

228 Durand-Zaleski I, Combe C, Lang P. International Study of Health Care Organization and Financing for end-stage renal disease in France. Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Sep;7(2-3):171-83.

229 Nicholson T, Roderick P. International Study of Health Care Organization and Financing of renal services in England and Wales. Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Dec;7(4):283-99.

230 Ashton T, Marshall MR. The organization and financing of dialysis and kidney transplantation services in New Zealand. Int J Health Care Finance Econ. 2007 Dec;7(4):233-52.

231 Murray M. The role of a nurse practitioner in a chronic dialysis unit. Adv Ren Replace Ther. 1995 Apr;2(2):184-6.

232 Lowe JI. Quality assurance in dialysis: the role of the social worker. J Dial. 1978;2(1):43-53.

233 Leung J, Dwyer J, Miller J, Patrick SW, Rocco M, Uhlin L. The role of the dietitian in a multicenter clinical trial of dialysis therapy: the Hemodialysis (HEMO) Study. J Ren Nutr. 2001 Apr;11(2):101-8.

234 Al-Khader AA, Ramprasad KS, Shaheen FA. The need for guidelines for the practice of hemodialysis in the kingdom of saudi arabia: a questionnaire survey. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2001 Oct-Dec;**12**(4):494-502.

235 Wallin B, Gaye C, Gourcy L, Aggarwal P. Isotope methods for management of shared aquifers in northern Africa. Ground Water. 2005 Sep-Oct;**43**(5):744-9.

236 Nair GA, Bohjuari JA, Al-Mariami MA, Attia FA, El-Toumi FF. Groundwater quality of north-east Libya. J Environ Biol. 2006 Oct;27(4):695-700.

237 Rao GM. Diabetes mellitus in Libya: a retrospective study. Indian J Med Sci. 1992 Jun;46(6):174-81.

238 Roaeid RB, Kablan AA. Diabetes mortality and causes of death in Benghazi: a 5-year retrospective analysis of death certificates. East Mediterr Health J. 2010 Jan; 16(1):65-9.

239 WHO. Eastern Mediterranean Regional Health Systems Observatory-Health Systems Profile-Libya. Report: WHO; 2007.

240 Salam AA, Alshekteria AA, Abd Alhadi H, Ahmed M, Mohammed A. Patient satisfaction with quality of primary health care in Benghazi, Libya. Libyan J Med. 2010;5.

241 Alashek WA, McIntyre CW, Taal MW. Provision and quality of dialysis services in Libya. Hemodial Int. 2011 Oct;15(4):444-52.

242 Alashek W, Ehtuish E, Elhabashi A, Emberish W, Mishra A. Reasons for unwillingness of ibyans to donate organs after death. Libyan J Med. 2009;4(3):110-3.

243 Registry. ERA-EDTA Registry Annual Report 2007; 2009.

244 Ngo L Y OL, Guat L D. 16th Report of the Malaysian Dialysis and Transplant Registry 2008; 2008.

245 Mathur AK, Ashby VB, Sands RL, Wolfe RA. Geographic variation in end-stage renal disease incidence and access to deceased donor kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2010 Apr;10(4 Pt 2):1069-80.

246 Steenkamp R, Castledine C, Feest T, Fogarty D. UK Renal Registry 13th Annual Report (December 2010): chapter 2: UK RRT Prevalence in 2009: national and centre-specific analyses. Bristol: UK Renal Registry; 2010.

247 Goodkin DA, Young EW, Kurokawa K, Prutz KG, Levin NW. Mortality among hemodialysis patients in Europe, Japan, and the United States: case-mix effects. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004 Nov;44(5 Suppl 2):16-21.

248 Iseki K, Nakai S, Shinzato T, Nagura Y, Akiba T. Increasing gender difference in the incidence of chronic dialysis therapy in Japan. Ther Apher Dial. 2005 Oct;9(5);407-11.

249 Atkins RC. The epidemiology of chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int Suppl. 2005 Apr(94):S14-8.

250 Wild S, Roglic G, Green A, Sicree R, King H. Global prevalence of diabetes: estimates for the year 2000 and projections for 2030. Diabetes Care. 2004 May;**27**(5):1047-53.

251 Belqacem S. Health issues in the Arab American community. Commentary: the growing risk factors for noncommunicable diseases in the Arab world. Ethn Dis. 2007 Summer;17(2 Suppl 3):S3-51-S3-2.

252 Khogali M. Health and disease in a changing Arab world 2000/2025/2050: global, environmental, and climate change and emerging diseases. Ethn Dis. 2005 Winter;**15**(1 Suppl 1):S1-74-5.

253 Farag Y, Al Wakeel J. Diabetic Nephropathy in the Arab Gulf Countries. Nephron Clin Pract 2011;119(4):c317-c23

255 Teebi AS, Teebi SA, Porter CJ, Cuticchia AJ. Arab genetic disease database (AGDDB): a population-specific clinical and mutation database. Hum Mutat. 2002 Jun;19(6):615-21.

256 Hoodfar E, Teebi AS. Genetic referrals of Middle Eastern origin in a western city: inbreeding and disease profile. J Med Genet. 1996 Mar;**33**(3):212-5.

257 Taal MW, van Zyl-Smit R. Hepatitis C virus infection in chronic haemodialysis patients-relationship to blood transfusions and dialyser re-use. S Afr Med J. 2000 Jun;**90**(6):621-5.

258 Knudsen F, Wantzin P, Rasmussen K, et al. Hepatitis C in dialysis patients: relationship to blood transfusions, dialysis and liver disease. Kidney Int. 1993 Jun;43(6):1353-6.

259 Allander T, Medin C, Jacobson SH, Grillner L, Persson MA. Hepatitis C transmission in a hemodialysis unit: molecular evidence for spread of virus among patients not sharing equipment. J Med Virol. 1994 Aug;43(4):415-9.

260 Le Pogam S, Le Chapois D, Christen R, Dubois F, Barin F, Goudeau A. Hepatitis C in a hemodialysis unit: molecular evidence for nosocomial transmission. J Clin Microbiol. 1998 Oct;**36**(10):3040-3.

261 Ozer A, Yakupogullari Y, Beytur A, et al. Risk factors of hepatitis B virus infection in Turkey: A population-based, case-control study: Risk Factors for HBV Infection. Hepat Mon. 2011 Apr 1;11(4):263-8.

262 Fabrizi F, Marzano A, Messa P, Martin P, Lampertico P. Hepatitis B virus infection in the dialysis population: current perspectives. Int J Artif Organs. 2008 May;**31**(5):386-94.

263 Taal MW, van Zyl-Smit R. Cost-effectiveness of hepatitis B vaccination in haemodialysis patients. S Afr Med J. 2001 Apr;91(4):340-4.

264 Mohamed WZ. Prevention of hepatitis C virus in hemodialysis patients: five years experience from a single center. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2010 May;21(3):548-54.

265 Patel PR, Thompson ND, Kallen AJ, Arduino MJ. Epidemiology, surveillance, and prevention of hepatitis C virus infections in hemodialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis. 2010 Aug;56(2):371-8.

266 Saune K, Kamar N, Miedouge M, et al. Decreased prevalence and incidence of HCV markers in haemodialysis units: a multicentric French survey. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010 Jul;**26**(7):2309-16.

267 Elzouki A, Esmeo M, Samod M, Abonaja A, Alagi B, Daw M. Prevalence of hepatitis B, C and HIV infection in Libya: a population-based nationwide seropepidemiological study. Liver International; 2006. p. 20.

268 Elzouki AN. Hepatitis B infection in Libya: The magnitude of the problem. The Libyan Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2008;2(1):20-5.

269 Daw MA, Elkaber MA, Drah AM, Werfalli MM, Mihat AA, Siala IM. Prevalence of hepatitis C virus antibodies among different populations of relative and attributable risk. Saudi Med J. 2002 Nov;**23**(11):1356-60.

270 WHO. Global surveillance and control of hepatitis C. Report of a WHO Consultation organized in collaboration with the Viral Hepatitis Prevention Board, Antwerp, Belgium. J Viral Hepat. 1999 Jan;6(1):35-47.

271 Ferreira RC, Teles SA, Dias MA, et al. Hepatitis B virus infection profile in hemodialysis patients in Central Brazil: prevalence, risk factors, and genotypes. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz. 2006 Sep;101(6):689-92.

272 Chandra M, Khaja MN, Hussain MM, et al. Prevalence of hepatitis B and hepatitis C viral infections in Indian patients with chronic renal failure. Intervirology. 2004;47(6):374-6.

273 Qadi AA, Tamim H, Ameen G, et al. Hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus prevalence among dialysis patients in Bahrain and Saudi Arabia: a survey by serologic and molecular methods. Am J Infect Control. 2004 Dec;**32**(8):493-5.

274 Telaku S, Fejza H, Elezi Y, Bicaj T. Hepatitis B and C in dialysis units in Kosova. Virol J. 2009;6:72.

275 Saxena AK, Panhotra BR. The vulnerability of middle-aged and elderly patients to hepatitis C virus infection in a high-prevalence hospital-based hemodialysis setting. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2004 Feb;**52**(2):242-6.

276 Mostaghni AA, Soltanian A, Mokhtari E, Japoni S, Mehrabani D. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B virus among hemodialysis patients in Bushehr province, southern Iran: HBV seroprevalence in hemodialysis patients. Hepat Mon. 2011 Mar 1;11(3):200-2.

277 Hitzler WE, Runkel S. Routine HCV PCR screening of blood donations to identify early HCV infection in blood donors lacking antibodies to HCV. Transfusion. 2001 Mar;41(3):333-7.

278 Doghman NA, MY A, Najem Fl, SA E-S. Blood donor screening for hepatitis B and C in Benghazi: additional tests are needed. Libyan J Infect Dis. 2007;1(1):100-2.

279 Izopet J, Sandres-Saune K, Kamar N, et al. Incidence of HCV infection in French hemodialysis units: a prospective study. J Med Virol. 2005 Sep;77(1):70-6.

280 Alavian SM, Bagheri-Lankarani K, Mahdavi-Mazdeh M, Nourozi S. Hepatitis B and C in dialysis units in Iran: changing the epidemiology. Hemodial Int. 2008 Jul;12(3):378-82.

281 Karkar A, Abdelrahman M, Ghacha R, Malik TQ. Prevention of viral transmission in HD units: the value of isolation. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2006 Jun;17(2):183-8.

282 Stevenson KB, Adcox MJ, Mallea MC, Narasimhan N, Wagnild JP. Standardized surveillance of hemodialysis vascular access infections: 18-month experience at an outpatient, multifacility hemodialysis center. Infection control and hospital epidemiology : the official journal of the Society of Hospital Epidemiologists of America. 2000 Mar;**21**(3):200-3.

283 Tokars JI. Description of a new surveillance system for bloodstream and vascular access infections in outpatient hemodialysis centers. Semin Dial. 2000 Mar-Apr;13(2):97-100.

284 Butterly DW, Schwab SJ. Dialysis access infections. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2000 Nov;9(6):631-5.

285 Neumann ME. "Fistula first" initiative pushes for new standards in access care. Nephrology news & issues. 2004 Aug;18(9):43, 7-8.

286 Afifi A, Karim MA. Renal replacement therapy in Egypt: first annual report of the Egyptian Society of Nephrology, 1996. East Mediterr Health J. 1999 Sep;5(5):1023-9.

287 Medkouri G, Aghai R, Anabi A, et al. Analysis of vascular access in hemodialysis patients: a report from a dialysis unit in Casablanca. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2006 Dec;17(4):516-20.

288 Afifi A, Refaat H, Wahba AM, et al. Hemodialysis vascular access among chronic renal failure patients in Egypt. J Vasc Access. 2002 Oct-Dec;3(4):164-8.

289 Farag YMK, Al Wakeel JS. Diabetic Nephropathy in the Arab Gulf Countries. Nephron Clinical Practice. 2011;119(4):c317-c23.

290 Sanders C, Deshmukh M, Astor D, Kranz RG, Daldal F. Overproduction of CcmG and CcmFH(Rc) fully suppresses the c-type cytochrome biogenesis defect of Rhodobacter capsulatus CcmI-null mutants. Journal of bacteriology. 2005 Jun;**187**(12):4245-56.

291 Fiorina P, Gremizzi C, Maffi P, et al. Islet transplantation is associated with an improvement of cardiovascular function in type 1 diabetic kidney transplant patients. Diabetes Care. 2005 Jun;**28**(6):1358-65.

292 Davies DF, Shock NW. Age changes in glomerular filtration rate, effective renal plasma flow, and tubular excretory capacity in adult males. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1950 May;29(5):496-507.

293 Taal MW, Brenner BM. Predicting initiation and progression of chronic kidney disease: Developing renal risk scores. Kidney Int. 2006 Nov;**70**(10):1694-705.

294 Vernaglione L, Mele G, Cristofano C, et al. Comorbid conditions and gender impact the primary survival of distal radio-cephalic arteriovenous fistula inpatients on long-term hemodialysis. J Nephrol. 2005 May-Jun;18(3):276-81.

295 Weller JM, Wu SC, Ferguson CW, Hawthorne VM. End-stage renal disease in Michigan. Incidence, underlying causes, prevalence, and modalities of treatment. Am J Nephrol. 1985;5(2):84-95.

296 Gheith OA, Kamal MM. Risk factors of vascular access failure in patients on hemodialysis. Iranian journal of kidney diseases. 2008 Oct;2(4):201-7.

297 Shulman NB, Ford CE, Hall WD, et al. Prognostic value of serum creatinine and effect of treatment of hypertension on renal function. Results from the hypertension detection and follow-up program. The Hypertension Detection and Follow-up Program Cooperative Group. Hypertension. 1989 May;13(5 Suppl):180-93.

298 Neugarten J, Acharya A, Silbiger SR. Effect of gender on the progression of nondiabetic renal disease: a meta-analysis. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2000 Feb;11(2):319-29.

299 Clase CM, Garg AX, Kiberd BA. Prevalence of low glomerular filtration rate in nondiabetic Americans: Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2002 May;**13**(5):1338-49.

300 Eriksen BO, Ingebretsen OC. The progression of chronic kidney disease: a 10-year population-based study of the effects of gender and age. Kidney Int. 2006 Jan;69(2):375-82.

302 Group UPDSU. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet. 1998 Sep 12;**352**(9131):837-53. 303 Evans M, Fryzek JP, Elinder CG, et al. The natural history of chronic renal failure: results from an unselected, population-based, inception cohort in Sweden. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Nov;**46**(5):863-70.

304 Klag MJ, Whelton PK, Randall BL, Neaton JD, Brancati FL, Stamler J. End-stage renal disease in African-American and white men. 16-year MRFIT findings. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 1997 Apr 23-30;277(16):1293-8.

305 Tarver-Carr ME, Powe NR, Eberhardt MS, et al. Excess risk of chronic kidney disease among African-American versus white subjects in the United States: a population-based study of potential explanatory factors. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN. 2002 Sep;13(9):2363-70.

306 Roderick PJ, Raleigh VS, Hallam L, Mallick NP. The need and demand for renal replacement therapy in ethnic minorities in England. Journal of epidemiology and community health. 1996 Jun;**50**(3):334-9.

307 Hoy WE, Megill DM, Hughson MD. Epidemic renal disease of unknown etiology in the Zuni Indians. Am J Kidney Dis. 1987 Jun;9(6):485-96.

308 Group TDCCDR. The effect of intensive treatment of diabetes on the development and progression of long-term complications in insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. The Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. The New England journal of medicine. 1993 Sep 30;**329**(14):977-86.

309 Kazmi WH, Gilbertson DT, Obrador GT, et al. Effect of comorbidity on the increased mortality associated with early initiation of dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Nov;46(5):887-96.

310 Kausz AT, Solid C, Pereira BJ, Collins AJ, St Peter W. Intractable anemia among hemodialysis patients: a sign of suboptimal management or a marker of disease? Am J Kidney Dis. 2005 Jan;45(1):136-47.

311 Sandler DP, Burr FR, Weinberg CR. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and the risk for chronic renal disease. Annals of internal medicine. 1991 Aug 1;115(3):165-72.

312 Perneger TV, Whelton PK, Klag MJ. Risk of kidney failure associated with the use of acetaminophen, aspirin, and nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs. The New England journal of medicine. 1994 Dec 22;331(25):1675-9.

313 Stel VS, Kramer A, Zoccali C, Jager KJ. The 2007 ERA-EDTA Registry Annual Report-a Precis. NDT plus. 2009 Dec;2(6):514-21.

314 Byrne C, Ford D, Gilg J, Ansell D, Feehally J. UK Renal Registry 12th Annual Report (December 2009): chapter 3: UK ESRD incident rates in 2008: national and centre-specific analyses. Nephron Clin Pract. 2010;115 Suppl 1:c9-39.

315 Byrne C, Steenkamp R, Castledine C, Ansell D, Feehally J. UK Renal Registry 12th Annual Report (December 2009): chapter 4: UK ESRD prevalent rates in 2008: national and centre-specific analyses. Nephron Clin Pract. 2010;**115 Suppl 1**:c41-67.

316 Farrington K, Hodsman A, Casula A, Ansell D, Feehally J. UK Renal Registry 11th Annual Report (December 2008): Chapter 4 ESRD prevalent rates in 2007 in the UK: national and centre-specific analyses. Nephron Clin Pract. 2009;111 Suppl 1:c43-68.

317 al-Muhanna FA, Saeed I, al-Muelo S, Larbi E, Rubaish A. Disease profile, complications and outcome in patients on maintenance haemodialysis at King Faisal University Hospital, Saudi Arabia. East African medical journal. 1999 Dec;**76**(12):664-7.

318 Leeder SR. Achieving equity in the Australian healthcare system. The Medical journal of Australia. 2003 Nov 3;179(9):475-8.

319 Toyabe S. Trend in geographic distribution of physicians in Japan. International journal for equity in health. 2009;8:5.

320 Black M, Mooney G. Equity in health care from a communitarian standpoint. Health care analysis : HCA : journal of health philosophy and policy. 2002;10(2):193-208.

321 Perneger TV, Whelton PK, Klag MJ, Rossiter KA. Diagnosis of hypertensive end-stage renal disease: effect of patient's race. American journal of epidemiology. 1995 Jan 1;141(1):10-5.

322 Perneger TV, Whelton PK, Klag MJ. Race and end-stage renal disease. Socioeconomic status and access to health care as mediating factors. Archives of internal medicine. 1995 Jun 12;155(11):1201-8.

Annex

-

Dialysis Centre Questionnaire

n Visit	Phone

Date	Location of dialysis centre	□Inside a hospital	Free standing
Centre name	City	Tel	
Centre start date	Ту	pe of dialysis provided	l
Number of dialysis rooms	Nı	mber of all stations	
Number of working stations	Wo	rking days/week	
Total number of patients	Nur	nber of CAPD patients	••••••
Minimal age of patients	Ма	ximum age of patients.	
Presence of nephrology clinic	□Yes, in unit	□Yes, in hospital	□No
Frequency of patient monitorin	g by a nephrologists HD	1	PD
Dialysis adequacy monitoring	□No □Yes Type		Frequency
Application of dialysis prac	ctice guidelines □Yes	□No	If yes, type
Time on HD for registered patie	ents	Frequency/week	
Number of junior nephrologists	Number of senior i	nephrologists N	umber of nurses
Staffing			

Working shifts	Number of	Number of junior nephrologists		Number of senior nephrologists		Number of dialysis	Number of social	Number of
	patients	Present	On call	Present	On	nurses	workers	
					call			
Morning								
Afternoon								
Evening								

Isolation of infected cases PYes Some No Type of isolation Group Individual Isolation for septic patients Yes Some No Hand wash facility in each room Yes Some No Hand disinfection Yes Some No Use of gloves Yes Some No Machine disinfection Yes No
Method of waste disposal
Sharps separation
Dialyser reuse Pes No
Availability of dietician DNO DIn unit DIn hospital
Number of patients waiting for HD
Availability of pharmacy DYes DNo
Availability of Medicines □Yes □Some □No
Availability of Eperax □Yes □Some □ No
Availability of IV Iron DYes Some No
Patient education □Yes □Some □ No
Provision of vascular access surgery \Box Yes, in unit \Box Yes, In hospital \Box No
Water source
Water treatment DYes DNo
Water quality test DYes DNo
Biological □Yes □No Chemical □Yes □No Frequency
Frequency of viral screen testing

Availability of laboratory investigations in the centre

Availability of	Frequency	Availability of	Frequency	Availability of	Frequency
laboratory		laboratory		laboratory	
investigations		investigations		investigations	
Haemoglobin		Triglycerides		Phosphorus	
Haematocrit		Cholesterol		Total proteins	
Serum Ferritin		LDL		РТН	
Fasting blood		Liver Function		Kt/v	
sugar		Tests			
HbA1c		Electrolytes		Serum Albumin	
TIBC		Uric Acid		Predialysis urea	
Serum Iron		Calcium		Post dialysis urea	

Dialysis Patient Questionnaire

ID Date Centre
File number D.O.B Sex Nationality
Ethnicity Durite Delack Marital status Number of children
Level of education
Independent Deriver Partially No Cause of dependency
H/O smoking □Yes □No Years of smoking Smoker now □Yes □No
Presence of pre dialysis health problems Types of pre dialysis health
problems
Duration in years
Mode of treatment Height
Onset of ESRD
Presenting symptoms
H/O admission at onset Duration
Cause of ESKD
Family H/O ESKD □Yes □No
Number of relatives Relationships
Renal biopsy taken
Date of 1 st dialysis Change in modality DYes DNo
Nephrology follow up
Rounds at dialysis centre □Routine □On demand □No
Frequency of laboratory investigation
H/O vaccination □Yes □No Types of vaccine used
Blood transfusion DYes No Frequency
Vascular access site
Type of vascular access Native fistula Graft Permanent catheter Temporary C
□CVC H/O vascular access block □Yes □No
Frequency
H/O vascular access complications
H/O HD abroad Name of country
H/O HD in other centre in Libya

HD sessions per week HD/hrs per each session						
H/O renal transplant □Yes □No						
Pre dialysis BP	/	//				
Post dialysis BP						
Viral infection □Yes □No	Time diagnosed	□Predialysis □Post dialysis				
Type of virus DHIV DHBV DHCV	V					
H/O hospitalisation after	HD: Number	r				
Duration						
Causes						
H/O hospitalisation during the	e previous year: Nu	mber				
Duration						
Causes						
Medication taken by the patient at press	ent					
Eprax □Yes □No						
IV Iron □Yes □No						
Other						

Results of available recent laboratory test

Test	Value	Test	Value	Test	Value
Haemoglobin		Haematocrit		Triglycerides	
Serum		Total lipids		Total	
Albumin				proteins	
HbA1c		Cholesterol		PTH	
Serum Iron		LDL		Uric Acid	
Serum		Alanine		Creatinine	
Ferritin		aminotransferase			
TIBC		Aspartate		Predialysis	
		aminotransferase		urea	
Fasting blood		Alkaline		Post dialysis	
sugar		Phosphatise		urea	
Phosphorus		Calcium		Other	